
William A. "Bert" Miller, III
Mayor
Bernie Gessner
Councilmember
Josh Fultz
Councilmember

Grant E. Holt
Mayor Pro-Tem

Pattie Pederson
Councilmember

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE
CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS

NOVEMBER 14, 2022

Notice is hereby given that a Regular Meeting of the governing body of the City of
Navasota will be held on the 14th of November, 2022 at 6:00 PM at the City Hall in the
City Council Chambers, Room No. 161, located at 200 E. McAlpine Street, Navasota,
Texas 77868, at which time the following subjects will be considered, to wit:

To watch the City Council meeting live please visit the City of Navasota's Youtube
here: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCltnx7BQt0TCIYJRiZ14g5w 
 
1. Call to Order.

2. Invocation
Pledge of Allegiance

3. Remarks of visitors: Any citizen may address the City Council on any matter.
Registration forms are available on the podium and/or table in the back of the city
council chambers. This form should be completed and delivered to the City
Secretary by 5:45 p.m. Please limit remarks to three minutes. The City Council will
receive the information, ask staff to look into the matter, or place the issue on a
future agenda. Topics of operational concerns shall be directed to the City
Manager.



4. Staff Report:

(a) Introduction of new employees [Peggy Johnson, HR Director]

(b) Recognition of years of service awards [Peggy Johnson, HR Director]

(c) CIP Updates: Downtown Streetscape project, Utility CIP, AWOS, and Public
Works Warehouse [Jennifer Reyna, Director of Utilities and Jose Coronilla, Director
of Streets and Sanitation]

(d) Wine Press Travel Writers update [Bobbie Ullrich, Marketing and
Communication Director]

(e) Navasota Police Department update [Mike Mize, Chief of Police]

(f) Board and Commission update [City Council]

(g) Reports from City Staff or City Officials regarding items of community
interests, including expressions of thanks, congratulations or condolence;
information regarding holiday schedules; honorary or salutary recognition of public
officials, public employees, or other citizens; reminders about upcoming events
organized or sponsored by the City; information regarding social, ceremonial, or
community events organized or sponsored by a non-City entity that is scheduled
to be attended by City officials or employees; and announcements involving
imminent threats to the public health and safety of people in the City that has
arisen after the posting of the agenda. [Jason Weeks, City Manager]

5. Conduct a public hearing to receive public comment for or against the creation of
the Reinvestment Zone One, Navasota, Texas, its boundaries, or the concept of
tax increment financing in general. [Jason Weeks, City Manager]

6. Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 1010-22,
designating a geographic area within the City of Navasota and its extra-territorial
jurisdiction as reinvestment zone number one, City of Navasota, Texas for
increment financing purposes pursuant to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code;
creating a board of directors for such zone; establishing the tax increment fund;
establishing the termination date of the zone; containing findings and provisions
related to the foregoing subject; authorizing actions in furtherance of the zone;
providing a severability clause; and providing proper notice of meeting. [Jason
Weeks, City Manager]

7. Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 1013-22,
authorizing the Issuance of City of Navasota, Texas, Combination Tax and Limited
Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022. [Lance Hall, Finance
Director]



8. Consent Agenda: The following items may be acted upon with one motion and
vote. No separate discussion or action is necessary unless requested by the Mayor
or City Councilmember, in which event the item will be removed from the Consent
Agenda for separate discussion and/or action by the City Council as part of the
regular agenda.

Consent Items are:

A. Approve the minutes for the month of October 2022.

B. Approve the expenditures for the month of October 2022.

C. Approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, tax roll ordinance for tax
year 2022, Grimes County portion.

D. Approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, tax roll ordinance for the
tax year 2022, Brazos County portion.

E. Approve Resolution No. 722-22, the City of Navasota Investment Policy and
Strategy.

9. Adjourn.

DATED THIS THE 10TH OF NOVEMBER, 2022

/JW/

BY: JASON WEEKS, CITY MANAGER

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that the above notice of
meeting of the governing body of the CITY OF NAVASOTA, is a true and
correct copy of said notice and that I posted a true and correct copy of said
notice in the glass bulletin board, in the foyer, on the south side of the
Municipal Building as well as in the bulletin board on the north side of the
Municipal Building of the City of Navasota, Texas, a place convenient and
readily accessible to the general public at all times, and said notice was
posted on the 10th of November, 2022 at 12:40 PM and will remain posted
continuously for at least 72 hours preceding the scheduled time of said
meeting. Agendas may be viewed at www.navasotatx.gov.

The City Council reserves the right to convene in Executive Session at any
time deemed necessary for the consideration of confidential matters under
the Texas Government Code, Sections 551.071-551.089.

DATED THIS THE 10TH OF NOVEMBER, 2022

/SMH/

BY: SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY



THIS FACILITY IS WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE AND ACCESSIBLE PARKING
SPACES ARE AVAILABLE. REQUESTS FOR ACCOMMODATIONS OR
INTERPRETIVE SERVICES MUST BE MADE 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THIS
MEETING. PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY SECRETARY'S OFFICE
AT(936) 825 6475 OR (936) 825 6408 OR BY FAX AT (936) 825 2403.



 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #4 

 

Agenda Date Requested:  November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Jason Weeks, City Manager  
Department: Administration  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  
 
Exhibits: None 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #4 
Staff Report: 

(a) Introduction of new employees [Peggy Johnson, HR Director] 
 

(b) Recognition of years of service [Peggy Johnson, HR Director] 
 

(c) CIP Updates: Downtown Streetscape project, Utility CIP, AWOS and Public 
Works Warehouse [Jennifer Reyna, Director of Utilities and Jose Coronilla, 
Director of Streets and Sanitation] 
 

(d) Wine Press Travel Writers update [Bobbie Ullrich, Marketing & 
Communication Director] 
 

(e) Navasota Police Department update [Mike Mize, Chief of Police] 
 

(f) Board and Commission update [City Council] and 
 

(g) Reports from City Staff or City Officials regarding items of community 
interests, including expressions of thanks, congratulations or condolence; 
information regarding holiday schedules; honorary or salutary recognition 
of public officials, public employees, or other citizens; reminders about 
upcoming events organized or sponsored by the City; information 
regarding social, ceremonial, or community events organized or sponsored 
by a non-City entity that is scheduled to be attended by City officials or 
employees; and announcements involving imminent threats to the public 
health and safety of people in the City that has arisen after the posting of 
the agenda. [Jason Weeks, City Manager] 

 
 

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   



SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 

(a) Peggy Johnson, HR Director will introduce the new employees for all 
departments. 
 

(b) Peggy Johnson, HR Director will acknowledge employees with five years of 
service. 
 

(c) Jennifer Reyna, Director of Utilities and Jose Coronilla, Director of Streets and 
Sanitation, will provide an update on various CIP projects such as the 
Downtown Streetscape project, 2020 Utility CIP, AWOS and the new Public 
Works Warehouse. 
 

(d) Bobbie Ullrich, Marketing & Communication Director will provide an update on 
the Wine Press Travel Writers. 
 

(e) Mike Mize, Chief of Police with provide an update on the Navasota Police 
Department. 
 

(f) If applicable, City Council will provide Board and Commission updates. 
 

(g) Staff and City Council will give updates on other events coming up. 
 
 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
None 

 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

 
 
     
Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 

11/10/2022







 
 

AGENDA PLANNING CALENDAR 
 

NOVEMBER 14, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 10/31/2022 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. Staff Report: (a) Introduction of new employees; (b) Recognition of Years of service awards;  
    (c) CIP Updates(Streetscape, Utility CIP, AWOS, and PW Warehouse); (d) Wine Press Travel  
    Writers update; (e) Police Department update; (f) Board and Commission update; and (g)  
    Reports from staff and City Council 
5. Public hearing on the creation of a TIRZ 
6. 1st reading of Ordinance No. 1010, creating a TIRZ 
7. 1st reading of Ordinance No. 1013-22, issuance of bonds; 
8. Consent agenda: (a) Minutes for the month of October 2022; (b) Expenditures for the  
    month of October 2022; (c) 1st reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, approval of 2022 tax roll –  
    Grimes County portion; (d) 1st reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, approval of 2022 tax roll –  
    Brazos County portion; (e) and Resolution No. 722-22, reviewing the City of Navasota  
    Investment Policy and Strategy 
9.Adjourn  

 
 

NOVEMBER 28, 2022 – WORKSHOP – 4:30 P.M. 

1. Called to order 
2. Workshop on compensation study 
3. Remarks of visitors 

 
 

NOVEMBER 28, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 11/14/2022 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. Staff Report: (a) Cancelling the December 26th Council meeting; (b) Board and Commission  
    update; and (c) Reports from staff and City Council 
5. Hire a grant administrator for the CDBG-MIT MOD 
6. Hire a grant administrator for the 23-24 Texas Community Development Block Grant 
7. Hire an engineer for the 23-24 Texas Community Development Block Grant 
8. RFP’s for alcohol sale for the Texas Birthday Bash 
9. Consent agenda: (a) 2nd reading of Ordinance No. 1010-22, creating a TIERS; (b) 2nd  
    reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, approval of 2022 tax roll – Grimes County portion; (c) 2nd  
    reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, approval of 2022 tax roll – Brazos County portion; and   
    (d) 2nd reading of Ordinance No. 1013-22, issuance of bonds 
10.Adjourn  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

DECEMBER 12, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 11/28/2022 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. Staff Report: (a) Annual Airport Report – Michael Dearing; (b) Board and Commission  
    update; and (c) Reports from staff and City Council 
5. Approval of compensation study 
6. Consent agenda: (a) minutes for the month of November 2022; and (b) expenditures for the  
    month of November 2022 
7. Adjourn 

 
January 9, 2023 – Annual evaluation of City Manager 
 
January 23, 2023 – TDA Report 
 
February 13, 2023 
 
February 27, 2023 
 
March 13, 2023 
 
March 27, 2023 
 
April 10, 2023 – Executive Session – Annual evaluation of Municipal Judge 
 
April 24, 2023 
 



 
 
 
 

Vision Statement: 
 

Navasota 2027:  What America Wants To Be 
“A beautiful, progressive, vibrant, service-oriented, 

close-knit community filled with 
historical charm and promise for people and business.” 

 
 

Mission Statement: 
 

“To guide Navasota’s growth in a way that maintains 
our heritage, culture, and uniqueness while 

maximizing our economic and social development.” 
 
 
 



 
 
 

THE CITY OF NAVASOTA 
COUNCIL LEADERSHIP POLICY 

 
 
It is the desire of the Navasota City Council to demonstrate responsible 
leadership by: 
 

(a) Establishing a 2027 Strategic Growth Map for the City of Navasota. 
 
(b) Assuring stable and effective city operations. 
 
(c) Developing and adopting policies that will guide the growth of the City 

of Navasota. 
 
(d) Facilitating private/public sector partnerships at the local, regional, 

state and federal level that will invest in the future of Navasota. 
 
(e) Ensuring all Navasota boards, commissions and committees are 

aligned with the Council’s growth policies. 



  

 

 

 
 

Report 

 

and 

 

Strategic Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted 

April 26, 2021 

 

 

Prepared and Facilitated 

By 

Ron Cox Consulting 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

REPORT AND STRATEGIC PLAN 

COUNCIL/STAFF  

RETREAT 

 

CITY OF NAVASOTA 
  

February 12, 2021 

 

Introduction 
 

On February 12, 2021, the Mayor, City Council and staff of the City of Navasota met for 

a retreat planning session. The purpose of this meeting was twofold. 

 

• Confirm and expand the governance philosophy for the City Council. Included in 

that is identifying key elements of the Council’s vision for Navasota. 

• Prepare a strategic plan for the city. 

 

The Mayor, Council and staff freely worked together, and their work was exemplary in 

all respects. Ron Cox facilitated the process. 

 

Governance 

 
In their February 12, 2021 session the Council confirmed the governance policy they 

established in 2017 and expanded on it by further defining their governance philosophy. 

The Council participated in discussions about their role, together and their leadership 

responsibilities. The elements of a strong governance model are having and following 

clear vision and mission, establishing leadership and communications philosophies, and 

identifying the expectations of each other as City Council members, and the City staff, 

and of identifying and recognizing the expectations staff has of the City Council.  

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

3 

The key elements of the Governance Philosophy are leadership, communication and 

understanding and defining expectations. These define how the team will function 

together. Visioning and planning are the key elements that define what the strategies and 

goals are for the City of Navasota and what they will be to ensure the vision is ultimately 

attained. 

 

Governance Model 
 

The governance model first begins with leadership. Each member of the Council asked to 

provide input into how they will lead, communicate and a defining of expectations for 

themselves and staff. 

 

The facilitator began the process by asking each of the members why they ran and serve 

on the City Council. They responded as follows: 

 

The Mayor and Council reviewed and confirmed their Governance Policy and Rules of 

Engagement established in 2017. These are as follows. 

 

Mayor and Council members ran for the office and serve … 

 

• Had already serviced on other boards and wanted to be active in the growth to 

come. 

• To lead city in the right direction. 

• Saw growth coming and saw weaknesses in various ordinances that needed 

strengthening – now growth is really here. 

• To bring a different insight as a native of Navasota. 

• To encourage business growth and economic development. 

• Am able to serve. 

• Originally to change the direction of the city (and have done that). 

• Exciting to be a part of big decisions for the community. 

 

The facilitator then asked the members to describe the attributes they have that will 

contribute to the work of the Council. 

 

Mayor and Council have the following attributes … 

 

• Able to think outside the box on issues. 

• Business experience in the private sector. 

• Provides a technical background. 

• Brings a different point of view, being from a different generation than others on 

the Council. 

• Historical memory as a native of Navasota. 

• Love the community. 

• Committed to the community. 

• Service to the community. 

• Have the time to serve. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

4 

• Have a special needs child bringing different perspective to decision making. 

• Raised seven children and now grandchildren all in Navasota community and 

schools. 

• Different stages of our lives, bring different viewpoints. 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota will lead by … 

 

• Providing the facts. 

• Seeking and gaining understanding of the problems. 

• Listening, asking, seeking information and deciding. 

• Coming together for the greater good – compromising and building consensus. 

• Toward a common goal – betterment of Navasota. 

• Finding a win/win for all. 

• Building consensus. 

• Picking your wins carefully. 

• Not being afraid to admit you are wrong and changing your mind. 

• Being patient. 

• Being humble – not prideful or egotistical. 

• Being passionate about our city, but not dictatorial. 

• Being brave for our city. 

• Showing respect and being respectful of others. 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota will communicate … 

 

• Effectively with citizens, each other and staff… 

• Concisely. 

• Clearly. 

• Completely. 

• Seek and allow responses. 

• Seek to understand. 

• Take the time to explain the issue and resolution to each other and to citizens. 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota expect the following of each other… 

 

• Remember we all work for the citizens – Council and staff alike. 

• Set the table for the citizens on agenda items – fill in the gaps of knowledge for 

them. 

• Follow the process. 

• Be willing to slow the process down. 

• Respect each other and their opinions. 

• Be honest. 

• Be consistent. 

• Do your homework. 

• Be vulnerable – admit you do not know everything.  

• Be willing to learn. 

• Don’t take the issue personally 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

5 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota expect the following of the staff … 

 

• Set the table to explain agenda items for Council and citizens. 

• Be clear and timely in the information flow to Council – understanding and 

responding to individual council members in the way that communicates best to 

them. 

• Don’t take it personally. 

• Provide the full picture – the good, the bad, and the ugly. 

• Have patience. 

• Know your lane and stay in it. 

• Understand the chain-of-command. 

 

(It was noted that the City Council and staff should all have and respond to the same 

expectations.) 

 

The staff expects the following of the Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota (as 

defined by the City Council) … 

 

• Don’t play the “gotcha” game with staff. 

• Have an understanding of staff, their role. 

• Ask questions and don’t assume. 

• Have patience. 

• Be fair. 

• Listen to staff. 

• Be respectful to staff. 

• Seek information on what council can do to help the staff succeed. 

• Seriously consider their recommendations. 

• Attempt to solve the problems that are presented. 

• Give them clear direction. 

• Remember that staff is working for the citizens, as well as the Council. 

• Don’t put undue pressure on staff. 

• Follow the chain-of-command. 

 

Vision and Mission 

 
On February 6, the Council and senior staff discussed the elements vision they have for 

Navasota. Currently, there are is Vision Statement and Mission Statement for the City. 

After a review, the Mayor and Council identified and confirmed the key elements of the 

vision and mission for the City.  

 

Vision Statement 

 

Navasota 2027: What America wants to Be: 

A beautiful, progressive, vibrant, service oriented, close-kinit community filled with 

historic charm and promise for people and business. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

6 

 

Vision Elements 

 

These elements were discussed and are presented in no particular order of priority. It was 

noted that in reviewing the Vision Statement from the Comprehensive Plan, these key 

vision elements are consistent with and embodied in the Vision Statement. 

 

• Navasota is a role model for other cities. 

• Clean. 

• Safe. 

• Friendly and inviting. 

• Historic. 

• Beautiful and manicured. 

• Successful. 

• Sustainable. 

• Full of opportunity. 

• Innovative. 

• Charming. 

 

Mission Statement 

 

To guide Navasota’s growth in a way that maintains our heritage, culture and 

uniqueness while maximizing our economic and social development. 

 

Mission Elements 

 

These key mission elements are presented in no particular order of priority. 

 

• Committed. 

• Stay focused on the mission. 

• Dedication and desire. 

• Proper planning. 

• To communicate the Vision. 

• Provide great/exceptional customer service. 

• Clear, consistent, defined responsibilities. 

• Flexible. 

• Understanding of your role and responsibilities. 

 

Strategic Planning 

 
The facilitator led the participants in a SWOT analysis, identifying and discussing the 

strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats for the City of Navasota, both 

organizationally and in the community. The weaknesses then were divided into common 

themes – Areas of Emphasis or Vision Elements. Within each of the Areas of Emphasis, 

opportunities – strategies and goals – were identified to overcome the weaknesses. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

7 

Finally, threats were identified that if not anticipated may get in the way of 

accomplishing the strategies and goals. 

 

The participants were divided into three groups. Each group focused on strengths and 

weaknesses as follows. 

 

Strengths 

 

Group 1 

• Qualified personnel. 

• Close knit team/community. 

• Has a can-do attitude. 

• Pride in community and city organization. 

• Friendly. 

• Great leadership – Council, City Manager and staff. 

• Caring. 

• Small town charm. 

• Service oriented. 

• Open minded and welcoming. 

• Knowledgeable about work, etc. 

• Dedication. 

• Good foundation upon which to build. 

• Resilient. 

• Organization is accountable to the community. 

• Have integrity and honesty. 

• Everyone is team player. 

• Willing to admit to issues and problems. 

• Self-aware. 

• Transparent. 

• Have community support. 

• Have a multi-faceted community makeup. 

• Visionaries. 

• Excellent location. 

• Diversity in the community. 

 

Group 2 

• Great staff. 

• Buy-in from the community. 

• A community feeling. 

• Progressive. 

• Safe. 

• Leadership. 

• Proactive Council. 

• Beginning infrastructure design improvements. 

• City services. 

• Facilities. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

8 

• Partnerships. 

• Potential for growth. 

• Location. 

• History. 

• Industry. 

 

 

Group 3 

• Experience of Council and staff. 

• New councilmembers bringing energy and new ideas. 

• Leadership. 

• Collaboration. 

• Creativity. 

• Openness/inviting community. 

• Honesty/trust. 

• Stability. 

• Teamwork. 

• Loyalty and pride. 

• Service minded. 

• Relationships/friendly/user friendly. 

• Fun. 

• Commitment and dedication. 

 

 

Weaknesses 

 

Group 1 

• Lack of social and health services. 

• Minimal retail services. 

• Lack of transportation services. 

• Lack of after 5 p.m. activities. 

• Aging infrastructure. 

• Difficulty in communication from the city to the citizens. 

• Lack of finances for unfunded mandates. 

• Outside negative perception of the community. 

• Finding and retaining good staff. 

• Lack of seasoned/experienced staff at all levels. 

• Lack of citizen input/involvement. 

• Uninformed criticism from citizens. 

• Limited connectivity to high quality internet. 

• Technologically inhibited/fear of technology 

 

Group 2 

• Fear of change. 

• More work than staff can accomplish. 

• Lack of job career diversity. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

9 

• Perception of the school district. 

• Lack of rental/multifamily in the city. 

• Retail leakage. 

• Lack of amenities for social and family time. 

• Train traffic. 

• Animal control/fire department facilities need replacing. 

• Lack of internet connectivity. 

 

Group 3 

• Communication/understanding of the message. 

• People making assumptions without all the information. 

• Aging infrastructure. 

• Sometimes resistant to change. 

• Dislike of others. 

• Financial resources are limited. 

• Retention of employees. 

• Outside perception of Navasota. 

• People have long memories. 

• Lack of participation by the citizens. 

• Being required to respond to circumstances beyond our control. 

• Limited technology in the community in the city. 

 

Areas of Emphasis 

 

Reviewing the weaknesses presented resulted in the identification of five areas of 

emphasis. 

 

• Governance 

• Economic Development 

• Image/Communication 

• Infrastructure 

 

Weaknesses Rearranged 

 

The weaknesses identified above, were then summarized and arranged to be within one of 

the areas of emphasis. 

 

• Governance 

o Resistance to change. 

o Employee retention. 

o Responding to circumstances beyond city’s control. 

o Unfunded mandates. 

o Lack of participation. 

 

• Economic Development 

o Diversity in career jobs. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

10 

o Sufficient revenue for infrastructure redevelopment. 

o Retail leakage 

o Lack of social and family recreation. 

o Need for diversity in housing. 

o Social and health services. 

 

• Image/Communication 

o Negative perception of school district. 

o Negative perception of city. 

o Inability to provide information to all ages 

▪ Internally and externally. 

▪ Lack of understanding. 

▪ Criticism from the uninformed. 

▪ From city to citizens 

 

• Infrastructure 

o Train traffic. 

o Again infrastructure 

o Transportation. 

o Facilities. 

o Poor quality of internet and technology, city and citywide. 

 

 

Opportunities – Strategies and Goals 

 

The groups then brainstormed to identify opportunities to overcome the weaknesses. 

These opportunities are the basis for the strategies and goals prepared below. 

 

Governance 

• Establish a program to encourage more participation in Navasota 

government. 

o Establish and implement leadership academies. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ police academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ fire academy. 

o Improve communication and strategic alignment between Council and all 

committees. 

• Establish an employee retention strategy. 

o Identify and promote the work culture, benefits of the city. 

o Promote the community and organizational culture. 

o Explore housing incentives to live and work in Navasota and attract new 

employees. 

o Cast a wider net for employees. 

o Explore opportunities for providing employee benefits that incentivize 

employment and retention. 

• Explore opportunity for a full-time grant writer. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

11 

• Provide a clear sense of direction to all boards related to economic 

development. 

o Establish an Economic Development Strategy with the NEDC 

 

(Note: there were some communications initiatives in Governance. These have been 

moved to Image/Communication to avoid repetition.) 

 

Economic Development 

• Establish a partnership with NISD, Blinn, TAMU and other institutions to 

enhance the economic development process. 

• Seek out grant opportunities. 

o Pursue grants from EDA. 

• Enhance the marketing of Navasota. 

o Marketing to fulfill housing needs. 

o Marketing of lower utility costs compared to other areas. 

o Marketing location and proximity to major metro areas in the state. 

• Seek partners to improve local health and social service providers. 

o Explore health authority with county. 

o Explore partnership with St. Joseph’s healthcare system. 

o Recruit health provider specialists (optometrists and medical providers) 

• Enhance strategic retail recruitment. 

o Continue to partner with Retail Coach. 

o Attend recruitment conferences (industry, retail, restaurants, etc.) 

 

(Note: there were some infrastructure initiatives in Economic Development. These have 

been moved to Infrastructure to avoid repetition.) 

 

Image/Communication 

• Improve the perception and image of Navasota. 

o Establish a positive campaign to promote Navasota. 

▪ Prepare both an in-person and digital message. 

o Identify target audiences. 

▪ Attend realtor conferences to tell the Navasota story. 

▪ Utilize citizens’ academies (see Governance). 

▪ Explore use of Town Hall meetings – in-person and virtual. 

• Establish a program to educate ISD students about local government. 

o Sponsor a job shadowing program for students in the city. 

• Improve communication in general with the public. (Note: moved from 

Governance) 

o Be deliberate about creating buy-in from citizens.  

▪ Inform, educate and cast the vision. 

o Prepare and implement a communication protocol. 

 

Infrastructure 

• Prepare a plan for construction of an elevated grade crossing over the 

railroad tracks. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

12 

o Identify location and right of way needs for the crossing. 

o Establish costs to city to accommodate the crossing. 

o Identify land for a substation for fire and animal control. 

o Establish contact and conversation with the railroad. 

• Prepare a capital improvements plan and program for needed city 

infrastructure. 

o Improve aging infrastructure. 

o Improve aging and inadequate facilities. 

o Expand parks, trails and bike paths. 

o Identify funding sources – bonds, grants, etc. 

• Create additional opportunity for social and family amenities. 

o Create additional sports facilities. 

o Make park improvements – trails, bike paths, etc. 

• Identify and plan for needed improvements to the community’s internet 

system. 

o Identify and review the existing systems available to the City 

▪ BVCOG Fiber Loop 

▪ Midsouth Synergies 

▪ Other 

 

Threats 

 

Finally, Council and staff identified threats to accomplishing the goals and strategies that 

have been identified. 

 

• Fear – lack of understanding of the issues and the unknown. 

• Money. 

• Economic downturn. 

• Federal and state unfunded mandates and restrictions to local government. 

• Social media. 

• Uncommitted leadership. 

• Politization of local government. 

• Suffering the unintended consequences of outside mandates. 

• Encroaching crime. 

• Another pandemic – COVID. 

• Adverse weather. 

• No response to the failing infrastructure. 

• The “cancel culture” – just turning off or destroying what one disagrees with – 

refusal to dialogue. 

• Not adapting to the change in the ideology of the culture. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

13 

City Staff Implementation Sessions 

 
April 5 and 14, 2021 

 

On April 5, 2021 the facilitator met with the City Manager and staff to review the 

outcomes of the planning session and to determine next steps for the development of the 

implementation plan. 

 

Implementation Plan Process. The staff reviewed a template to be used to develop the 

implementation portion of the planning process. During the discussions, a staff member 

was assigned as the team facilitator for the development of the implementation plan for 

each areas of emphasis. Further they began the process of developing action steps, with 

proposed timelines, and budget implications (if they were known at the time).  

 

On April 14, 2021 staff again met with the facilitator to review and complete a draft 

implementation plan. The implementation plan is included in this document.  

 

 

 

Reporting 
 

Finally, staff established reporting protocols. These protocols serve the purpose of 

keeping the staff on schedule with the implementation of strategies, keeping the City 

Manager informed, and providing regular reports to the Mayor and City Council on the 

status of the implementation of the adopted strategies. This provides for long term 

accountability toward the implementation of the Strategic Plan. 

 

Reporting Protocols  
 

• Council 

o Receives updates at least monthly from staff at Council meetings 

regarding various projects related to the strategic plan. 

o Receives formal status reports, including a semi-annual and annual report 

from staff to the City Council. 

• City Manager 

o City Manager receives regular – both formal and informal - updates from 

staff at regular staff meetings on progress of assignments. 

 

City Council Approval 

April 26, 2021 
 

On TBD, 2021, the City Council reviewed their work as well as the work of the staff 

since the planning session in January. After a thorough discussion the Report was 

approved as amended unanimously.  

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

14 

Conclusion 
 

The Mayor, Council and staff of the City of Navasota worked through a governance and 

planning process that allowed the Council to create a governance model and identify and 

expand strategies for moving the city forward. The process brought the staff leadership 

and Council closer together as a team and developed an implementation process to ensure 

the strategies are addressed and accomplished over time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

15 

 
 

 

 

Strategic Plan 

2021 
 

 

 

 

Council/Staff Planning Retreat  

February 12, 2021 

 

 

Adopted 

April 26, 2021 

 
 

Prepared and Facilitated 

By 

Ron Cox Consulting 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

16 

Vision Statement 
(Adopted 2017) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Navasota 2027: What America wants to Be: 

A beautiful, progressive, vibrant, service oriented, 

close-kinit community filled with historic charm 

and promise for people and business. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

17 

Key Vision Elements 

2021 

 

 
• Navasota is a role model for other cities. 

 

• Clean. 

 

• Safe. 

 

• Friendly and inviting. 

 

• Historic. 

 

• Beautiful and manicured. 

 

• Successful. 

 

• Sustainable. 

 

• Full of opportunity. 

 

• Innovative. 

 

• Charming. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

18 

Mission Statement 
(Adopted 2017) 

 

 

 

To guide Navasota’s growth in a way that 

maintains our heritage, culture and uniqueness 

while maximizing our economic and social 

development. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

19 

 

Mission Elements 
 

 

 

 

• Committed. 

 

• Stay focused on the mission. 

 

• Dedication and desire. 

 

• Proper planning. 

 

• To communicate the Vision. 

 

• Provide great/exceptional customer service. 

 

• Clear, consistent, defined responsibilities. 

 

• Flexible. 

 

• Understanding of your role and responsibilities. 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

20 

 

City of Navasota 

City Council 

Leadership Philosophy 

 

The City Council of the City of Navasota will lead by… 

• Providing the facts. 

• Seeking and gaining understanding of the problems. 

• Listening, asking, seeking information and deciding. 

• Coming together for the greater good – compromising 

and building consensus. 

• Toward a common goal – betterment of 

Navasota. 

• Finding a win/win for all. 

• Building consensus. 

• Picking your wins carefully. 

• Not being afraid to admit you are wrong and changing 

your mind. 

• Being patient. 

• Being humble – not prideful or egotistical. 

• Being passionate about our city, but not dictatorial. 

• Being brave for our city. 

• Showing respect and being respectful of others. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

21 

 

City of Navasota 

City Council 

Communication Philosophy 

The City Council of the City of Navasota will 

communicate by… 

• Effectively with citizens, each other and staff… 

• Concisely. 

• Clearly. 

• Completely. 

• Seek and allow responses. 

• Seek to understand. 

• Take the time to explain the issue and resolution to 

each other and to citizens. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

22 

  

City of Navasota 

City Council and Staff 

Expectations 

 

Council expects the following of each other… 

• Remember we all work for the citizens – Council and 

staff alike. 

• Set the table for the citizens on agenda items – fill in 

the gaps of knowledge for them. 

• Follow the process. 

• Be willing to slow the process down. 

• Respect each other and their opinions. 

• Be honest. 

• Be consistent. 

• Do your homework. 

• Be vulnerable – admit you do not know everything.  

• Be willing to learn. 

• Don’t take the issue personally 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

23 

City of Navasota 

City Council and Staff 

Expectations 

Council expects the following of staff… 
• Set the table to explain agenda items for Council and citizens. 

• Be clear and timely in the information flow to Council – 

understanding and responding to individual council members in the 

way that communicates best to them. 

• Don’t take it personally. 

• Provide the full picture – the good, the bad, and the ugly. 

• Have patience. 

• Know your lane and stay in it. 

• Understand the chain-of-command. 
 

(It was noted that the City Council and staff should all have and respond to the same 

expectations.) 

 

Staff expects Council to (as defined by Council 

members themselves) … 
• Don’t play the “gotcha” game with staff. 

• Have an understanding of staff, their role. 

• Ask questions and don’t assume. 

• Have patience. 

• Be fair. 

• Listen to staff. 

• Be respectful to staff. 

• Seek information on what council can do to help the staff succeed. 

• Seriously consider their recommendations. 

• Attempt to solve the problems that are presented. 

• Give them clear direction. 

• Remember that staff is working for the citizens, as well as the 

Council. 

• Don’t put undue pressure on staff. 

• Follow the chain-of-command. 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

24 

City of Navasota  

 

Strategic 

 

Areas of Emphasis 
 

 

• Governance 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota follows established 

rules of governance that promote civil discourse, consistent and 

predictable deliberation and exemplary action. 

 

• Economic Development 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will promote a strong 

and diverse economy that strengthens the local sales tax and 

property tax base while also contributing to a high quality of 

life. 

 

• Image/Communication 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will proactively work 

to provide accurate, timely communications to the citizens and 

improve the image of the community. 

 

• Infrastructure 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will provide excellent 

infrastructure and facilities that meets the needs of the 

citizens and businesses, and staff. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

25 

Area of Emphasis 
 

Governance 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota follows established rules of 

governance that promote civil discourse, consistent and predictable 

deliberation and exemplary action. 

 

Initiatives: 

 

• Establish a program to encourage more participation in 

Navasota government. 

o Establish and implement leadership academies. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ police academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ fire academy. 

o Improve communication and strategic alignment 

between Council and all committees. 

 

• Establish an employee retention strategy. 

o Identify and promote the work culture, benefits of the 

city. 

o Promote the community and organizational culture. 

o Explore housing incentives to live and work in 

Navasota and attract new employees. 

o Cast a wider net for employees. 

o Explore opportunities for providing employee benefits 

that incentivize employment and retention. 

 

• Explore opportunity for a full-time grant writer. 

 

• Provide a clear sense of direction to all boards related to 

economic development. 

o Establish an Economic Development Strategy with the NEDC 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

26 

Area of Emphasis 

 

Economic Development 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will promote a strong and diverse 

economy that strengthens the local sales tax and property tax base while 

also contributing to a high quality of life. 

 

 

Initiatives 

 
 

• Establish a partnership with NISD, Blinn, TAMU and other 

institutions to enhance the economic development process. 

 

• Seek out grant opportunities. 

 

o Grants from EDA. 

 

• Enhance the marketing of Navasota 

o Marketing to fulfill housing needs. 

o Marketing of lower utility costs compared to other areas. 

o Marketing location and proximity to major metro areas in the 

state. 

 

• Seek partners to improve local health and social service providers. 

o Explore health authority with county. 

o Explore partnership with St. Joseph’s healthcare system. 

o Recruit health provider specialists (optometrists and medical 

providers) 

 

• Enhance strategic retail recruitment 

o Continue to partner with Retail Coach. 

o Attend recruitment conferences (industry, retail, restaurants, 

etc.) 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

27 

 

Area of Emphasis 
 

Image/Communications 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will proactively work to provide 

accurate, timely communications to the citizens and improve the image of 

the community. 

 

 

Initiatives 

 
• Improve the perception and image of Navasota. 

o Establish a positive campaign to promote Navasota. 

▪ Prepare both an in-person and digital message. 

o Identify target audiences. 

▪ Attend realtor conferences to tell the Navasota story. 

▪ Utilize citizens’ academies (see Governance). 

▪ Explore use of Town Hall meetings – in-person and 

virtual. 

 

• Establish a program to educate ISD students about local 

government. 

o Sponsor a job shadowing program for students in the city. 

 

• Improve communication in general with the public (Note: moved 

from Governance) 

o Be deliberate about creating buy-in from citizens.  

▪ Inform, educate and cast the vision 

o Prepare and implement a communication protocol. 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

28 

 

Area of Emphasis 
 

Infrastructure 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will provide excellent 

infrastructure and facilities that meets the needs of the citizens and 

businesses, and staff. 

 

 

Initiatives 

 
• Prepare a plan for construction of an elevated grade crossing over 

the railroad tracks. 

o Identify location and right of way needs for the crossing. 

o Establish costs to city to accommodate the crossing. 

o Identify land for a substation for fire and animal control. 

o Establish contact and conversation with the railroad 

 

• Prepare a capital improvements plan and program for needed 

city infrastructure. 

o Improve aging infrastructure. 

o Improve aging and inadequate facilities. 

o Expand parks, trails and bike paths. 

o Identify funding sources – bonds, grants, etc. 

 

• Create additional opportunity for social and family amenities. 

o Create additional sports facilities. 

o Make park improvements – trails, bike paths, etc. 

 

• Identify and plan for needed improvements to the community’s 

internet system. 
o Identify and review the existing systems available to the City 

▪ BVCOG Fiber Loop 

▪ Midsouth Synergies 

▪ Other 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

29 

 
 

 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

1 

 

 
 

 

 



Vision Element #1 

Governance 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota follows established rules of governance that promote civil discourse, consistent and predictable deliberation and exemplary action. 

 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

1.1 Establish a 

program to 

encourage 

more 

participation in 

Navasota 

government. 

1.1.1 Establish and implement leadership 

academies. 

 

• Re-implement a citizens’ academy. 

• Establish a citizens’ police academy. 

• Establish a citizens’ fire academy 

 

 X 

X 

X 

  

Brad 

Stafford 

 

 

 

 

 

• Hold town hall meetings with citizens in 

neighborhoods and restaurants to discuss City 

operations and governance. 

• Present organizational environment to the community 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

X 

 

• Grilling Stafford 

• Monday of City Council meetings: partner with Willy 

98.7 and Navasota Examiner to go over upcoming City 

Council Agenda. (also Facebook Live) 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 

  

 

1.1.2 Provide a clear sense of director to 

all boards 
• Organize a volunteer luncheon for Boards & 

Commissions volunteers 

• Joint meeting with all boards/commissions for 

direction/legal training and Roberts rules. 

• Bring strategic planning and comprehensive planning 

documents to NEDC for approval 

• Recruit members who align with City Council 

• Improve communication and strategic alignment 

between Council and all committees. 

• Inform all communication & comp plan updates to all 

boards 

• Staff to facilitate strategic plan for economic 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

  



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

development corporation 

 

 

 

X 

  1.1.3 Establish a volunteer appreciation 

program   
• Organize a short ceremony for volunteers around the 

city (ex: Blue Santa, Trash Off) 

•  

 

X   Rayna  

1.2 Explore 

opportunity for 

a full-time 

grant writer. 

 

1.2.1 Continued professional development   

• Explore grant writing training opportunities 

• Continue partnership with BVCOG 

• Research other cities how grants are handled 

 

  

X 

X 

X 

  

 

Rayna 

Willenbrink  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision Element # 2 



Economic Development 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will promote a strong and diverse economy that strengthens the local sales tax and property tax base while also contributing to a high 

quality of life. 

 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

2.1 Establish a 

partnership 

with NISD, 

Blinn, TAMU 

and other 

institutions to 

enhance the 

economic 

development 

process. 

 

2.1.1 Pursue grants from EDA. 

 
• Continue partnership with BVCOG for information 

on EDA grants 

• Continue relationship with Grantworks 

• Continue TEDC membership for resources on EDA 

grants 

• Explore new partnerships 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

  

 

Rayna 

2.1.2 Develop workforce programs • Explore partnerships with NISD 

• Continue partnership Chamber & CETA 

• Explore opportunities with the SBDC 

• Continue partnership with Bush School/TAMU 

• Reach out to BVCOG for funding opportunities 

• Research Texas Workforce Commission 

opportunities 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

X 

 

2.2 Enhance the 

marketing of 

Navasota. 

 

2.2.1 Marketing to fulfill housing needs. 

 
• Show housing growth to demonstrate demand. 

• Establish a permit/fee waiver program 

• Utilize NEDC website to highlight utility costs and 

location 

• Navasota Economic Development corporation 

Featured on the Navasota.gov home page 

  

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

X 

  

 

Madison 2.2.2 Marketing of lower utility costs 

compared to other areas. 

 

2.2.3 Marketing location and proximity to 

major metro areas in the state. 

 

2.3 Seek partners 

to improve 

local health 

and social 

2.3.1 Explore health authority with county. 

 
• Improve relationship with county and cities within 

the county 

• Continue to meet with the county this past year about 

this partnership but their level of interest currently 

 

 

X 

 

 X  

 

Rayna 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

service 

providers. 

 

not very high.  

• Continue to explore other avenues to recruit and 

establish a local public health authority and possibly 

a heath inspections office. 

• Possible partnering with other cities in the county 

 

 

X 

 

 

X 

2.3.2 Establish Health Inspector  • Establish Policy  

• Appoint and train inspector 

  X 

X 

2.3.3 Explore partnership with St. Joseph’s 

healthcare system. 

 

• Add health care recruitment to the regional (retail) 

recruitment project 

  X 

2.3.4 Recruit health provider specialists 

(optometrists and medical providers) 

 

2.4 Enhance 

strategic retail 

recruitment. 

 

2.4.1 Continue to partner with Retail Coach. 

 
• Conduct community surveys to see what citizens 

wish lists are 

• Regional retail recruitment project 

 

 

Ongoing 

X   

 

Rayna 2.4.2 Attend recruitment conferences 

(industry, retail, restaurants, etc.) 

 

  2.4.3 Downtown Assessment • Reach out to Texas Downtown Association for a 

downtown assessment 

• Explore marketing strategies 

• Partnership with SBDC 

X 

 

X 

X 

   

 

 

 

Vision Element # 3 



Image/Communication 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will proactively work to provide accurate, timely communications to the citizens and improve the image of the community. 

 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

3.1 Improve the 

perception and 

image of 

Navasota. 

 

3.1.1 Establish a positive campaign to promote 

Navasota. 

 

• Prepare both an in-person and digital message. 

• Positive short videos about ongoing projects 

• Create a new branding campaign 

• Expand partnership with NISD 

 X 

X 

X 

X 

  

 

Madison 

3.1.2 Identify target audiences to effectively 

recruit new citizens while improving 

community pride. 

 

• Attend realtor conferences to tell the Navasota story. 

• Utilize citizens’ academies (see Governance). 

• Explore use of Town Hall meetings – in-person and 

virtual. 

• Utilize all methods of communication with the public; 

i.e. Grilling Stafford, trails town hall meetings, agenda 

briefings with local media, Navigate Navasota app 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

X 

X 

X 

 

3.2 Establish a 

program to 

educate ISD 

students about 

local 

government. 

 

3.2.1 Re-establish an internship/sponsor a job 

shadowing program for students in the 

city. 

 

• Co-op student to assist with administrative services for 

all departments with 15-20 hours beginning with a 

minimum wage of $7.25. 

• Speak with the co-op class  

• Both high school and college  

 X 

 

 

X 

X 

  

 

Peggy  

& Shawn 

3.3 Improve 

communication 

in general with 

the public. 

3.3.1 Be deliberate about creating buy-in from 

citizens. 
• Inform, educate and cast the vision. 

• Advertise City Council meetings in the paper 

($1,872/year), on the radio, yard signs, banners 

 

X 

X 

   

 

Madison 

3.3.2 Prepare and implement a communication 

protocol. 

• Explore new advertising techniques, i.e. Navigate Navasota 

app, CTY advertisement, Facebook events for all meetings 

•  Explore communication methods for Boards & 

Commissions, i.e. post all agendas on Facebook event 

 X 

 

 

X 

 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

• All boards give regular updates at City Council meetings 

 
X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision Element # 4 

Infrastructure 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will provide excellent infrastructure and facilities that meets the needs of the citizens and businesses, and staff. 



 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

4.1 Prepare a 

plan for 

construction 

of an elevated 

grade crossing 

over the 

railroad 

tracks. 

 

4.1.1 Identify location and right of way needs for the 

crossing. 

 

• Thorough fare plan completion 

and implementation 

 

 X   

 

Jose 

& 

Lupe 
4.1.2 Establish costs to city to accommodate the crossing. 

 
• Compile land acquisition costs per thorough 

fare plan design 

• Obtain estimate cost proposals for  

engineering and construction 

 

  X 

 

X 

4.2 

 

Prepare a 

capital 

improvements 

plan and 

program for 

needed city 

infrastructure. 

 

4.2.1 Improve aging infrastructure. 

 

 

Phase one: FY22 

Phase two: FY24 

 

• CIP Bring in a consultant to help formalize the 

plan 

o Update water modeling  

o Consultant to model Gas system and 

Wastewater system 

o Present CIP to Finance Dept. to plan 

for funding options. 

o Streets and Storm water evaluations 

and priorities  

o Replace/repair gas regulator stations 

• Complete phase 1 of CIP 

• Begin phase 2 of CIP 

• Fire hydrant repair/replacement 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

Jeff 

&  

Jose  

4.2.2 Improve aging and inadequate facilities. 

 
• Create a facilities master plan 

o Hire Consultant  

• Replace or improve animal shelter and vehicle 

services 

• Sell existing warehouse and build a new one 

• Replace the current primary fire station and 

EOC at the South LaSalle location.  

• Explore the possibility of a second fire 

station/public safety facility at Hwy 

  X 

 

X 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

 

 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

105/Fairway Dr. because of the continued 

growth and expansion of the city and the 

delayed responses due to train traffic 

• Valve and other mechanical equipment 

replacement at wastewater plant 

• Look at alternative disinfectant treatment 

methods 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

4.2.4 Identify funding sources – bonds, grants, etc. • We currently are working with 2020 Capital 

Improvement Bond.   

• We are working towards doing a bond every 2 

years for CIP 

• USDA loan 

• Add gas capital improvement fee to monthly 

billing. 

• Funding from American Rescue Plan  

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

  

4.3 Create 

additional 

opportunity 

for social and 

family 

amenities. 

 

4.3.1 Create additional sports facilities. 

 

• Identify most desired facilities 

• Identify possible locations 

• Land acquisition 

• Identify funding mechanism 

• Design facilities  

• Obtain bids/pricing on new facilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

 

 

Colton 

4.3.3 Make park improvements – trails, bike paths, etc. 

 

• Adjust city ordinance on parkland dedication 

to allow developers to contribute directly to 

ongoing projects 

• Develop community programs that improve 

parks 

• Identify areas of greatest need 

• Obtain bids/pricing on improvements 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

• Navasota Sidewalk and Trails plan. 

4.4 Identify and 

plan for 

needed 

improvements 

to the 

community’s 

internet 

system. 

 

4.4.1 Identify and review the existing systems available and 

options to the City 

 

• Facilitate BVCOG partnerships with local ISP 

suppliers to improve speeds in underserved 

areas. 

• Encourage/ Incentivize Midsouth Synergy 

expansion into town via City ROW/Easements 

• Research other ISP options available. 

  X 

 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

Lupe 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision Element # 5 

Organizational Excellence 
 

Guiding Principle:  *Ron will update 



 

5.1 Establish an 

employee 

retention 

strategy. 

 

5.1.1 Identify and promote the work culture, 

benefits of the city. 

 

• Promote teamwork aspect of our culture, there are no 

islands everyone works together in some form or 

fashion. 

Hiring Process: 

• Streamline our online HR system 

o Job search & application process  

o Dependable Human Resource Information 

System software 

 

• Update both Incode and Internet system  
          

• Use of Social media to find candidates (i.e. Linkedin, 

Indeed) 
 

• Job boards at colleges and career fairs 

• Create a Referral Program with employee incentives  
 

• Create city parameter for job searches  
 

• Continued use of onboard process 

• Create formal policy hiring practices 

 

Offer competitive salary and benefits: 

• Contact other Cities (population of 5-10K) and 

surrounding industries/business (Trinity, etc.) to make 

sure City is within similar pay range  

• Find strong benefit package (medical, dental, vision, 

life)   

Other Incentives: 

• Continue to make employee feel valued and 

appreciated 
▪  

Ongoing 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Peggy 

Johnson 

 

Strategic Initiatives  Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Leader 



• Continue to offer career advancement opportunity 

(invest in employee-greater future with City) 

• Pay for course for training (all departments) 
 

• College tuition reimbursement 
 

• Safety bonuses (no accidents, etc.) Safety pins 

(providing a day off), Bonus day- annually 
 

• Hazardous duty pays (ex: working big storms, etc.) 
▪  

• Team outings/lunches (Spring/Fall) and Christmas 

Party- employee does not have to organize or work the 

event 

• Monetary (bonuses and raises) 

• Continue to Recognize: years of service with Plaque 

and bag of goodies.  At the end of the year employee 

shall receive gift card (money, dinner, coffee, spa) (5 

year increments) 
o  

• Hand written note (“thank you” “job well done”, etc.) 
o  

• Brag board: located front lobby with employee picture 

and award (ex: Rookie of the year, Employee of the 

month, etc.) 

• Discount on rental facilities for city employees  

• City owned workout facility to promote health  

• Utility incentives to promote employees to live in 

Navasota  

• Reconsider 20-year retirement package/insurance to 

the age of social security  

• Evaluate additional employees to complete project 

assignments  

• Evaluate incentives for succession planning in career 

development  

 
 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

X 

 

 

 



 

5.1.2 Promote the community and 

organizational environment  

 

• Video montage of all city events and city participation 

of employees 

• Clear and transparent communication 

• Create Cultural Diversity Awareness by reaching out 

to different segments of the City  

• Career Fair days 

Ongoing 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

 

  

5.1.3 Explore housing incentives to live and 

work in Navasota and attract new 

employees. 

 

• Partner with local realtors or Chamber to put together 

informational housing options package 
▪  

• Pay a portion of moving expenses into Navasota within 

the city limits 

 

X 

 

 

X 

  

  



                                    O F F I C E   O F   C O U R T   A D M I N I S T R A T I O N

                                             T E X A S   J U D I C A L   C O U N C I L

                                              Official Municipal Court Monthly Report

                     Month   October             Year   2022

           Municipal Court for the City of  NAVASOTA

           Presiding Judge   PATRICIA GRUNER

                      If new, date assumed office _________________

     Court Mailing Address   200 E. MCALPINE

                      City   NAVASOTA, TXZip    77868

              Phone Number   936-825-6268

                Fax Number   936-825-7280

      Court's Public Email   RJESSIE@NAVASOTATX.GOV

           Court's Website   http://WWW.NAVASOTATX.GOV

 

   THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE REFLECTION OF THE RECORDS OF THIS COURT.

   Prepared by _________________________________________________________________

          Date _____________________    Phone: (936) 825-6268

  PLEASE RETURN THIS FORM NO LATER THAN 20 DAYS FOLLOWING THE END OF THE MONTH REPORTED TO:

                         OFFICE OF COURT ADMINISTRATION

                                 P.O. BOX 12066

                                   AUSTIN, TX

                                   78711-2066

                             PHONE: (512) 463-1625

                              Fax: (512) 936-2423

http://WWW.NAVASOTATX.GOV


11/03/2022 02:31 PM                           OFFICIAL MUNICIPAL COURT MONTHLY REPORT                                     Page:    1

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

CRIMINAL SECTION

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------------------------------+-----------------------------------+

COURT  NAVASOTA MUNICIPAL COURT                            |              TRAFFIC              |            NON-TRAFFIC            |

MONTH  October     YEAR  2022                              |NON-PARKING|  PARKING  |  CITY ORD | PENAL CODE| STATE LAW |  CITY ORD |

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

1. Total Cases Pending First of Month:                     |        520|          0|         18|        274|         41|        100|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   a. Active Cases                                         |         93|          0|          0|         20|         21|         18|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   b. Inactive Cases                                       |        427|          0|         18|        254|         20|         82|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

2. New Cases Filed                                         |        110|          0|          1|          5|         21|          3|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

3. Cases Reactivated                                       |          4|          0|          0|          3|          0|          1|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

4. All Other Cases Added                                   |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

5. Total Cases on Docket                                   |        207|          0|          1|         28|         42|         22|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

6. Dispositions Prior to Court Appearance or Trial:        |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   a. Uncontested Dispositions                             |         26|          0|          1|          1|          0|          2|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   b. Dismissed by Prosecution                             |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          1|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

7. Dispositions at Trial:                                  |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   a. Convictions:                                         |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

     1) Guilty Plea or Nolo Contendere                     |         12|          0|          0|          3|          3|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

     2) By the Court                                       |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

     3) By the Jury                                        |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   b. Acquittals:                                          |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

     1) By the Court                                       |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

     2) By the Jury                                        |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   c. Dismissed by Prosecution                             |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+



11/03/2022 02:31 PM                           OFFICIAL MUNICIPAL COURT MONTHLY REPORT                                     Page:    2

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

CRIMINAL SECTION

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------------------------------+-----------------------------------+

COURT  NAVASOTA MUNICIPAL COURT                            |              TRAFFIC              |            NON-TRAFFIC            |

MONTH  October     YEAR  2022                              |NON-PARKING|  PARKING  |  CITY ORD | PENAL CODE| STATE LAW |  CITY ORD |

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

8. Compliance Dismissals:                                  |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   a. After Driver Safety Course                           |          4|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   b. After Deferred Disposition                           |          3|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   c. After Teen Court                                     |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   d. After Tobacco Awareness Course                       |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|          0|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   e. After Treatment for Chemical Dependency              |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|          0|          0|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   f. After Proof of Financial Responsibility              |          0|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

   g. All Other Transportation Code Dismissals             |          1|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

9. All Other Dispositions                                  |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

10. Total Cases Disposed                                   |         46|          0|          1|          4|          3|          3|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

11. Cases Placed on Inactive Status                        |          4|          0|          0|          1|          0|          0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

12. Total Cases Pending End of Month:                      |        584|          0|         18|        275|         59|        100|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

    a. Active Cases                                        |        157|          0|          0|         23|         39|         19|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

    b. Inactive Cases                                      |        427|          0|         18|        252|         20|         81|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

13. Show Cause Hearings Held                               |          7|          0|          0|          1|          0|          1|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

14. Cases Appealed:                                        |XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

    a. After Trial                                         |          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|          0|

                                                           +-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+

    b. Without Trial                                       |          1|          0|          0|          1|          0|          0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+-----------+



11/03/2022 02:31 PM                           OFFICIAL MUNICIPAL COURT MONTHLY REPORT                                     Page:    3

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

CIVIL SECTION

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

COURT  NAVASOTA MUNICIPAL COURT                            |                |

MONTH  October     YEAR  2022                              |  TOTAL CASES   |

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

1.  Total Cases Pending First of Month:                    |               1|

                                                           +----------------+

    a. Active Cases                                        |               1|

                                                           +----------------+

    b. Inactive Cases                                      |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

2.  New Cases Filed                                        |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

3.  Cases Reactivated                                      |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

4.  All Other Cases Added                                  |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

5.  Total Cases on Docket                                  |               1|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

6.  Uncontested Civil Fines or Penalties                   |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

7.  Default Judgments                                      |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

8.  Agreed Judgments                                       |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

9.  Trial/Hearing by Judge/Hearing Officer                 |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

10. Trial by Jury                                          |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

11. Dismissed for Want of Prosecution                      |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

12. All Other Dispositions                                 |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

13. Total Cases Disposed                                   |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

14. Cases Placed on Inactive Status                        |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

15. Total Cases Pending End of Month:                      |               1|

                                                           +----------------+

    a. Active Cases                                        |               1|

                                                           +----------------+

    b. Inactive Cases                                      |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+

16. Cases Appealed:                                        |XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                           +----------------+

    a. After Trial                                         |               0|

                                                           +----------------+

    b. Without Trial                                       |               0|

-----------------------------------------------------------+----------------+



11/03/2022 02:31 PM                           OFFICIAL MUNICIPAL COURT MONTHLY REPORT                                     Page:    4

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

JUVENILE/MINOR ACTIVITY

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

COURT  NAVASOTA MUNICIPAL COURT                                                  |                |

MONTH  October     YEAR  2022                                                    |     TOTAL      |

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

1. Transportation Code Cases Filed                                               |               2|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

2. Non-driving Alcoholic Beverage Code Cases Filed                               |               3|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

3. Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol Cases Filed                            |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

4. Drug Paraphernalia Cases Filed                                                |               2|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

5. Tobacco Cases Filed                                                           |               3|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

6. Truancy Cases Filed                                                           |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

7. Education Code (Except Failure to Attend) Cases Filed                         |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

8. Violation of Local Daytime Curfew Ordinance Cases Filed                       |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

9. All Other Non-traffic Fine-only Cases Filed                                   |               4|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

10. Transfer to Juvenile Court:                                                  |XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                                                 +----------------+---------------------------------

  a. Mandatory Transfer                                                          |               0|

                                                                                 +----------------+---------------------------------

  b. Discretionary Transfer                                                      |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

11. Accused of Contempt and Referred to Juvenile Court (Delinquent Conduct)      |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

12. Held in Contempt by Criminal Court (Fined and/or Denied Driving Privileges)  |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

13. Juvenile Statement Magistrate Warning:                                       |XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                                                 +----------------+---------------------------------

  a. Warnings Administered                                                       |               2|

                                                                                 +----------------+---------------------------------

  b. Statements Certified                                                        |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

14. Detention Hearings Held                                                      |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

15. Orders for Non-secure Custody Issued                                         |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------

16. Parent Contributing to Nonattendance Cases Filed                             |               0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+---------------------------------



11/03/2022 02:31 PM                           OFFICIAL MUNICIPAL COURT MONTHLY REPORT                                     Page:    5

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

ADDITIONAL ACTIVITY

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+-----------------+--------------

COURT  NAVASOTA MUNICIPAL COURT                                                   |                | NUMBER REQUESTS |

MONTH  October     YEAR  2022                                                     |  NUMBER GIVEN  |   FOR COUNSEL   |

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+-----------------+--------------

1. Magistrate Warnings:                                                           |XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                                                  +----------------+-----------------+--------------

  a. Class C Misdemeanors                                                         |               7|XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                                                  +----------------+-----------------+--------------

  b. Class A and B Misdemeanors                                                   |               0|                0|

                                                                                  +----------------+-----------------+--------------

  c. Felonies                                                                     |               0|                0|

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------+----------------+-----------------+--------------

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|      TOTAL      |

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

2. Arrest Warrants Issued:                                                                         |XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  a. Class C Misdemeanors                                                                          |                5|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  b. Class A and B Misdemeanors                                                                    |                4|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  c. Felonies                                                                                      |                1|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

3. Capiases Pro Fine Issued                                                                        |                5|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

4. Search Warrants Issued                                                                          |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

5. Warrants for Fire, Health and Code Inspections Filed                                            |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

6. Examining Trials Conducted                                                                      |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

7. Emergency Mental Health Hearings Held                                                           |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

8. Magistrate's Order for Emergency Protection Issued                                              |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

9. Magistrate's Orders for Ignition Interlock Device Issued                                        |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

10. All Other Magistrates's Orders Issued Requiring Conditions for Release on Bond                 |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

11. Drivers's License Denial, Revocation or Suspension Hearings Held                               |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

12. Disposition of Stolen Property Hearings Held                                                   |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

13. Peace Bond Hearings Held                                                                       |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------



11/03/2022 02:31 PM                           OFFICIAL MUNICIPAL COURT MONTHLY REPORT                                     Page:    6

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

ADDITIONAL ACTIVITY

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|      TOTAL      |

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

14. Cases in Which Fine and Court Costs Satisfied by Community Service:                            |XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  a. Partial Satisfaction                                                                          |                0|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  b. Full Satisfaction                                                                             |                1|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

15. Cases in Which Fine and Court Costs Satisfied by Jail Credit                                   |               18|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

16. Cases in Which Fine and Court Costs Waived for Indigency                                       |                0|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

17. Amount of Fines and Court Costs Waived for Indigency                                           |            $0.00|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------

18. Fines, Court Costs and Other Amounts Collected:                                                |XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  a. Kept by City                                                                                  |        $9,881.00|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  b. Remitted to State                                                                             |        $4,248.80|

                                                                                                   +-----------------+--------------

  c. Total                                                                                         |       $14,129.80|

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------+-----------------+--------------



11/03/2022 02:31 PM                           OFFICIAL MUNICIPAL COURT MONTHLY REPORT                                     Page:    7

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 

Run By:             rjessie

Report Type:        Summary

Date Range:         10/01/2022 - 10/31/2022

Finalize Report:    Yes

Correction:         No

      *** END OF REPORT ***



 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #5 

 

Agenda Date Requested:  November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Jason Weeks, City Manager  
Department: Administration  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  

 
Exhibits: Public Hearing Notice, TIRZ Boundary 
Map, Jurisdiction Boundary Description, TIRZ #1 
Preliminary Project Plan & Financing Plan, 
Presentation, and Ordinance 1010-22 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #5 
 
Conduct public hearing to receive public comment for or against the creation of 
the Reinvestment Zone One, Navasota, Texas, its boundaries, or the concept of 
tax increment financing in general. 
 
 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 
Opened public hearing at _______p.m. 
 
On June 27, 2022, at a Special City Council meeting, City Council heard from David 
Hawes with Hawes Hill Group as he provided an overview of Tax Increment Financing 
Zones (TIRZs), Public Improvement Districts (PIDs), and Municipal Utility Districts 
(MUDs). City Council provided staff direction to move forward with the creation of 
Navasota’s first TIRZ. On July 25th, City Council approved a contract agreement with 
Hawes Hill & Associates to assist the City in creating a TIRZ. Then on September 12th, 
City Council discussed the setting boundaries for the creation of the Navasota Tax 
Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) #1 for the City of Navasota. Staff has been 
working with Hawes Hill & Associates to finalize the boundary map, boundary 
descriptions, and the preliminary project plan & financing plan. 
 
What is a TIRZ? 
A tax increment reinvestment zone (TIRZ) is a financing tool enabled by the Texas 
Legislature with the adoption of Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. A TIRZ is a tool 
that can be used to pay for public improvements to encourage development and/or 
redevelopment of an area and attract private investment. Cities may create a TIRZ 
where conditions exist that substantially impair an area’s sound growth and where 
development or redevelopment is not likely to occur but for public infrastructure 
enhancements financed by a TIRZ. Upon creation of the Zone, the total appraised value 

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   



of real property located within its boundaries is established for the year in which it was 
created. This is known as the base value. As development occurs in the Zone due to 
the provision of new infrastructure, the value of real property increases. This additional 
value above the base is known as the increment. It is set aside to finance infrastructure 
improvements within the Zone. Once all projects are completed, or after a defined 
period, the TIRZ is dissolved. During the life of the Zone, the city and other participating 
taxing jurisdictions collect tax revenue on the base value of the Zone. When the Zone 
is dissolved, the city and other participating taxing jurisdictions receive the benefit of 
the full increment value created by new development. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposed TIRZ boundary is approximately +/- 2,890 acres and is located within 
both Navasota’s corporate limits, as well as its ETJ. The Zone is largely bounded by 
State Highway 6 to the west, Navasota’s ETJ limit to the east, FM 3090 to the north, 
and State Highway 105 / TX-515 Spur and County Road 446 to the south. 
Approximately 274 acres lies near the northwest corner of the State Highway 6 / TX-
515 Spur intersection, and approximately 30 acres lies at the southwest corner of the 
State Highway 6 / FM 3090 intersection. Most of the Zone is located within the City’s 
ETJ and is undeveloped or in agricultural use. The tax increment associated with this 
TIRZ will consist of contributions from the city, at a rate of 50% of its tax rate. The 
proposed life of the TIRZ is 30-years (2022 to 2052). 
 
The proposed TIRZ #1 Project Plan & Financing Plan has identified $22 million in 
possible project costs that outline goals, priorities, and projects for the TIRZ: 
 

• Infrastructure ($10 million) - Support commercial and residential development 
through coordination of public infrastructure improvements including water, 
sewer, drainage, and detention. Most of the Zone lies within the City’s ETJ and 
over 90%, consists of undeveloped land. As growth pressures continue to 
increase in the area, development of this land will transition over time to higher 
intensity uses. To support these uses and the viability of new residential and 
commercial development, infrastructure improvements will be needed, including 



roadways, water, sewer, natural gas, wastewater treatment plant, drainage, and 
detention. The TIRZ can serve as a tool to facilitate the coordination of 
infrastructure needs with property owners and developers, and the annexation 
of properties into the City Limits. This can be accomplished through the funding 
of public infrastructure and/or developer reimbursement agreements and 
incentives. 

• Mobility & Connectivity ($10 million) - Enhance mobility options allowing for 
efficient and safe access through and within the area. As the area develops to 
higher intensity uses, mobility options to travel through the area will be important 
to support new development, including new or expanded roadways and 
pedestrian and/or bike facilities. 

• Parks, Recreation, and Public Facilities ($1.5 million) - Enhance parks and 
recreation opportunities that add to the quality of life and economic vitality of the 
City. As growth continues to occur east of the city and new residential 
communities develop, having adequate parks, recreational and other public 
facilities will be important to the community’s economic vitality and in attracting 
residents and businesses to the area. 

• Economic Development ($500,000) - Incentivize projects that promote 
redevelopment of the community and enhance economic development 
opportunities consistent with the community’s goals and priorities. To stimulate 
and accelerate redevelopment within the TIRZ, the TIRZ desires to establish an 
economic development program that would directly incentivize private enterprise 
that affect the TIRZ and serve as a catalyst for other business developments. 
Examples of how the program would be used include funding for business 
development and retention, business loss mitigation, economic development 
grants to catalyze investments, such as Agreements under Chapter 380 of the 
Texas Local Government Code, and matching grants to provide leverage for 
other economic development funds. 

 
To finalize the creation of the Navasota TIRZ #1, a public hearing must be held to 
receive public comment concerning the creation of Reinvestment Zone Number One, 
Navasota, Texas. A public hearing notice was advertised in the Navasota Examiner on 
Wednesday, November 2, 2022, which meets the “at least 7-days prior to the public 
hearing” requirements. All residents and property owners within the proposed zone and 
all other persons are invited to appear in person to speak for or against the TIRZ, or the 
concept of TIRZ financing in general. The consultants with Hawes Hill and Associates 
will be providing a brief presentation during the public hearing portion to provide 
historical information and explain the reason for the creation of the TIRZ as well as 
documents provided within the packet. Staff is recommending City Council conduct a 
public hearing. 
 
Closed public hearing at _______p.m.  
 

 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
Conduct public hearing to receive public comment for or against the creation of 
the Reinvestment Zone One, Navasota, Texas, its boundaries, or the concept of 
tax increment financing in general. 



 

 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

     
Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 

11/10/2022



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR CREATION OF REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE, NAVASOTA TEXAS 

PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 311, TEXAS TAX CODE. 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Navasota will hold a public hearing at its meeting on 

November 14, 2022, which begins at 6 p.m. at City Hall in the City Council Chambers, Room No. 161, located at 200 

E. McAlpine Street, Navasota, Texas, for creation of Reinvestment Zone Number One.  

All residents and property owners within the proposed zone and all other persons are hereby invited to appear in 

person to speak for or against the creation of the zone, its boundaries, or the concept of tax increment financing in 

general. At or on the adjournment of the public hearing, the City may create Reinvestment Zone Number One, 

Navasota, Texas. The boundaries of proposed Reinvestment Zone Number One are shown in the following map:  

 

A copy of the description of the boundaries of the proposed Reinvestment Zone Number One is available at City 

Hall during regular business hours and may be obtained in the Navasota City Secretary’s Office located at, 200 East 

McAlpine Street, Navasota, Texas 77868. The public hearing is open to any interested person.  Comments relative 

to this matter may be expressed in writing or in person at the public hearing. 

DATE OF PUBLICATION: November 2, 2022. 

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

Navasota ETJ

+/- 2,586.07 ac.

+/- 273.86 ac.

+/- 29.82 ac.

SH 90

B
S

 6

F
M

 3
0
9
0

SH 105

F
M

 3
4
5
5

SS 515

V
ictoria

C
h
u
rch

R
abun

Leon
NEAL S

T

GIBBST

N
O

L
A

N
 S

T

B
rosig

T
h
a
n

e

GRIM
EST

FM 379

MANLEY ST

IV
Y
 S

T

Mc A
lpine

F
A

R
Q

U
H

A
R

 S
T

County
R

oad
446

STA
CEY S

T

E H
OLLAND S

T

N
 JU

D
S
O

N
 AV

E

LANE ST

Montgomery

E
LM

 S
T

E JOHNSON ST

M
A

L
C

O
L
M

 S
T

DURDEN ST

B
R

U
L

E
D

R

H
O

L
L
IS

T
E

R
 S

T

Teague

LEAKE ST

C
o

u
n

t y
R

o
a

d
4

1
5

T
E

X
A

S
T

R
A
T
T
L
E
R

 D
R

JU
LIA

 A
V
E

In
d

u
stria

l

H
ILL

S
ID

E
 D

R

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
R

E
S

T

C
U

L
L
E

N
 S

T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

C
o

u
n

t y
R

o
a

d
4

2
0

C
A

R
V

E
R

S
T

C
L

E
V

E
L

A
N

D
A

V
E

D
O

N
S

T

C
O

U
R

T
N

E
Y

 R
D

A
U
S
T
IA

N
A
 H

IL
LS

 D
R

S
A

N
F

O
R

D
 S

T

D
O

V
E

T
R

L

D
O

V
E

 C
T

SHAW
NEE S

T

C
ounty R

oa
d 442

WHITE W
ING

SH 1
05

DURDEN ST

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TAX INCREMENT
REINVESTMENT ZONE

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

N Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD, Esri

Map Date: 10/19/2022



Tax Increment 
Reinvestment Zone 

No. 1

Preliminary Project Plan & 
Financing Plan

City of Navasota, Texas

October 2022

PREPARED BY:
HAWES HILL & ASSOCIATES



CO
N

TE
N

TS

Introduction ......................................................................................2
Location ............................................................................................3
Goals .................................................................................................5
Authorized Project Costs ..................................................................7
Project Plan ......................................................................................8
Finance Plan ...................................................................................11



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   1

A tax increment reinvestment zone (TIRZ) is a financing tool enabled by the Texas Legislature with 
the adoption of Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. A TIRZ is a tool that can be used to pay for 
public improvements to encourage development and/or redevelopment of an area and attract 
private investment. 

Cities may create a TIRZ where conditions exist that substantially impair an area’s sound growth 
and where development or redevelopment is not likely to occur but for public infrastructure 
enhancements financed by a TIRZ. 

Upon creation of the Zone, the total appraised value of real property located within its boundaries 
is established for the year in which it was created. This is known as the base value. As development 
occurs in the Zone due to the provision of new infrastructure, the value of real property increases. 

This additional value above the base is known as the increment. It is set aside to finance 
infrastructure improvements within the Zone. Once all projects are completed, or after a defined 
period of time, the TIRZ is dissolved. 

During the life of the Zone, the city and other participating taxing jurisdictions collect tax revenue 
on the base value of the Zone. When the Zone is dissolved, the city and other participating taxing 
jurisdictions receive the benefit of the full increment value created by new development. 

TIRZ Concept

New Post - Project 
AV

Total AV now be-
longs to all taxing 

districts in the 
project area

Incremental AV

Incremental real property tax 
belongs to TIRZ to pay project costs

Base AV

AV belongs to all other taxing districts in project area

30-Year TIRZ
Created Terminated

As
se

ss
ed

 V
al

ua
�o

n 
(A

V)

Increased AV fro
m Development



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   2

Purpose
This document constitutes the Preliminary Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Financing Plan for 
Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number One, Navasota, Texas as required by Chapter 311, Texas 
Tax Code.  This document details the specific projects proposed to address existing conditions in the 
area as well as the method and means to finance them.

The purpose of the tax increment reinvestment zone (the “Zone”) is to finance construction of 
public facilities and infrastructure necessary to catalyze residential and commercial development 
and redevelopment, thereby increasing property values and revenues within the Zone boundaries.  
Expenditures associated with the design and construction of public facilities and infrastructure, 
as well as other specific project related costs, will be funded by tax increment revenues derived 
from increases in property values following new development/redevelopment. Zone activities may 
include, but are not limited to, public infrastructure improvements including water, sewer and 
drainage, stormwater detention, mobility improvements, land acquisition, creation of public spaces 
and facilities, streetscape/corridor improvements, trails and pedestrian amenities, and support for 
initiatives and projects that further the economic goals and priorities of the City.

The Zone boundary primarily includes unincorporated properties within the City’s ETJ. The intent 
of the Zone is to facilitate future residential and commercial development in these areas through 
the funding of public infrastructure and allow for voluntary annexation of properties into the City 
Limits. The area is primarily agricultural with limited to no infrastructure including water, sewer, 
drainage, and roadways. As growth pressures increase in the area, the reinvestment zone can serve 
as a mechanism to fund needed infrastructure improvements to support future growth, as properties 
are annexed into the City Limits. The reinvestment zone also serves as a mechanism to support the 
community’s goals for higher quality development that is compatible with character of the area.

Introduction



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   3

The proposed TIRZ boundary is approximately +/- 2,890 acres and is located within both Navasota’s 
corporate limits, as well as its ETJ. The Zone is largely bounded by State Highway 6 to the west, 
Navasota’s ETJ limit to the east, FM 3090 to the north, and State Highway 105 / TX-515 Spur and 
County Road 446 to the south. Approximately 274 acres lies near the northwest corner of the State 
Highway 6 / TX-515 Spur intersection, and approximately 30 acres lies at the southwest corner of the 
State Highway 6 / FM 3090 intersection. The majority of the Zone is located within the City’s ETJ and 
is undeveloped or in agricultural use.

Location



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   4

Location

+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   5

The following goals outline priorities and projects for the Zone and are based on needs 
identified in the Feasibility Report (Exhibit 2) and other  plans and studies. The intent of 
the goals is to identify public projects that would support the City’s economic development 
initiatives and vision for eastern portion of the City and it’s ETJ.

Infrastructure
Support commercial and residential development through coordination of public 
infrastructure improvements including water, sewer, drainage and detention.

The majority of the Zone lies within the City’s ETJ and over 90%, consists of undeveloped land 
that is either designated as vacant or used for agriculture purposes. Infrastructure is limited 
throughout most of the Zone, including access to City water and sewer facilities. As growth 
pressures continue to increase in the area, development of this land will transition over 
time to higher intensity uses. To support these uses and the viability of new residential and 
commercial development, infrastructure improvements will be needed, including roadways, 
water, sewer, natural gas, wastewater treatment plant, drainage and detention. The TIRZ can 
serve as a tool to facilitate the coordination of infrastructure needs with property owners and 
developers, and the annexation of properties into the City Limits. This can be accomplished 
through the funding of public infrastructure and/or developer reimbursement agreements 
and incentives. Infrastructure improvements supported by the TIRZ may include roadways, 
water, sewer, drainage, stormwater management improvements, property acquisition, and 
site remediation/preparation. 

Mobility & Connectivity
Enhance mobility options allowing for efficient and safe access through and within the area.

As the area develops to higher intensity uses, mobility options to travel through the area will be 
important to support new development, including new or expanded roadways and pedestrian 
and/or bike facilities. Additional mobility and intersection improvements associated with the 
SH 249 extension may also be needed, as the extension connects to SH 105 in Navasota. 
Additionally, strengthening the vitality of existing corridors for commercial use will enhance 
the economic marketability of the area, whether this is through capacity expansion, safety and 
intersection improvements or streetscape/median enhancements. TIRZ improvements may 
include roadway improvements, enhanced intersections, access management, sidewalks, 
bike improvements, crosswalks, parking, safety improvements, landscaping, pedestrian 
amenities, lighting, signage/wayfinding and public art. 

Parks, Recreation, & Public Facilities
Enhance parks and recreation opportunities that add to the quality of life and economic 
vitality of the City.

As growth continues to occur east of the City and new residential communities develop, having 

Goals



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   6

Goals

adequate parks, recreational and other public facilities will be important to the community’s 
economic vitality and in attracting residents and businesses to the area. Additionally, trails, 
bicycle and pedestrian facilities provide not only recreational opportunities but also connect 
key destinations in the community. Opportunities for TIRZ funded projects could include 
improvements to existing facilities, development of new parks, green spaces, linear trails, 
public spaces, and joint use of detention facilities. Public spaces and facilities will attract, 
support, and enhance the viability of residential, commercial, and retail destinations in the 
Zone, while potentially fostering innovative economic opportunities. In addition to parks and 
recreation improvements the TIRZ may fund public facilities including but not limited to a 
library, community center, civic center, recreation center, and public safety facilities. 

Economic Development
Incentivize projects that promote redevelopment of the community and enhance economic 
development opportunities consistent with the community’s goals and priorities.

In order to stimulate and accelerate redevelopment within the TIRZ, the TIRZ desires to establish 
an economic development program that would directly incentivize private enterprise that affect the 
TIRZ and serve as a catalyst for other business developments. Examples of how the program would 
be used include funding for business development and retention, business loss mitigation, economic 
development grants to catalyze investments, such as Agreements under Chapter 380 of the Texas 
Local Government Code, and matching grants to provide leverage for other economic development 
funds. In cases such as those described in this section, an appropriate economic development 
program would be proposed by the City and/or the TIRZ and approved by both the TIRZ and City 
Council. Payments made pursuant to this program shall be pursuant to economic development 
agreements entered into on behalf of the Zone and are considered Project Costs. No grant or loan 
shall be authorized by the Zone without prior consent of the City.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   7

The project costs for the Preliminary Project Plan and Financing Plan are detailed in Table 1.  
Projects include infrastructure improvements, including detention/drainage, water and sewer, 
mobility improvements, parks, recreation and public facilities, and economic development. The 
project categories reflect the types of projects supported by the TIRZ; however, actual projects 
that will be undertaken by the TIRZ will be based on factors including community development  
priorities, the ability to leverage funds, and available increment.

Non-Project costs are those infrastructure costs that will not be funded or reimbursed by the TIRZ, 
but will be funded by other parties, such as the City, County, the Texas Department of Transportation, 
non-profit organizations, or private sources, including developers. Funding identified in Table 1 will 
be leveraged with other sources to secure Non-Project funding when appropriate and available.

Authorized Project Costs

Table 1 - Project Costs

Projects Costs
Infrastructure  $10,000,000 
Mobility & Connectivity  $10,000,000 
Parks, Recreation & Public Facilities  $1,500,000 
Economic Development  $500,000 
Planning, Admin, Legal  $500,000 
Total  $22,500,000 



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   8

Project Plan
This document constitutes the Preliminary Project Plan for Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number 
One, City of Navasota, as required by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. The purpose of the Zone is to 
finance improvements that support new development and redevelopment of properties within the Zone.

Existing and Proposed Uses of Land

Estimated Non-Project Costs 

Proposed Changes of Zoning 
Ordinances, Master Plan of 

Municipality, Building Codes, and 
Other Municipal Ordinances 

Method of Relocating Persons to 
Be Displaced, if Any, as a Result of 

Implementing the Plan

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(1)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(2)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(3)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(4)



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   9

Existing and Proposed Uses of Land 
(TEXAS TAX CODE- 311.011(B)(1))

Existing Land Use - Current land uses within the Zone consist primarily of undeveloped   uses 
classified as agricultural, farmland and vacant as shown in Map 2 (page 15). Other uses include 
commercial and large lot residential development. In terms of taxable value, commercial is 
the largest use, 61%, followed by undeveloped, 25% and single family residential, 10%. Given 
that over 94% of the acreage in the Zone is undeveloped, the taxable value is relatively low at 
just over $45 million. Existing conditions are further described in Exhibit B.

Surrounding Land Use - Land surrounding the Zone includes vacant, large lot residential,  
public/institutional, and commercial uses.  

Proposed Uses -  Proposed uses in the Zone are anticipated to include residential, commercial 
and public uses, including parks and recreation facilities, with decreasing vacant land over 
time. Retail and commercial uses are anticipated along major corridors in the Zone. Map 3  
(page 17) shows proposed uses.

Existing Property Classification, Acreage

Existing Property Classification, Taxable Value

Undeveloped (94%)

Commercial (3%)

Single Family
Residential (2%)

Other (2%)

Undeveloped (94%)

Commercial (3%)

Single Family(2%)

Other (2%)

Undeveloped (25.3%)

Commercial (61.5%)

Single Family (9.8%)

Other (3.4%)

Undeveloped (25.3%)

Commercial (61.5%)

Single Family (9.8%)

Other (3.4%)



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   10

Proposed Changes Of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan Of Municipality, Building 
Codes, And Other Municipal Ordinances 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(B)(2))

All construction will be performed in conformance with the City’s existing rules and regulations.  
There are no proposed changes to any City ordinance, master plan, or building code. 

Estimated Non-Project Costs 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(B)(3))

Non-Project costs are those infrastructure costs that will not be funded or reimbursed by the 
TIRZ but will be funded by other parties. Funding identified in Table 1 will be leveraged with 
other sources to secure non-project funding when appropriate and available.

Method Of Relocating Persons To Be Displaced, If Any, As  A Result Of  
Implementing The Plan
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(B)(4))

It is not anticipated that any residents will be displaced or relocated as a result of this Plan.  



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   11

Finance Plan
This document constitutes the Preliminary Finance Plan for Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number 
One, City of Navasota as required by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. The purpose of the Zone is to 
finance public improvements to support new development and redevelopment in the City and ETJ. 
Improvements include, but are not limited to, roadways, infrastructure improvements including water, 
sewer and drainage, trails, streetscape enhancements, and parks and open space improvements.

Funding of projects will occur through available tax increment funds, leveraged with local, state and federal 
dollars and/or through reimbursement of eligible project costs advanced by private entities/developers.

Estimated Project Costs

Economic Feasibility Study

Proposed Kind, Number, and Location 
of All Proposed Public Works or Public 

Improvements to be Financed by the 
Zone 

Estimated Amount of Bond Indebtedness; 
Estimated Time When Related Costs or 

Monetary Obligations Are Incurred

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011(C)(1)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011(C)(2)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (C)(3)

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(4),   
- 311.011(C)(5)

Methods and Sources of Financing Project 
Costs and Percentage of Increment From 

Taxing Units Anticipated to Contribute Tax 
Increment to the Zone 

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(6)

Current Total Appraised Value of Taxable 
Real Property 

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(7)

Estimated Captured Appraised Value of 
Zone During Each Year of Existence

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(8)

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(9)Zone Duration 



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   12

ESTIMATED PROJECT COSTS 
(TEXAS TAX CODE -  311.011(C)(1)) 

Table 1 details proposed public improvements to be funded utilizing resources from the Zone. 
As set forth in the Plan, the dollar amounts are approximate and may be amended from time 
to time by the Board, with the approval of City Council. Any financing costs are a function of 
project financing needs and will vary with market conditions. Proposed public projects will be 
located throughout the Zone and along corridors within the TIRZ boundaries.

PROPOSED KIND, NUMBER, AND LOCATION OF ALL PROPOSED PUBLIC WORKS 
OR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS TO BE FINANCED BY THE ZONE 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(2)) 

These details are described throughout the Plan and include roadway, drainage, water, sewer, 
stormwater management, natural gas, streetscape, trails, and parks and recreation facilities 
improvements. Proposed improvements are identified in Table 1, and all improvements will 
be located along public rights-of-way and on properties within the Zone boundary, as shown 
on Map 1.

ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY STUDY 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(3))

An economic feasibility study was completed for the Zone boundary and is shown in Exhibit 
2.  Exhibit 1 constitutes incremental revenue estimates for this Plan. The future anticipated 
revenue of the zone is expected to be sufficient to pay for all project costs. 

The Zone and the City find and determine that the Plan is economically feasible.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   13

ESTIMATED AMOUNT OF BOND INDEBTEDNESS; ESTIMATED TIME WHEN 
RELATED COSTS OR MONETARY OBLIGATIONS INCURRED
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(4), - 311.011(C)(5)): 

Issuance of notes and bonds by the Zone may occur as tax increment revenues allow. The 
value and timing of the issuance of notes or bonds will correlate to debt capacity as derived 
from the projects and revenue schedules included in Table 1 and Exhibit 1, as well as actual 
market conditions for the issue and sale of such notes and bonds. 

The time when related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred is a function of the 
availability of TIRZ revenues, as shown in Exhibit 1. 

METHODS AND SOURCES OF FINANCING PROJECT COSTS AND PERCENTAGE OF 
INCREMENT FROM TAXING UNITS ANTICIPATED TO CONTRIBUTE TAX INCREMENT 
TO THE ZONE 
(TEXAS TAX CODE -  311.011(C)(6)): 

Methods and sources of financing include the issuance of notes and bonds, as well as 
agreements with developers and other entities for grant funding and partnerships. Leveraging 
of funds with other entities and grants will be instrumental in realizing projects sooner, 
participating in larger cost projects and in adding value to projects.

Projects will be implemented through the use of the following strategies:
• Developers could advance funds for qualified projects and be reimbursed through 

the TIRZ, as revenues are realized through additional increment generated by the 
development.

• Pay-as-you-go-Projects are implemented on a pay-as-you-go basis, whereby projects 
are only implemented once enough revenues have been generated to fund design and 
construction of a project. Tax increment funds may be leveraged with other available 
funds in implementing projects.

• Issuing debt against the revenue stream of the TIRZ allows projects to be implemented 
sooner.

Tax increment associated with this Plan will consist of contributions from the City, at a rate of 
50 percent of its tax rate.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   14

CURRENT TOTAL APPRAISED VALUE OF TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(7) 

The 2022 value of taxable real property in the Zone is estimated at  $45.5 million.  
  

ESTIMATED CAPTURED APPRAISED VALUE OF ZONE DURING EACH YEAR OF 
EXISTENCE 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(8)) 

The estimated captured appraised value of the Zone during each remaining year of its 
existence is contained in Exhibit 1. By 2052, it is estimated the taxable value within the Zone 
will increase to over $557 million.

ZONE DURATION 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(9)) 

The Zone will terminate on December 31, 2052. Final TIRZ payments will be received in 2053. 
The Zone may terminate at an earlier time designated by subsequent ordinance, or at such 
time, subsequent to the issuance of proposed revenue bonds, notes or other obligations, if 
any, that all project costs, bonds, and interest on bonds have been paid in full.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   15

+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022

Map 1- Boundary



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   16

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

GRIMEST

Brosig

MANLEY ST

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 446

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

FM 379

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

DURDEN ST

E JOHNSON ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

C
ounty

Road
4 03

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
AR

V
E

R
 S

T

C
L E

V
E

L
A

N
D

A
VE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

W LEE ST

D
O

VE C
T

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

AUSTIN ST

BUCKINGHAM LN

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN WHITE
D

R

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Property Class 2022
Unknown/Not Specified (3)

Agricultural (70)

Commercial (29)

Multi-Family Res. (2)

Exempt (8)

Farm and Ranch (14)

Industrial (1)

Single Family Res. (30)

Utility (1)

Vacant Lot (28)

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/23/2022

Map 2 - Property Classification



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   17

Map 3 - Proposed Uses

East ETJ

North East ETJ



Exhibit 1
Taxable Value & Revenues



Base Year 
Valuation

City Projected 
Valuation

 Projected 
Valuation City

(Increment)

2022 45,488,600$         45,488,600$        -$                      2022 2023 -$                      -$                      
2023 45,488,600$         46,853,258$        1,364,658$          2023 2024 7,614$                  3,807$                  
2024 45,488,600$         51,258,856$        5,770,256$          2024 2025 32,193$                16,097$                
2025 45,488,600$         68,296,621$        22,808,021$        2025 2026 127,249$              63,625$                
2026 45,488,600$         96,595,520$        51,106,920$        2026 2027 285,133$              142,566$              
2027 45,488,600$         125,743,386$      80,254,786$        2027 2028 447,753$              223,876$              
2028 45,488,600$         152,015,687$      106,527,087$      2028 2029 594,330$              297,165$              
2029 45,488,600$         179,076,158$      133,587,558$      2029 2030 745,304$              372,652$              
2030 45,488,600$         206,948,443$      161,459,843$      2030 2031 900,807$              450,404$              
2031 45,488,600$         234,156,896$      188,668,296$      2031 2032 1,052,607$           526,303$              
2032 45,488,600$         241,181,603$      195,693,003$      2032 2033 1,091,799$           545,899$              
2033 45,488,600$         268,417,051$      222,928,451$      2033 2034 1,243,749$           621,875$              
2034 45,488,600$         276,469,562$      230,980,962$      2034 2035 1,288,675$           644,338$              
2035 45,488,600$         294,763,649$      249,275,049$      2035 2036 1,390,740$           695,370$              
2036 45,488,600$         318,606,559$      273,117,959$      2036 2037 1,523,763$           761,882$              
2037 45,488,600$         343,164,755$      297,676,155$      2037 2038 1,660,777$           830,388$              
2038 45,488,600$         368,459,698$      322,971,098$      2038 2039 1,801,901$           900,950$              
2039 45,488,600$         379,513,489$      334,024,889$      2039 2040 1,863,572$           931,786$              
2040 45,488,600$         390,898,894$      345,410,294$      2040 2041 1,927,092$           963,546$              
2041 45,488,600$         402,625,861$      357,137,261$      2041 2042 1,992,519$           996,259$              
2042 45,488,600$         414,704,636$      369,216,036$      2042 2043 2,059,908$           1,029,954$           
2043 45,488,600$         427,145,775$      381,657,175$      2043 2044 2,129,319$           1,064,659$           
2044 45,488,600$         439,960,149$      394,471,549$      2044 2045 2,200,812$           1,100,406$           
2045 45,488,600$         453,158,953$      407,670,353$      2045 2046 2,274,450$           1,137,225$           
2046 45,488,600$         466,753,722$      421,265,122$      2046 2047 2,350,297$           1,175,149$           
2047 45,488,600$         480,756,333$      435,267,733$      2047 2048 2,428,420$           1,214,210$           
2048 45,488,600$         495,179,023$      449,690,423$      2048 2049 2,508,886$           1,254,443$           
2049 45,488,600$         510,034,394$      464,545,794$      2049 2050 2,591,766$           1,295,883$           
2050 45,488,600$         525,335,426$      479,846,826$      2050 2051 2,677,133$           1,338,566$           
2051 45,488,600$         541,095,489$      495,606,889$      2051 2052 2,765,060$           1,382,530$           
2052 45,488,600$         557,328,353$      511,839,753$      2052 2053 2,855,626$           1,427,813$           

46,819,251$        23,409,626$        
Notes/Assumptions:
2022 taxable values includes properties within the City & ETJ. Increment will only be generated upon annexation of properties into the City Limits.

Projected Assessed Valuation Projected Revenue

Tax 
Year

Tax 
Year

Coll 
Year

Total Revenues
TIRZ Revenues 

(50%)



Exhibit 2
Existing Conditions & Feasibility



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    1

Introduction
This document outlines the existing conditions of the Navasota area and assesses the 
feasibility of using a tool like tax reinvestment zone financing in catalyzing new development 
and redevelopment opportunities within the zone boundary. Tax Increment Reinvestment 
Zones are governed by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code and are created by cities to 
support development and/or redevelopment of areas that would not otherwise occur in the 
foreseeable future. There are a number of conditions under which a reinvestment zone can be 
created, including being predominately open or undeveloped land with limited infrastructure.

Proposed Boundary
The proposed Zone boundary, as shown in Map 1, is approximately 2,890 acres and is 
located entirely within both Navasota’s corporate limits, as well as it’s ETJ. The Zone is 
largely bounded by State Highway 6 to the west, Navasota’s ETJ limit to the east, FM 3090 
to the north, and State Highway 105 / TX-515 Spur and County Road 446 to the south. 
Approximately 274 acres lies near the northwest corner of the State Highway 6 / TX-515 Spur 
intersection, and approximately 30 acres lies at the southwest corner of the State Highway 6 
/ FM 3090 intersection.   

In identifying areas appropriate for tax increment financing and drafting the Zone boundary, 
the following were considered:

• 30% residential limit allowed by State Statute. No more than 30% of the taxable value 
of the proposed Zone may be classified as residential use. Uses classified as residential 
with the proposed Zone boundary currently make up just under 10% of taxable value 
and less than 2% of total acreage. Commercial uses account for the largest percent of 
taxable value within the proposed Zone, at approximately 61%, while only accounting 
for roughly 3% of its total acreage. See Map 2.

• Underserved, underutilized, and vacant areas that would benefit from public 
infrastructure improvements.

• Areas that would generate increment through public improvements including 
vacant, underdeveloped / underutilized parcels and areas prime for development / 
redevelopment. 

• Approximately 2,692 acres, which reflects 94% of the total acreage in the proposed 
Zone boundary, consists of largely undeveloped land (Agricultural, Farm and Ranch, 
and Vacant Lot land uses). See Map 2.

• Properties that have a lower value per acre offer opportunities for redevelopment and 
added value creation through more intense uses. See Map 3.



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  2

Existing Conditions
A review of existing conditions was conducted through windshield surveys, review of previous 
plans and studies, and data analysis to identify conditions and areas within the Navasota 
area that would benefit from a tool like Tax Increment Financing. Results of the existing 
conditions review show that there are a number of conditions and issues that are present 
within the proposed Zone that impede the sound growth of the area and its ability to reach its 
full economic potential. These conditions include the following:

Lack of infrastructure including Water & Sewer
With the exception of the acreage west of SH 6, virtually all of the remaining acreage is 
outside of Navasota’s water and sewer service areas, as well as those of any other provider, 
and existing commercial and residential facilities rely on individual water wells and septic 
systems. Additionally, 93% of the proposed Zone’s area, or 2,642 acres, is currently 
undeveloped land without major infrastructure and primarily in agricultural use. 

Mobility & Connectivity
Approximately 0.25 miles of SH 105 and 1.4 miles of SH 90S fall, both east/west major 
arterials, fall within the proposed Zone boundary. Apart from these roads, only a small handful 
of local streets exist within the Zone. These are of insufficient quantity and design to support 
existing / future development patterns and multiple modes of travel. With the exception of 
the hard corners at the intersections of SH 6 / SH 105 and SH 6 / SH 90S, there is no existing 
pedestrian and bicycle paths. 

Drainage & Flooding
Regulatory Floodway and 100 Year Floodplain are relatively limited within the proposed Zone 
as a whole; however, a large portion of the flood hazard areas are concentrated within the 
non-contiguous +/- 274-acre parcel. See Map 4. Current runoff within the proposed Zone is 
largely handled by natural drainage features such as creeks, as well as open ditches on local 
road and along the nearby arterial roadways.   



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    3

Underutilized  Acreage / Vacant Buildings

The proposed Zone is currently bounded by a freeway, SH 6, and major arterial roadways, 
SH 105 and FM 3090. It is bisected by another Major Arterial roadway, SH 90S. Currently, 
commercial development within the proposed Zone exists along the SH 6 frontage road 
and at its intersections. Most of the adjacent frontage along the major arterials within the 
Zone is agricultural land or occupied by older, single-family residential dwellings that are 
prime for redevelopment as the area grows and traffic flow along these corridors increases. 
Reinvestment in these areas will be dependent on public infrastructure improvements 
including water, sewer, and drainage facilities, as well as potential roadway enhancements. 
Residential properties that have a lower value per acre offer opportunities for redevelopment 
and creating added value through more intense uses. Aging buildings / structures offer 
opportunities for redevelopment. 



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  4

Demographic & Socioeconomic Overview
An analysis of the demographic makeup and market was conducted to fully understand 
the patterns, trends, and needs of the community. Data for the demographic overview was 
collected for the City of Navasota and for Grimes County.

Population & Households : At –A-Glance

The City of Navasota’s population largely consists of young families. Similar to Grimes County, 
nearly 70% of Navasota’s households are family households, though the Navasota family size 
is marginally larger. Ethnically, Navasota is significantly more diverse than Grimes County, 
with a lower White population and higher Black and Hispanic populations than the county as 
a whole, respectively. 

Median Household Income in Navasota is $59,152, slightly less than that of Grimes County. 
The city’s population is employed evenly as white collar and blue collar workers within the 
Services, Retail Trade, and Manufacturing industries. Approximately 36% of the population 
25 years+ has a high school diploma as their highest level of education, similar to Grimes 
County; however, only 14% of Navasota residents hold a Bachelor’s or Graduate degree, less 
than Grimes County at 18%. 

Table 1-  2022 Summary Population Characteristics
City of Navasota Grimes County

Population 7,598 29,920
Households 2,762 10,388
HH Average Size 2.72 2.62
Families 1,911 7,232
Average Family Size 3.34 3.18
Median Age 34.9 40.7

Median Household Income $59,152 $63,007 
Median Home Value $147,119 $195,553 

Business 377 870
Employees 3,418 9,119
Employee / Residential Population 
Ratio (per 100 Residents)

45 30

Source: ESRI, 2022



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    5

Age & Race

With a median age of 34.7 years and more than 30% of residents under the age of 18, 
Navasota has a younger population than Grimes County as a whole, which has a median age 
of 40.7 years and only 23% of residents younger than 18. 

In addition to being younger than the surrounding area, the City of Navasota also is more 
diverse. White residents make up 40% of Navasota while comprising the majority of Grimes 
County inhabitants. Navasota has twice the relative population of black residents and nearly 
two thirds the relative population of Hispanic residents than Grimes County. 

Navasota has a Diversity Index* of 85.7, higher than both Grimes County at 73 and the 
United States as a whole, which in 2020 had a Diversity Index of 65.1. 

23%

13%
26%

22%

15%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

0 - 14
15 - 24
25 - 44
45 - 64
65 +

17%

12%

27%
27%

18%

GRIMES COUNTY

63%13%

13%
11%

GRIMES COUNTY

40%

26%

18%

16%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

White

Black

Some Other
Race Alone
Two or More
Races

2022 POPULATION BY AGE

42%

26%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

HISPANIC ORIGIN
Hispanic Origin

Population by Age

Population by Race

63%13%

13%
11%

GRIMES COUNTY

40%

26%

18%

16%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

White

Black

Some Other
Race Alone
Two or More
Races

63%13%

13%
11%

GRIMES COUNTY

40%

26%

18%

16%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

White

Black

Some Other
Race Alone
Two or More
Races

*A Diversity Index of 85.7 
translates to a probability 
of 85.7% that two people 
randomly chosen from 
the area’s population 
would belong to different 
race or ethnic groups.



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  6

Educational Attainment

In the City of Navasota, 78% of the population aged 25 years or older has a high school 
degree or higher, slightly less than Grimes County at 83% capture rate for these education 
segments. Approximately, 14% of Navasota residents hold at least a four-year college degree, 
versus 18% in Grimes County.

22%

36%

28%

7% 7%

17%

36%

29%

11%
7%

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%

2022 EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT AGES 25+

CITY OF NAVASOTA GRIMES COUNTY

Housing

Residential uses in Navasota include clusters of predominantly single-family homes 
interspersed with mobile homes and multi-family units. 54% of the housing stock is currently 
owner occupied, while 35% is renter occupied. The median home value is $147,119, nearly 
25% lower than the average home value in Grimes County, $195,553. 

54%35%

11%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

Owner Occupied Renter Occupied Vacant

65%
19%

16%

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 HOUSING UNIT SUMMARY

2022 Educational Attainment Ages 25+

11
% 12

%

7%

12
%

18
%

13
%

21
%

4% 3%

10
%

9% 9%

12
%

16
%

13
%

19
%

6% 7%
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%
2022 HOUSEHOLD INCOME BRACKETS

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 Housing Unit Summary



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    7

Income
In 2022, the City of Navasota’s Per Capita Income is $28,315, 11% less than that of Grimes 
County. Navasota’s Median Household Income, $59,152, is also smaller than that of Grimes 
County, though by a smaller margin – 6%. 

$28,315

$59,152

$82,372

$31,682

$63,007

$102,576

$0
$20,000
$40,000
$60,000
$80,000

$100,000
$120,000

Per Capita Income Median Household
Income

Average Household
Income

2022 INCOME

11
% 12

%

7%

12
%

18
%

13
%

21
%

4% 3%

10
%

9% 9%

12
%

16
%

13
%

19
%

6% 7%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%
2022 HOUSEHOLD INCOME BRACKETS

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

Resident Employment by Occupation
The City currently has 3,267 residents aged 16+ engaged in the labor force, or 95.1% of the 
total population actively seeking employment. Grimes County falls just short of Navasota with 
94.9% of residents in the labor force. Roughly 39% of Navasota residents are employed as 
White Collar workers with slightly more, 43%, in Blue Collar jobs. The remainder of the City’s 
labor force work in Service occupations. Comparatively, Grimes County has more residents 
employed in White Collar jobs and less in Blue Collar and Service occupations. White Collar 
workers in the City are split relatively evenly among Management / Business / Financing, 
Professional, Sales, and Administrative Support roles. Production and Transportation roles 
make up the majority of its residents Blue Collar jobs. 

39%
43%

19%

45%
38%

16%

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%
50%

White Collar Blue Collar Services

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 Income

11
% 12

%

7%

12
%

18
%

13
%

21
%

4% 3%

10
%

9% 9%

12
%

16
%

13
%

19
%

6% 7%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%
2022 HOUSEHOLD INCOME BRACKETS

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 Income Employed Population 16+ by Occupation



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  8

Business & Industry
There are approximately 377 businesses in the City of Navasota employing roughly 3,418 
individuals. In terms of employment, Retail Trade, Educational Services, Health Care & 
Social Assistance, Public Administration, and Accommodation & Food Service comprise the 
top five industries; together they employ 66% of employees within the city, or roughly 2,250 
individuals. When looking at business counts, Retail Trade dominates with nearly 18% of 
Navasota businesses, followed by Other Services*, Accommodation & Food Services, Health 
Care & Social Assistance, and Public Administration. In total, these industries account for just 
over 56% of businesses within the city. 

15%
14% 13%

10%

13%

520 470
453 354

453

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%

Retail Trade Educational
Services

Health Care &
Social

Assistance

Accommodation
& Food Services

Public
Administration

CITY OF NAVASOTA, EMPLOYEES BY INDUSTRY

Percent of
Navasota
Employees

Number of
Employees

18%

8%
9%

14%

8%
67

29
35 52

29

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90
100

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%

Retail Trade Health Care &
Social

Assistance

Accommodation
& Food Services

Other Services
(except Public
Administration)

Public
Administration

CITY OF NAVASOTA, BUSINESSES BY INDUSTRY

% of
Navasota
Businesses

Number of
Businesses

Employees by Industry, City of Navasota

Businesses by Industry, City of Navasota

*Other Services 
includes automotive 
and commercial / 
industrial repair & 
maintenance, personal 
& household goods 
repair & maintenance, 
personal care services, 
dry cleaning & laundry 
services, religious 
organizations, civic & 
social organizations, etc.



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    9

TIRZ as a Tool
As shown in the existing conditions analysis, the area within the Zone meets many of the 
conditions required by Chapter 311 for designation as a tax increment reinvestment zone. 
These conditions include the following:

• Area is predominately open with physical and economic constraints to development
• Defective or inadequate sidewalks, utilities, or street layout
• Faulty lot layout in relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, or usefulness 
• Unsanitary or unsafe conditions
• An area’s tax base is relatively low

Given these conditions, the area would benefit from utilizing a tool like tax increment financing. 
There are a number of opportunities for growth and development within the proposed Zone 
boundary, especially given its proximity to State Highway 6 and the extension of State Highway 
249 via State Highway 105. However, the area lacks the necessary infrastructure to support 
future development and redevelopment. Opportunities for new investment include vacant 
land, and older and underutilized properties adjacent to major thoroughfares that are prime 
for redevelopment. Utilizing a tool like a TIRZ would attract public and private investment, 
providing initial financing for much needed public infrastructure improvements, including 
water and sewer, trails and recreation facilities, mobility and streetscape enhancements, and 
other economic development initiatives. Improvements would ultimately be funded from tax 
increment revenues (captured value) following new residential and commercial development. 
The development of the Zone to its fullest potential would not be feasible in the near future 
without the assistance of a tool like a TIRZ.

Potential Projects
Potential projects may include but are not limited to:
• Water, wastewater, natural gas and drainage improvements associated with new 

commercial and residential developments
• Wastewater treatment plant
• Stormwater management improvements including land acquisition and detention
• Roadway and mobility enhancements and connections
• Value added improvements to State funded projects including the SH 249 extension
• Streetscape enhancements including enhanced intersections, ADA accessibility 

improvements, sidewalks, crosswalks, pedestrian signals, landscaping, pedestrian 
amenities, lighting, facade improvements, signage/wayfinding and public art

• Parks, trails and recreation improvements
• Parking and safety improvements



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  10

Projected Growth and Revenues
The SH 249 Expansion Project will represent, upon completion, the second major corridor 
directly linking the City of Navasota and the Houston MSA. A combination of a controlled 
access tollway and a rural highway, SH 249 will ultimately connect to SH 105 via an elevated 
interchange roughly 6 miles east of Navasota. TxDOT currently anticipates a 2023 completion. 
Not only will the Project provide easy, reliable, and aesthetically pleasing access to the 
Houston MSA for outward-bound daily commuters, but it will provide better access to 
Navasota for rural and suburban residents living in the commercially underserved quadrant 
southeast of the city. With enhanced access to the area, combined with increasing growth 
pressures, the City will be able to capture new development in the eastern portion of the City 
Limits and ETJ, with the availability of adequate infrastructure. Navasota is already starting to 
see an increase in both residential and commercial activity in it’s City Limits and an interest 
in development in it’s ETJ.

As part of the feasibility analysis, three revenue scenarios were developed that reflect different 
assumptions as it relates to the timing of planned projects, growth rates and availability of 
infrastructure to support future development. Given that the majority of the Zone lies within 
the City’s ETJ, it is assumed that as growth occurs, developments will be annexed into the 
City Limits. Funding or reimbursement for public infrastructure can serve as a mechanism 
to allow for voluntary annexation into the City.  The purpose of the scenarios is to show the 
growth potential within the area and demonstrate the financial feasibility of the proposed 
reinvestment zone. 

Results of the three scenarios are shown in Tables 2 and 3. As shown, projected Taxable 
Value in 2052 ranges from $341 million to $557 million. Projected revenues available for 
TIRZ projects range from $14 million to $23 million.

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3
2022  $45,488,600  $45,488,600  $45,488,600 
2027  $107,980,886  $125,743,386  $125,743,386 
2032  $188,786,478  $241,181,603  $241,181,603 
2037  $218,855,270  $301,777,937  $343,164,755 
2042  $253,713,241  $349,843,339  $414,704,636 
2047  $294,123,182  $405,564,313  $480,756,333 
2052  $340,969,380  $470,160,193  $557,328,353 

Table 2 - Taxable Values



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    11

There are a number of opportunities for growth and development within the Zone boundaries, 
particularly given its easy access to major State Highways 6 and 249. Public improvements 
funded / implemented by the City and other partners would stimulate commercial and 
residential development and redevelopment within the Zone. Provision of water, sewer, 
drainage and mobility improvements would support the viability and quality of new 
development. 

Based on values and revenue projections for the scenarios as outlined in this report, revenues 
generated as a result of capital improvements made by the public in all scenarios would be 
sufficient to fund certain public infrastructure improvements within the proposed Zone.

The extent and quality of development in the proposed Zone is dependent upon the timing 
and implementation of public infrastructure projects including water, sewer, drainage, 
and roadway improvements. A financing tool like a TIRZ can facilitate and expedite new 
development and investment within the Zone boundaries, providing economic opportunity 
not only in terms of increased property values and sales tax but also housing, employment, 
and quality of life amenities for residents and businesses. 

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3
2022  $-    $-    $-   
2027  $174,327  $223,876  $223,876 
2032  $399,739  $545,899  $545,899 
2037  $483,618  $714,937  $830,388 
2042  $580,857  $849,019  $1,029,954 
2047  $693,584  $1,004,456  $1,214,210 
2052  $824,264  $1,184,651  $1,427,813 

Total  $14,032,045  $20,175,286  $23,409,626 

Table 3 - Revenues



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  12

+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 44

6

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

C
ounty

R
oad

403

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
AR

V
E

R
 S

T

C
LE V

E
L

A
N

D
AVE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

D
O

VE C
T

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

C
ount y

R
oa d

4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE
DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

C
LE

V
E

LA
N

D
 A

V
E

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022

Map 1- Proposed Boundary, Aerial View



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    13

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

GRIMEST

Brosig

MANLEY ST

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 446

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

FM 379

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

DURDEN ST

E JOHNSON ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

C
ounty

Road
4 03

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
AR

V
E

R
 S

T

C
L E

V
E

L
A

N
D

A
VE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

W LEE ST

D
O

VE C
T

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

AUSTIN ST

BUCKINGHAM LN

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN WHITE
D

R

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105
W

O
O

D
 ST

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Property Class 2022
Unknown/Not Specified (3)

Agricultural (70)

Commercial (29)

Multi-Family Res. (2)

Exempt (8)

Farm and Ranch (14)

Industrial (1)

Single Family Res. (30)

Utility (1)

Vacant Lot (28)

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/23/2022

Map 2 - Property Classification



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  14

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 44

6

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

C
ounty

R
oad

403

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
A

R
V

E
R

 S
T

C
LE V

E
L

A
N

D
AVE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

D
O

VE C
T

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

C
ount y

R
oa d

4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE
DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

C
LE

V
E

LA
N

D
 A

V
E

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

2021 County Taxable Value
$1,352,438 - 5,210,169 (8)

$631,654 - 1,352,437 (10)

$163,781 - 631,653 (41)

$1 - 163,780 (111)

$0 (11)

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/26/2022

Map 3 - Taxable Value



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    15

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 44

6

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE
LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

C
ounty

R
oad

403

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
A

R
V

E
R

 S
T

C
LE V

E
L

A
N

D
AVE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

D
O

VE C
T

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

C
ount y

R
oa d

4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE
DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

C
LE

V
E

LA
N

D
 A

V
E

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

USA Flood Hazard Areas
1% Annual Chance Flood Hazard (10)

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard (15)

Regulatory Floodway (2)

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD, Esri
Map Date: 9/28/2022

Map 4 - Flood Hazard Areas



City of Navasota

Tax Increment 
Reinvestment Zone No. 1

Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan

November 14, 2022



Overview

▪ Creation of Tax Reinvestment Zone No. 1

▪ Preliminary Project Plan & Reinvestment Zone Financing Plan

▪ Base Year - 2022

▪ Termination Year – 2052

Purposes of the Zone:

▪ Finance construction of infrastructure and public facilities to catalyze residential 
and commercial development and redevelopment

▪ Increased property values and revenues within Zone boundaries are used to fund 
projects



Purpose

▪ Support new development & investment

▪ Bolster commercial & residential viability

▪ Support voluntary annexation of properties into the City Limits

▪ Achieve higher quality development

▪ Support/implement community vision & goals



Zone 
Boundary

▪ Approximately +/- 2,890  

acres

▪ 2,197 acres in the ETJ

▪ 692 acres in the City Limits

▪ Non-Contiguous Zone

▪ Residential Requirement –

less than 30% Taxable 

Value



Existing 
Conditions & 
Feasibility

Land Use - Acreage

▪ Undeveloped – 94%

▪ Commercial – 3%

▪ Single Family – 2%



Existing 
Conditions & 
Feasibility

Land Use – Taxable Value

• Undeveloped – 25%

• Commercial – 62%

• Single Family – 10%

Taxable Value = $45.5 million



Goals

1. Infrastructure - Support commercial and residential development through 

coordination of public infrastructure improvements including water, sewer, drainage 

and detention.

2. Mobility & Connectivity - Enhance mobility options allowing for efficient and safe 

access through and within the area.

3. Parks, Recreation, & Public Facilities - Enhance parks and recreation opportunities

that add to the quality of life and economic vitality of the City.

4. Economic Development - Incentivize projects that promote redevelopment of the

community and enhance economic development opportunities consistent with the

community’s goals and priorities.



Project Costs

Infrastructure $10,000,000 

Mobility & Connectivity $10,000,000 

Parks, Recreation & Public Facilities $1,500,000 

Economic Development $500,000 

Administration $500,000 

Total $22,500,000 



Taxable Value

▪ Current Value - $45.5 million

▪ Projected Value 2052 - $557.3 Million

▪ Increment - $511.8 million

▪ Annual Growth Rate – 9%

 $-

 $100,000,000

 $200,000,000

 $300,000,000

 $400,000,000

 $500,000,000

 $600,000,000

2022 2027 2032 2037 2042 2047 2052

Taxable Value



Projected Revenues

▪ Estimated Revenues - $46.8 million

▪ Estimated TIRZ Revenues - $23.4 million

▪ City Participation Rate = 50%

▪ The Zone will terminate on December 31, 

2052

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,600,000

2022 2027 2032 2037 2042 2047 2052

Annual TIRZ Revenues



TIRZ Creation Process

1. Public Hearing – November 14, 2022

2. First Reading by City Council – November 14, 2022

3. Creation of the Zone by City Council – November 28, 2022

4. TIRZ Board Approval of Final Project Plan and Financing Plan – 2023

5. City Council Approval of Final Project Plan and Financing Plan - 2023



ORDINANCE NO. 1010-22  
  

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING A GEOGRAPHIC AREA 
WITHIN THE CITY OF NAVASOTA AND ITS EXTRA-TERRITORIAL 
JURIISDICTION AS REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE, CITY OF 
NAVASOTA, TEXAS, FOR TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PURPOSES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 311 OF THE TEXAS TAX CODE; 
CREATING A BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR SUCH ZONE; 
ESTABLISHING THE TAX INCREMENT FUND; ESTABLISHING THE 
TERMINATION DATE OF THE ZONE; CONTAINING FINDINGS AND 
PROVISIONS RELATED TO THE FOREGOING SUBJECT; 
AUTHORIZING ACTIONS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE ZONE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR PROPER 
NOTICE OF MEETING.  

  
WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code, the City may 

designate a contiguous or non-contiguous geographic area within the City and its extra-
territorial jurisdiction as a reinvestment zone if the area satisfies the requirements of 
certain sections of Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has prepared a preliminary project plan and reinvestment 

zone financing plan for the designation of a proposed reinvestment zone within a non-
contiguous area of the City and its ETJ ("proposed zone") which provides that City of 
Navasota ad valorem taxes are to be deposited into the tax increment fund; and  

 
WHEREAS, a notice of the public hearing on the creation of the proposed zone 

was published on November 2, 2022 in The Examiner, a newspaper of general 
circulation in the City; and;  

 
WHEREAS, at the public hearing on November 14, 2022, interested persons 

were allowed to speak for or against the creation of the proposed zone, its boundaries, 
or the concept of tax increment financing; and owners of property in the proposed zone 
were given a reasonable opportunity to protest the inclusion of their property in the 
proposed zone; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has provided information and given proper notice as 

required by Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code, or other law as a condition to the creation of 
the proposed zone; and   

  
WHEREAS, the total appraised value of taxable real property in the proposed 

zone and all other tax increment reinvestment zones previously created by the City is 
approximately $45,488,600; and  

 



WHEREAS, the total area within the proposed zone is approximately 2,890 
acres, including property that is publicly owned; and  

WHEREAS, less than thirty percent (30%) of the property in the proposed zone 
is currently used for residential purposes, as that term is defined in Code Section 
311.006(d); and  

 
WHEREAS, the City intends to participate in the proposed zone by contributing 

tax increment to the tax increment fund for the proposed zone from taxes levied and 
collected by the City at fifty percent (50%) of its tax rate, and  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS:   
 
Section 1. Findings.  
 
(a) That the facts and recitations contained in the preamble of this Ordinance   

are hereby found and declared to be true and correct and are adopted as part of this 
Ordinance for all purposes. 

 
(b) That the City Council further finds and declares that the proposed 

improvements in the zone will significantly enhance the value of all the taxable real 
property in the proposed zone and will be of general benefit to the City.  
 

(c) That the City Council further finds and declares that the proposed zone 
meets the criteria and requirements of Code Section 311.005 because the area 
substantially arrests and impairs the sound growth of the City, retards the provision of 
housing accommodations and constitutes an economic and social liability, and is a 
menace to the public health, safety, morals and welfare in its present condition and use 
because of the presence of:  

 
1. A substantial number of substandard, slum, deteriorated, 
and deteriorating structures;  
2. The predominance of defective or inadequate sidewalk or 
street layout;  
3. Faulty lot layout in relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, 
or usefulness;  
4. Unsanitary and unsafe conditions;  
5. The deterioration of site and other improvements; and  
6. Conditions that endanger life or property by fire or other 
cause  

(d) That the proposed zone is a non-contiguous geographic area located 
wholly within the corporate limits of the City of Navasota and its ETJ.  

 



(e) That the development or redevelopment of the property in the proposed 
zone will not occur solely through private investment in the reasonably foreseeable 
future.  

(f) That less than thirty percent (30%) of the property in the proposed zone 
is used for residential purposes within the meaning of Code Section 311.006(d).  

 
(g)  That the total appraised value of real property in the proposed zone and 

in the City's existing reinvestment zones does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the 
total appraised value of taxable real property in the City and the industrial districts 
created by the City.  

  
Section 2. Designation of the Zone   
  

That the City, acting under the provisions of Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code, including 
Section 311.005(a), does hereby designate as a reinvestment zone, and create and 
designate a reinvestment zone over the area described in Exhibit “A” (attached hereto 
and incorporated herein) to promote the redevelopment of the area.  The reinvestment 
zone shall hereafter be named for identification as Reinvestment Zone Number One, 
City of Navasota, Texas, (the “Zone”).  The City Council specifically declares that the 
Zone is designated pursuant to Section 311.005(a) (1) and (2) of the Texas Tax Code.  

  
Section 3. Board of Directors  
 

That there is created a Board of Directors for the Zone, which shall consist of seven (7) 
members appointed by the City. Any other taxing unit that levies taxes on real property 
in the Zone and has approved the payment of all or part of the tax increment produced 
by the taxing unit into the tax increment fund for the Zone may appoint one director. 
Any taxing unit that appoints a director shall be assigned a Board position number in 
the order the appointment is received by the City. Failure of a taxing unit to appoint a 
director by January 1, 2024, shall be deemed a waiver of the right to appoint a director, 
and the City shall be entitled to appoint persons to the position.  

 
The Mayor is hereby authorized to nominate and appoint, subject to City Council 

approval, the directors to Positions One through Seven of the Board of Directors, and 
any position unfilled on January 1, 2024, subject to the consent and approval of the 
City Council. 

  
The directors appointed to odd-numbered positions shall be appointed for two-

year terms, beginning on the effective date of this Ordinance, while the directors 
appointed to even-numbered positions shall be appointed to a one year term, beginning 
on the effective date of this Ordinance.  All subsequent appointments shall be for two-
year terms.  The member of the Board of Directors appointed to Position One is hereby 
designated to serve as the chair of the Board of Directors for a one-year term beginning 
on the effective date of this Ordinance.  Thereafter the Mayor shall annually nominate 



and appoint, subject to City Council approval, a member to serve as chair for a term of 
one year beginning on the anniversary of the effective date of this Ordinance.  The City 
Council authorizes the Board of Directors to elect from its members a vice-chairman and 
such other officers as the Board of Directors sees fit.  

 
The Board of Directors shall make recommendations to City Council concerning 

the administration of the Zone.  The Board of Directors shall prepare or cause to be 
prepared and adopt a project plan and a reinvestment zone financing plan for the Zone 
as described in Section 311.011, Texas Tax Code, and shall submit such plans to City 
Council for its approval.  The City hereby delegates to the Board of Directors all powers 
necessary to prepare and implement the project plan and reinvestment zone financing 
plan, subject to approval by City Council, including the power to employ any consultants 
or enter into any reimbursement agreements payable solely from the Tax Increment 
Fund established pursuant to Section 7 of this Ordinance that may be reasonably 
necessary or convenient to assist the Board of Directors in the preparation of the 
project plan and reinvestment zone financing plan and in the issuance of tax increment 
obligations.  

  
Section 4. Duration of the Zone  
 
That the Zone shall take effect immediately upon the passage and approval of 

this Ordinance, and termination of the operation of the Zone shall occur on December 
31, 2052, or at an earlier time as provided in Sec. 311.017, Texas Tax Code.    

  
Section 5. Tax Increment Base  
 
That the Tax Increment Base of the City or any other taxing unit participating in 

the Zone is the total appraised value of all real property taxable by the City or other 
taxing unit participating in the Zone and located in the Zone, determined as of January 
1, 2022, the year in which the Zone was designated as a reinvestment zone (the “Tax 
Increment Base”).  

  
Section 6 Approval of the City's Level of Participation in the Zone  
 

That the City will participate in the Zone by contributing tax increment to the Tax 
Increment Fund for the Zone from taxes levied and collected by the City at the rate of 
fifty percent (50%), which rate may be amended from time to time, beginning on 
January 1, 2022, to be used for all purposes of the Zone as set forth in the project plan 
and reinvestment zone financing plan.   

  
Section 7. Tax Increment Fund  
 

There is hereby created and established a Tax Increment Fund for the Zone which may 
be divided into subaccounts as authorized by subsequent Ordinances.  All Tax 



Increments, as defined below, shall be deposited in the Tax Increment Fund.  The Tax 
Increment Fund and any subaccount shall be maintained at the depository bank of the 
City and shall be secured in the manner prescribed by law for funds of Texas cities.  
The annual Tax Increment shall equal the property taxes levied by the City and any 
other taxing unit participating in the Zone at its participation rate for that year on the 
captured appraised value, as defined by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code, of real 
property located in Zone that is taxable by the City or any other taxing unit participating 
in the Zone, less any amounts that are to be allocated from the Tax Increment pursuant 
to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code.    All revenues from the sale of any tax 
increment bonds, notes or other obligations hereafter issued for the benefit of the Zone 
by the City, if any; revenues from the sale of property acquired as part of the project 
plan and reinvestment zone financing plan, if any; and other revenues to be used in the 
Zone shall be deposited into the Tax Increment Fund.  Prior to the termination of the 
Zone, money shall be disbursed from the Tax Increment Fund only to pay project costs, 
as defined by the Texas Tax Code, for the Zone, to satisfy the claims of holders of tax 
increments bonds or notes issued for the Zone, or to pay obligations incurred pursuant 
to agreements entered into to implement the project plan and reinvestment zone 
financing plan and achieve their purpose pursuant to Section 311.010(b) of the Texas 
Tax Code.  

  
Section7. Authorization for Necessary Actions  
 

The City Council authorizes the City Manager to take all such actions as are necessary 
to implement this Ordinance and the establishment of the Zone.  

  
Section 8. Severability 
  

If any provision, section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance, or 
the application of same to any person to set circumstances, is for any reason held to be 
unconstitutional, void or invalid, the validity of the remaining provisions of this 
Ordinance or their application to other persons or set of circumstances shall not be 
affected thereby, it being the intent of the City Council in adopting this Ordinance that 
no portion hereof or regulations connected herein shall become inoperative or fail by 
reason of any unconstitutionality, voidness or invalidity of any portion hereof, and all 
provisions of this Ordinance are declared severable for that purpose.  

  
Section 9. Open Meetings 
  

It is hereby found, determined and declared that a sufficient written notice of the date, 
hour, place and subject of the meeting of the City Council at which this Ordinance was 
adopted was posted at a place convenient and readily accessible at all times to the 
general public at City Hall for the time required by law preceding its meeting, as 
required by the Open Meetings Law, Texas Government Code, ch. 551, and that this 
meeting has been open to the public as required by law at all times during which this 



Ordinance and the subject matter hereof has been discussed, considered and formally 
acted upon.  The City Council further ratifies, approves and confirms such written notice 
and the contents and posting thereof.  

  
Section 10. Notices 
  

The contents of the notice of the public hearing, which hearing was held before the City 
Council on November 14, 2022, and the publication of said notice, are hereby ratified, 
and confirmed.   

  
  
PASSED AND APPROVED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 14TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022.  
  
                                                                              
                                               __________________________  
                                                        BERT MILLER, MAYOR  
  
ATTEST:  
  
  
_______________________________  
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY   
  
  
PASSED AND APPROVED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 28TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022.  
  
                                                                        
                                                          __________________________  
                                                                      BERT MILLER, MAYOR  
  
ATTEST:  
  
  
_______________________________  
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A”  
Boundary Description  

  
Page Break 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

Exhibit “B”  
Preliminary Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Finance Plan  

 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 1 
TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE 2 

CITY OF NAVASOA CORPORATE LIMITS AND EXTRA-TERRITORIAL JURISDICTION 3 
GRIMES COUNTY 4 

 5 

The City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number 1 is comprised of three tracts situated along State 6 
Hwy 6 within the City of Navasota Corporate Limits and Extra-territorial Jurisdiction Boundary, Grimes County. 7 

Tract 1 of 3 is +/- 2,586 acres situated east of State Hwy 6 with point of beginning being the intersection of east 8 
right-of-way (ROW) of FM 3090 and north ROW of State Hwy 6 Frontage Rd, same being west corner of A0002. D 9 
ARNOLD, TRACT 8, PAR 2-1, ACRES 10.63; 10 

Then north northeast and east northeast along east ROW of FM 3090 to north corner of A0029 J HOLLAND, 11 
TRACT 16-1, ACRES 3.36, same being west boundary of A0002 D ARNOLD, TRACT 15-3, ACRES 2.37; 12 

Then west northwest along boundary of said TRACT 15-3, ACRES 2.37 to northwest corner of said tract, and east 13 
ROW of FM 3090; 14 

Then east northeast along east ROW of FM 3090 to northeast corner of A0029 J HOLLAND, TRACT 6, ACRES 15 
81.903; 16 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 6, ACRES 81.903 to southeast corner of said tract, same being 17 
southwest corner of A0029 J HOLLAND, TRACT 18, ACRES 47.41; 18 

Then east northeast along boundary of said 47 TRACT 18, ACRES 47.41 to southeast corner of said tract, same 19 
being west boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 38-1, ACRES 1; 20 

Then north by west along east boundary of said 47 TRACT 18, ACRES 47.41 to southwest corner of A0029 J 21 
HOLLAND, TRACT 28, ACRES 6.00; 22 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 28, ACRES 6.00, across ROW of Rabun Ln, and A0029 J 23 
HOLLAND, TRACT 15-5, ACRES 7.31, and A0029 J HOLLAND, TRACT 12, ACRES 50 to southeast corner of 24 
said TRACT 12, ACRES 50, same being north corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 22, ACRES 58; 25 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 22, ACRES 58 to southeast corner of said TRACT 22, same 26 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 25-6, ACRES 19.11; 27 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 25-6, ACRES 19.11 to north corner of said TRACT 25-6, same 28 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 59, ACRES 4; 29 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 25-6, ACRES 19.11, and A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, 30 
TRACT 59, ACRES 4 to south corner of said TRACT 59, ACRES 4; 31 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 59, ACRES 4, across ROW of FM Rd 3455 to east ROW of FM 32 
3455 and boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 37, ACRES 17.95; 33 

Then southeast along east ROW of FM 3455 to north ROW of State Hwy 90 North; 34 

Then north northeast along north ROW of State Hwy 90 North approximately 300 feet to City of Navasota Extra-35 
territorial Jurisdiction Line; 36 

Then generally south southeast and south along City of Navasota Extra-territorial Jurisdiction Line approximately 37 
12,171 feet to boundary line of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 15, ACRES 470.23, (INCLUDES 38 
ACREAGE IN A-44, A-411 & A-476), same being north ROW of CR 446; 39 

Then generally southwest and west along said boundary line of TRACT 15, and north ROW of CR 446 to interior 40 
corner of said TRACT 15; 41 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then south along said boundary line of TRACT 15, and west ROW of CR 446 to southeast corner of said TRACT 42 
15, same being north ROW of State Hwy 105; 43 

Then west by north along north ROW of State Hwy 105 to southwest corner of said TRACT 15, same being east 44 
ROW of Kettler Ln; 45 

Then south across ROW of State Hwy 105 approximately 1,331 feet to centerline of Sandy Creek; 46 

Then west southwest along centerline of Sandy Creek approximately 851 feet to a point south of southeast corner of 47 
A0476 H WINGFIELD, TRACT 18-5, ACRES 9.80; 48 

Then north approximately 130 feet to southeast corner of said TRACT 18-5, ACRES 9.80; 49 

Then west along south boundary of said TRACT 18-5, ACRES 9.80, and A0476 H WINGFIELD, TRACT 12-5, 50 
ACRES 1.87 to southwest corner of said TRACT 12-5, ACRES 1.87, same being east ROW of northbound access 51 
road of State Hwy 6 Loop; 52 

Then generally north along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop to south ROW of Dove 53 
Crossing Ln; 54 

Then east by north along south ROW of Dove Crossing Ln to northeast corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, 55 
Lot 2, ACRES 5.05; 56 

Then generally south by east along east boundary of said Lot 2, ACRES 5.05 to southeast corner of said Lot, same 57 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128; 58 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to corner of said TRACT 26, same being 59 
east corner of DOVE COURT, BLOCK 11, LOT 9B; 60 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to interior corner of said TRACT 26, 61 
same being south corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, Lot 6-17, ACRES 0.164; 62 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to interior corner of said TRACT 26, same 63 
being east corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, Lot 6-16, ACRES 0.163; 64 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to corner of said TRACT 26, same being 65 
south corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 10-B, ACRES 2.51 66 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to interior corner of said TRACT 26, same 67 
being east corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, Lot 15, ACRES 4.96; 68 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to northwest corner of said TRACT 26, 69 
same being northeast corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 11, ACRES 5.26; 70 

Then west southwest along City of Navasota Corporate Limits and boundary of said LOT 11, ACRES 5.26, and 71 
continuing along boundary of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 7-B, ACRES 2.51 to west corner of LOT 7-B, 72 
ACRES 2.51; 73 

Then south southeast along boundary of said LOT 7-B, ACRES 2.51, and DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7 to 74 
southwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 8-B, ACRES 1.0473, same being north ROW of Dove 75 
Crossing Ln; 76 

Then generally southwest by west along north ROW of Dove Crossing Ln to southeast corner of DOVE 77 
CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT A-23; 78 

Then north northwest along east boundary of said DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT A-23 to northeast corner of 79 
DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT A-13; 80 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then west southwest along north boundary of said BLOCK 7, LOT A-13, and DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 3 to 81 
northwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 3, LOT 1; 82 

Then south southeast along west boundary of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 3, and DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 4 83 
to southwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 4, LOT 10, same being north ROW of Dove Crossing Ln; 84 

Then west by south along north ROW of Dove Crossing Ln southwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 1, 85 
LOT 3, ACRES 1.52, same being east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop; 86 

Then generally north along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop to northwest corner of DOVE 87 
CROSSING, BLOCK 1, LOT 1, ACRES 1.22, same being boundary of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 1, Lot 6, 88 
ACRES 0.64, (TRIANGLE SHAPE); 89 

Then west southwest along boundary of said Lot 6, ACRES 0.64 to southwest corner of said lot, same being east 90 
ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 91 

Then generally north along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop, across ROW of State Hwy 92 
90 North to southwest corner of S1410 - ANNIE'S COUNTRY STORE, Lot 1, ACRES 0.659, same being north 93 
ROW of State Hwy 90 North; 94 

Then east northeast along north ROW of State Hwy 90 North to southwest corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, 95 
TRACT 31-2, ACRES 15.47; 96 

Then generally north northwest and west northwest along boundary of said TRACT 31-2, ACRES 15.47 to corner of 97 
said tract, same being east corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43; 98 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43 to north corner of said TRACT, same 99 
being east corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 8, ACRES 56.56; 100 

Then west southwest along boundary of said TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43 to northwest corner of said TRACT, same 101 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 57-1, ACRES 35.68; 102 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43 to southwest corner of said TRACT, same 103 
being north ROW of Alamo Dr; 104 

Then generally southwest along north ROW of Alamo Dr to east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 105 
Loop, same being south corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 57-1, ACRES 35.68; 106 

Then generally northwest and northwest by west along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 to east 107 
ROW of FM Rd 3090, same being west corner of A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 8, PAR 2-1, ACRES 10.63 and 108 
point of beginning of +/- 2,586 acre Tract 1 of 3; 109 

Tract 2 of 3 is +/- 273.9 acres situated northwest of the intersection of State Hwy 6 with Spur 515 and comprised of 110 
two tracts (A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 6-2, ACRES 202.482 and M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, 111 
Lot 1, ACRES 71.464) with point of beginning being the southwest corner of NAVASOTA CIRCLE "T", BLOCK 112 
1, Lot 1, ACRES 7.564, same being southeast corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 6-2, ACRES 202.482 113 
and north right-of-way (ROW) of Spur 515; 114 

Then west along north ROW of Spur 515 and boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to south corner of said TRACT, 115 
same being north ROW of Montgomery Rd; 116 

Then generally west northwest along north ROW of Montgomery Rd and boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to 117 
southwest corner of said TRACT; 118 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to west corner of said TRACT to north corner of 119 
A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 7-2, ACRES 2.84, same being boundary of MILROY TERRACE Subdivision; 120 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to interior corner of said TRACT, same being east 121 
corner of MILROY TERRACE, SEC 2, LOT 3; 122 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to corner of said tract, same being north corner of 123 
MILROY TERRACE, BLOCK 2, LOT 11 and boundary of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 32, ACRES 9.72; 124 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to north corner of said tract, same being east corner 125 
of said 9.72 acre tract and boundary of M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 1, ACRES 71.464; 126 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot same being interior 127 
corner CAMP SUB, BLOCK 79,80,88 PT OF 76-78, 89-92, ACRES 5.42; 128 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot; 129 

Then generally northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 and east boundary of A0055-4 D 130 
TYLER, TRACT 4, PAR 24A and 24B, PAR 24 and PAR 23 to corner of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464, same being 131 
east ROW of Woodrow Jackson Dr; 132 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being east 133 
corner of OLD HOMESTEAD, BLOCK 129-A, LOT 2,3,5,7,9,11,13 & BLOCK 130, LOT 1 TO 7; 134 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to northwest corner of said lot, same being 135 
north corner of OLD HOMESTEAD, BLOCK 129-A, LOT 2,3,5,7,9,11,13 & BLOCK 130, LOT 1 TO 7, and south 136 
ROW of Grimes St; 137 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being west corner of 138 
A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 1, PAR 3-5, ACRES 5.24; 139 

Then south southeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being west 140 
corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-3, ACRES 1.00; 141 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being east 142 
corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-3, ACRES 1.00; 143 

Then west northwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being interior corner 144 
of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-3, ACRES 1.00 and southwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, 145 
TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 146 

Then generally east by south along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 147 
southeast corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 148 

Then generally north by west along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 149 
northeast corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 150 

Then west southwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being interior corner 151 
of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 152 

Then north northwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being south corner of 153 
M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175; 154 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southeast 155 
corner of said M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175; 156 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 157 
northeast corner of M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175; 158 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then west southwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being northwest 159 
corner of said M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175, and boundary of A0055-5 D TYLER, 160 
TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 161 

Then north northwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being north corner of 162 
A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 163 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to north corner of said lot, same being boundary 164 
of A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 6, PAR 4-1, ACRES 7.09; 165 

Then southeast by south along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 166 
southwest corner of boundary of said A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 6, PAR 4-1, ACRES 7.09; 167 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to northeast corner of said lot, same being 168 
northwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9, ACRES 7.91; 169 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southwest 170 
corner of MCLEMORE SHOPPING CENTER, Lot 1-R, ACRES 4.67, (TRACTOR SUPPLY); 171 

Then east by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being southeast corner 172 
of said MCLEMORE SHOPPING CENTER, Lot 1-R, ACRES 4.67, (TRACTOR SUPPLY), and west ROW of 173 
southbound feeder road to State Hwy 6 Loop; 174 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being northeast corner 175 
of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8, ACRES 1.58; 176 

Then west by south along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 177 
northwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8, ACRES 1.58; 178 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southwest 179 
corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8, ACRES 1.58 (Navasota Inn); 180 

Then east by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being northwest corner 181 
of S7140 - NEW LIGHT, Lot 2, ACRES 1.743; 182 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being southwest corner 183 
of S7140 - NEW LIGHT, Lot 2, ACRES 1.743, and boundary of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-4, ACRES 184 
1.899; 185 

Then generally west southwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same 186 
being northwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-6, ACRES 2.271 (Western RV Park); 187 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southwest 188 
corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-6, ACRES 2.271; 189 

Then generally east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being 190 
southeast corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-1, ACRES 1.77 (Western Steakhouse & Dance Hall) and 191 
west ROW of southbound feeder road to State Hwy 6 Loop; 192 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464, and A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 6-2, 193 
ACRES 202.482 to east corner of said 202.482 acre tract, same being north corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 194 
5, PAR 11-1, ACRES 2.00 (Kingdom Hall of Jehovah’s Witnesses); 195 

Then generally west southwest along boundary of said 202.482 acre tract to interior corner of said tract, same being 196 
northwest corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 11-1, ACRES 2.00; 197 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then generally south along boundary of said 202.482 acre tract to southeast corner of said tract, same being 198 
southwest corner of NAVASOTA CIRCLE "T", BLOCK 1, Lot 1, ACRES 7.564 and point of beginning of +/- 199 
273.9 acre Tract 2 of 3; 200 

Tract 3 of 3 is +/- 30.17 acres situated south of intersection of State Hwy 6 Loop and FM 3090 (Piedmont) with 201 
point of beginning being the east right-of-way (ROW) of FM 3090 (Piedmont St) and north corner of A0002. D 202 
ARNOLD, TRACT 7, PAR 15,16, ACRES 9.74, same being south ROW of southbound access road to State Hwy 6 203 
Loop; 204 

Then generally east southeast along south ROW of southbound access road to State Hwy 6 to east corner of S8490 - 205 
VIVALDI SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 2.395; 206 

Then south southwest along boundary of said Lot 2, ACRES 2.395 to southeast corner of said lot; 207 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 2, ACRES 2.395 to east corner of A0002. D ARNOLD, 208 
TRACT 7, PAR 15,16, ACRES 9.74; 209 

Then southwest by south along boundary of said 9.74 acre tract to southeast corner of said tract; 210 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said 9.74 acre tract to east corner of A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 7, 211 
PAR 14-1, ACRES 12.76; 212 

Then southwest by south along boundary of said 12.76 acre tract to south corner of said tract; 213 

Then northwest by north along west boundary to said 12.76 acre tract, and A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 7, PAR 214 
14-2, ACRES 2 to west corner of said 2 acre tract, same being east ROW of FM 3090 (Piedmont); 215 

Then generally northeast by north along east ROW of FM 3090 (Piedmont St) to north corner of said A0002. D 216 
ARNOLD, TRACT 7, PAR 15,16, ACRES 9.74, same being south ROW of southbound access road to State Hwy 6 217 
Loop, and point of beginning of +/- 30.17 acre Tract 3 of 3; 218 



+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

SH
 90

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 30

90

FM 3455

SS 515

Victoria

Church

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST
NOLAN ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Count
y Road 446

Harn

STACEY ST

FARQUHAR ST

Mc Alpine

HORLOCK AVE
N JUDSON AVE

LANE ST

Montgomery

N MC NAIR ST
ELM ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

HOLLISTER ST

E LEE ST

WOOD ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TEXAST

MILLER ST

RATTLER DR

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN
MOORE ST

CULLEN ST

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

County Road 403

Co
un

ty 
Ro

ad
 41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST
CARVER ST

C LE VELAND
AVE

DON ST

BAKER ST

KETCHUM ST

COURTNEY RD
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SANFORD ST

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

DOVE TRL

DOVE CT

TYLER DR

N POST OAK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

Count y Roa d 4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S POST OAK ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

THANE ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BRIAR LN

LEON ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

WOOD ST

CL
EV

EL
AN

D A
VE

FELDER ST

ELM ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3
ETJ 2022
City Limit
County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022



 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #6 

 

Agenda Date Requested:  November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Jason Weeks, City Manager  
Department: Administration  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  

 
Exhibits: TIRZ Boundary Map, Jurisdiction 
Boundary Description, TIRZ #1 Preliminary 
Project Plan & Financing Plan, and Ordinance 
No. 1010-22 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #6 
 
Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 1010-22, 
designating a geographic area within the City of Navasota and its extra-territorial 
jurisdiction as Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of  Navasota, Texas, for tax 
increment financing purposes pursuant to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code; 
creating a Board of Directors for such zone; establishing the tax increment fund; 
establishing the termination date of the zone; containing findings and provisions 
related to the foregoing subject; authorizing actions in furtherance of the zone; 
providing a severability clause; providing for proper notice of meeting. 
 
 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 
On June 27, 2022, at a Special City Council meeting, City Council heard from David 
Hawes with Hawes Hill Group as he provided an overview of Tax Increment Financing 
Zones (TIRZs), Public Improvement Districts (PIDs), and Municipal Utility Districts 
(MUDs). City Council provided staff direction to move forward with the creation of 
Navasota’s first TIRZ. On July 25th, City Council approved a contract agreement with 
Hawes Hill & Associates to assist the City in creating a TIRZ. Then on September 12th, 
City Council discussed the setting boundaries for the creation of the Navasota Tax 
Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) #1 for the City of Navasota. Staff has been 
working with Hawes Hill & Associates to finalize the boundary map, boundary 
descriptions, and the preliminary project plan & financing plan. 
 
What is a TIRZ? 
A tax increment reinvestment zone (TIRZ) is a financing tool enabled by the Texas 
Legislature with the adoption of Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. A TIRZ is a tool 
that can be used to pay for public improvements to encourage development and/or 

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   



redevelopment of an area and attract private investment. Cities may create a TIRZ 
where conditions exist that substantially impair an area’s sound growth and where 
development or redevelopment is not likely to occur but for public infrastructure 
enhancements financed by a TIRZ. Upon creation of the Zone, the total appraised value 
of real property located within its boundaries is established for the year in which it was 
created. This is known as the base value. As development occurs in the Zone due to 
the provision of new infrastructure, the value of real property increases. This additional 
value above the base is known as the increment. It is set aside to finance infrastructure 
improvements within the Zone. Once all projects are completed, or after a defined 
period, the TIRZ is dissolved. During the life of the Zone, the city and other participating 
taxing jurisdictions collect tax revenue on the base value of the Zone. When the Zone 
is dissolved, the city and other participating taxing jurisdictions receive the benefit of 
the full increment value created by new development. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposed TIRZ boundary is approximately +/- 2,890 acres and is located within 
both Navasota’s corporate limits, as well as its ETJ. The Zone is largely bounded by 
State Highway 6 to the west, Navasota’s ETJ limit to the east, FM 3090 to the north, 
and State Highway 105 / TX-515 Spur and County Road 446 to the south. 
Approximately 274 acres lies near the northwest corner of the State Highway 6 / TX-
515 Spur intersection, and approximately 30 acres lies at the southwest corner of the 
State Highway 6 / FM 3090 intersection. Most of the Zone is located within the City’s 
ETJ and is undeveloped or in agricultural use. The tax increment associated with this 
TIRZ will consist of contributions from the city, at a rate of 50% of its tax rate. The 
proposed life of the TIRZ is 30-years (2022 to 2052). 
 
The proposed TIRZ #1 Project Plan & Financing Plan has identified $22 million in 
possible project costs that outline goals, priorities, and projects for the TIRZ: 
 

• Infrastructure ($10 million) - Support commercial and residential development 
through coordination of public infrastructure improvements including water, 
sewer, drainage, and detention. Most of the Zone lies within the City’s ETJ and 



over 90%, consists of undeveloped land. As growth pressures continue to 
increase in the area, development of this land will transition over time to higher 
intensity uses. To support these uses and the viability of new residential and 
commercial development, infrastructure improvements will be needed, including 
roadways, water, sewer, natural gas, wastewater treatment plant, drainage, and 
detention. The TIRZ can serve as a tool to facilitate the coordination of 
infrastructure needs with property owners and developers, and the annexation 
of properties into the City Limits. This can be accomplished through the funding 
of public infrastructure and/or developer reimbursement agreements and 
incentives. 
 

• Mobility & Connectivity ($10 million) - Enhance mobility options allowing for 
efficient and safe access through and within the area. As the area develops to 
higher intensity uses, mobility options to travel through the area will be important 
to support new development, including new or expanded roadways and 
pedestrian and/or bike facilities. 
 

• Parks, Recreation, and Public Facilities ($1.5 million) - Enhance parks and 
recreation opportunities that add to the quality of life and economic vitality of the 
City. As growth continues to occur east of the city and new residential 
communities develop, having adequate parks, recreational and other public 
facilities will be important to the community’s economic vitality and in attracting 
residents and businesses to the area. 
 

• Economic Development ($500,000) - Incentivize projects that promote 
redevelopment of the community and enhance economic development 
opportunities consistent with the community’s goals and priorities. To stimulate 
and accelerate redevelopment within the TIRZ, the TIRZ desires to establish an 
economic development program that would directly incentivize private enterprise 
that affect the TIRZ and serve as a catalyst for other business developments. 
Examples of how the program would be used include funding for business 
development and retention, business loss mitigation, economic development 
grants to catalyze investments, such as Agreements under Chapter 380 of the 
Texas Local Government Code, and matching grants to provide leverage for 
other economic development funds. 

 
Now that a public hearing has been conducted to finalize the creation of the Navasota 
TIRZ #1, staff is recommending City Council approve on the first reading Ordinance 
1010-22 for the creation of the Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of Navasota, 
Texas.  
 

 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
 
Approve or deny on the first reading of Ordinance No. 1010-22, designating a 
geographic area within the City of Navasota and its extra-territorial jurisdiction 
as Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of  Navasota, Texas, for tax increment 
financing purposes pursuant to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code; creating a 



Board of Directors for such zone; establishing the tax increment fund; 
establishing the termination date of the zone; containing findings and provisions 
related to the foregoing subject; authorizing actions in furtherance of the zone; 
providing a severability clause; providing for proper notice of meeting. 

 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

 
 
     
Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 

11/10/2022



ORDINANCE NO. 1010-22  
  

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING A GEOGRAPHIC AREA 
WITHIN THE CITY OF NAVASOTA AND ITS EXTRA-TERRITORIAL 
JURIISDICTION AS REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE, CITY OF 
NAVASOTA, TEXAS, FOR TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PURPOSES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 311 OF THE TEXAS TAX CODE; 
CREATING A BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR SUCH ZONE; 
ESTABLISHING THE TAX INCREMENT FUND; ESTABLISHING THE 
TERMINATION DATE OF THE ZONE; CONTAINING FINDINGS AND 
PROVISIONS RELATED TO THE FOREGOING SUBJECT; 
AUTHORIZING ACTIONS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE ZONE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR PROPER 
NOTICE OF MEETING.  

  
WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code, the City may 

designate a contiguous or non-contiguous geographic area within the City and its extra-
territorial jurisdiction as a reinvestment zone if the area satisfies the requirements of 
certain sections of Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has prepared a preliminary project plan and reinvestment 

zone financing plan for the designation of a proposed reinvestment zone within a non-
contiguous area of the City and its ETJ ("proposed zone") which provides that City of 
Navasota ad valorem taxes are to be deposited into the tax increment fund; and  

 
WHEREAS, a notice of the public hearing on the creation of the proposed zone 

was published on November 2, 2022 in The Examiner, a newspaper of general 
circulation in the City; and;  

 
WHEREAS, at the public hearing on November 14, 2022, interested persons 

were allowed to speak for or against the creation of the proposed zone, its boundaries, 
or the concept of tax increment financing; and owners of property in the proposed zone 
were given a reasonable opportunity to protest the inclusion of their property in the 
proposed zone; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has provided information and given proper notice as 

required by Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code, or other law as a condition to the creation of 
the proposed zone; and   

  
WHEREAS, the total appraised value of taxable real property in the proposed 

zone and all other tax increment reinvestment zones previously created by the City is 
approximately $45,488,600; and  

 



WHEREAS, the total area within the proposed zone is approximately 2,890 
acres, including property that is publicly owned; and  

WHEREAS, less than thirty percent (30%) of the property in the proposed zone 
is currently used for residential purposes, as that term is defined in Code Section 
311.006(d); and  

 
WHEREAS, the City intends to participate in the proposed zone by contributing 

tax increment to the tax increment fund for the proposed zone from taxes levied and 
collected by the City at fifty percent (50%) of its tax rate, and  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS:   
 
Section 1. Findings.  
 
(a) That the facts and recitations contained in the preamble of this Ordinance   

are hereby found and declared to be true and correct and are adopted as part of this 
Ordinance for all purposes. 

 
(b) That the City Council further finds and declares that the proposed 

improvements in the zone will significantly enhance the value of all the taxable real 
property in the proposed zone and will be of general benefit to the City.  
 

(c) That the City Council further finds and declares that the proposed zone 
meets the criteria and requirements of Code Section 311.005 because the area 
substantially arrests and impairs the sound growth of the City, retards the provision of 
housing accommodations and constitutes an economic and social liability, and is a 
menace to the public health, safety, morals and welfare in its present condition and use 
because of the presence of:  

 
1. A substantial number of substandard, slum, deteriorated, 
and deteriorating structures;  
2. The predominance of defective or inadequate sidewalk or 
street layout;  
3. Faulty lot layout in relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, 
or usefulness;  
4. Unsanitary and unsafe conditions;  
5. The deterioration of site and other improvements; and  
6. Conditions that endanger life or property by fire or other 
cause  

(d) That the proposed zone is a non-contiguous geographic area located 
wholly within the corporate limits of the City of Navasota and its ETJ.  

 



(e) That the development or redevelopment of the property in the proposed 
zone will not occur solely through private investment in the reasonably foreseeable 
future.  

(f) That less than thirty percent (30%) of the property in the proposed zone 
is used for residential purposes within the meaning of Code Section 311.006(d).  

 
(g)  That the total appraised value of real property in the proposed zone and 

in the City's existing reinvestment zones does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the 
total appraised value of taxable real property in the City and the industrial districts 
created by the City.  

  
Section 2. Designation of the Zone   
  

That the City, acting under the provisions of Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code, including 
Section 311.005(a), does hereby designate as a reinvestment zone, and create and 
designate a reinvestment zone over the area described in Exhibit “A” (attached hereto 
and incorporated herein) to promote the redevelopment of the area.  The reinvestment 
zone shall hereafter be named for identification as Reinvestment Zone Number One, 
City of Navasota, Texas, (the “Zone”).  The City Council specifically declares that the 
Zone is designated pursuant to Section 311.005(a) (1) and (2) of the Texas Tax Code.  

  
Section 3. Board of Directors  
 

That there is created a Board of Directors for the Zone, which shall consist of seven (7) 
members appointed by the City. Any other taxing unit that levies taxes on real property 
in the Zone and has approved the payment of all or part of the tax increment produced 
by the taxing unit into the tax increment fund for the Zone may appoint one director. 
Any taxing unit that appoints a director shall be assigned a Board position number in 
the order the appointment is received by the City. Failure of a taxing unit to appoint a 
director by January 1, 2024, shall be deemed a waiver of the right to appoint a director, 
and the City shall be entitled to appoint persons to the position.  

 
The Mayor is hereby authorized to nominate and appoint, subject to City Council 

approval, the directors to Positions One through Seven of the Board of Directors, and 
any position unfilled on January 1, 2024, subject to the consent and approval of the 
City Council. 

  
The directors appointed to odd-numbered positions shall be appointed for two-

year terms, beginning on the effective date of this Ordinance, while the directors 
appointed to even-numbered positions shall be appointed to a one year term, beginning 
on the effective date of this Ordinance.  All subsequent appointments shall be for two-
year terms.  The member of the Board of Directors appointed to Position One is hereby 
designated to serve as the chair of the Board of Directors for a one-year term beginning 
on the effective date of this Ordinance.  Thereafter the Mayor shall annually nominate 



and appoint, subject to City Council approval, a member to serve as chair for a term of 
one year beginning on the anniversary of the effective date of this Ordinance.  The City 
Council authorizes the Board of Directors to elect from its members a vice-chairman and 
such other officers as the Board of Directors sees fit.  

 
The Board of Directors shall make recommendations to City Council concerning 

the administration of the Zone.  The Board of Directors shall prepare or cause to be 
prepared and adopt a project plan and a reinvestment zone financing plan for the Zone 
as described in Section 311.011, Texas Tax Code, and shall submit such plans to City 
Council for its approval.  The City hereby delegates to the Board of Directors all powers 
necessary to prepare and implement the project plan and reinvestment zone financing 
plan, subject to approval by City Council, including the power to employ any consultants 
or enter into any reimbursement agreements payable solely from the Tax Increment 
Fund established pursuant to Section 7 of this Ordinance that may be reasonably 
necessary or convenient to assist the Board of Directors in the preparation of the 
project plan and reinvestment zone financing plan and in the issuance of tax increment 
obligations.  

  
Section 4. Duration of the Zone  
 
That the Zone shall take effect immediately upon the passage and approval of 

this Ordinance, and termination of the operation of the Zone shall occur on December 
31, 2052, or at an earlier time as provided in Sec. 311.017, Texas Tax Code.    

  
Section 5. Tax Increment Base  
 
That the Tax Increment Base of the City or any other taxing unit participating in 

the Zone is the total appraised value of all real property taxable by the City or other 
taxing unit participating in the Zone and located in the Zone, determined as of January 
1, 2022, the year in which the Zone was designated as a reinvestment zone (the “Tax 
Increment Base”).  

  
Section 6 Approval of the City's Level of Participation in the Zone  
 

That the City will participate in the Zone by contributing tax increment to the Tax 
Increment Fund for the Zone from taxes levied and collected by the City at the rate of 
fifty percent (50%), which rate may be amended from time to time, beginning on 
January 1, 2022, to be used for all purposes of the Zone as set forth in the project plan 
and reinvestment zone financing plan.   

  
Section 7. Tax Increment Fund  
 

There is hereby created and established a Tax Increment Fund for the Zone which may 
be divided into subaccounts as authorized by subsequent Ordinances.  All Tax 



Increments, as defined below, shall be deposited in the Tax Increment Fund.  The Tax 
Increment Fund and any subaccount shall be maintained at the depository bank of the 
City and shall be secured in the manner prescribed by law for funds of Texas cities.  
The annual Tax Increment shall equal the property taxes levied by the City and any 
other taxing unit participating in the Zone at its participation rate for that year on the 
captured appraised value, as defined by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code, of real 
property located in Zone that is taxable by the City or any other taxing unit participating 
in the Zone, less any amounts that are to be allocated from the Tax Increment pursuant 
to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code.    All revenues from the sale of any tax 
increment bonds, notes or other obligations hereafter issued for the benefit of the Zone 
by the City, if any; revenues from the sale of property acquired as part of the project 
plan and reinvestment zone financing plan, if any; and other revenues to be used in the 
Zone shall be deposited into the Tax Increment Fund.  Prior to the termination of the 
Zone, money shall be disbursed from the Tax Increment Fund only to pay project costs, 
as defined by the Texas Tax Code, for the Zone, to satisfy the claims of holders of tax 
increments bonds or notes issued for the Zone, or to pay obligations incurred pursuant 
to agreements entered into to implement the project plan and reinvestment zone 
financing plan and achieve their purpose pursuant to Section 311.010(b) of the Texas 
Tax Code.  

  
Section7. Authorization for Necessary Actions  
 

The City Council authorizes the City Manager to take all such actions as are necessary 
to implement this Ordinance and the establishment of the Zone.  

  
Section 8. Severability 
  

If any provision, section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance, or 
the application of same to any person to set circumstances, is for any reason held to be 
unconstitutional, void or invalid, the validity of the remaining provisions of this 
Ordinance or their application to other persons or set of circumstances shall not be 
affected thereby, it being the intent of the City Council in adopting this Ordinance that 
no portion hereof or regulations connected herein shall become inoperative or fail by 
reason of any unconstitutionality, voidness or invalidity of any portion hereof, and all 
provisions of this Ordinance are declared severable for that purpose.  

  
Section 9. Open Meetings 
  

It is hereby found, determined and declared that a sufficient written notice of the date, 
hour, place and subject of the meeting of the City Council at which this Ordinance was 
adopted was posted at a place convenient and readily accessible at all times to the 
general public at City Hall for the time required by law preceding its meeting, as 
required by the Open Meetings Law, Texas Government Code, ch. 551, and that this 
meeting has been open to the public as required by law at all times during which this 



Ordinance and the subject matter hereof has been discussed, considered and formally 
acted upon.  The City Council further ratifies, approves and confirms such written notice 
and the contents and posting thereof.  

  
Section 10. Notices 
  

The contents of the notice of the public hearing, which hearing was held before the City 
Council on November 14, 2022, and the publication of said notice, are hereby ratified, 
and confirmed.   

  
  
PASSED AND APPROVED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 14TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022.  
  
                                                                              
                                               __________________________  
                                                        BERT MILLER, MAYOR  
  
ATTEST:  
  
  
_______________________________  
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY   
  
  
PASSED AND APPROVED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 28TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022.  
  
                                                                        
                                                          __________________________  
                                                                      BERT MILLER, MAYOR  
  
ATTEST:  
  
  
_______________________________  
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A”  
Boundary Description  

  
Page Break 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

Exhibit “B”  
Preliminary Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Finance Plan  

 



+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

SH
 90

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 30

90

FM 3455

SS 515

Victoria

Church

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST
NOLAN ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Count
y Road 446

Harn

STACEY ST

FARQUHAR ST

Mc Alpine

HORLOCK AVE
N JUDSON AVE

LANE ST

Montgomery

N MC NAIR ST
ELM ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

HOLLISTER ST

E LEE ST

WOOD ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TEXAST

MILLER ST

RATTLER DR

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN
MOORE ST

CULLEN ST

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

County Road 403

Co
un

ty 
Ro

ad
 41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST
CARVER ST

C LE VELAND
AVE

DON ST

BAKER ST

KETCHUM ST

COURTNEY RD
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SANFORD ST

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

DOVE TRL

DOVE CT

TYLER DR

N POST OAK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

Count y Roa d 4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S POST OAK ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

THANE ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BRIAR LN

LEON ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

WOOD ST

CL
EV

EL
AN

D A
VE

FELDER ST

ELM ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3
ETJ 2022
City Limit
County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 1 
TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER ONE 2 

CITY OF NAVASOA CORPORATE LIMITS AND EXTRA-TERRITORIAL JURISDICTION 3 
GRIMES COUNTY 4 

 5 

The City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number 1 is comprised of three tracts situated along State 6 
Hwy 6 within the City of Navasota Corporate Limits and Extra-territorial Jurisdiction Boundary, Grimes County. 7 

Tract 1 of 3 is +/- 2,586 acres situated east of State Hwy 6 with point of beginning being the intersection of east 8 
right-of-way (ROW) of FM 3090 and north ROW of State Hwy 6 Frontage Rd, same being west corner of A0002. D 9 
ARNOLD, TRACT 8, PAR 2-1, ACRES 10.63; 10 

Then north northeast and east northeast along east ROW of FM 3090 to north corner of A0029 J HOLLAND, 11 
TRACT 16-1, ACRES 3.36, same being west boundary of A0002 D ARNOLD, TRACT 15-3, ACRES 2.37; 12 

Then west northwest along boundary of said TRACT 15-3, ACRES 2.37 to northwest corner of said tract, and east 13 
ROW of FM 3090; 14 

Then east northeast along east ROW of FM 3090 to northeast corner of A0029 J HOLLAND, TRACT 6, ACRES 15 
81.903; 16 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 6, ACRES 81.903 to southeast corner of said tract, same being 17 
southwest corner of A0029 J HOLLAND, TRACT 18, ACRES 47.41; 18 

Then east northeast along boundary of said 47 TRACT 18, ACRES 47.41 to southeast corner of said tract, same 19 
being west boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 38-1, ACRES 1; 20 

Then north by west along east boundary of said 47 TRACT 18, ACRES 47.41 to southwest corner of A0029 J 21 
HOLLAND, TRACT 28, ACRES 6.00; 22 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 28, ACRES 6.00, across ROW of Rabun Ln, and A0029 J 23 
HOLLAND, TRACT 15-5, ACRES 7.31, and A0029 J HOLLAND, TRACT 12, ACRES 50 to southeast corner of 24 
said TRACT 12, ACRES 50, same being north corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 22, ACRES 58; 25 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 22, ACRES 58 to southeast corner of said TRACT 22, same 26 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 25-6, ACRES 19.11; 27 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 25-6, ACRES 19.11 to north corner of said TRACT 25-6, same 28 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 59, ACRES 4; 29 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 25-6, ACRES 19.11, and A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, 30 
TRACT 59, ACRES 4 to south corner of said TRACT 59, ACRES 4; 31 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 59, ACRES 4, across ROW of FM Rd 3455 to east ROW of FM 32 
3455 and boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 37, ACRES 17.95; 33 

Then southeast along east ROW of FM 3455 to north ROW of State Hwy 90 North; 34 

Then north northeast along north ROW of State Hwy 90 North approximately 300 feet to City of Navasota Extra-35 
territorial Jurisdiction Line; 36 

Then generally south southeast and south along City of Navasota Extra-territorial Jurisdiction Line approximately 37 
12,171 feet to boundary line of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 15, ACRES 470.23, (INCLUDES 38 
ACREAGE IN A-44, A-411 & A-476), same being north ROW of CR 446; 39 

Then generally southwest and west along said boundary line of TRACT 15, and north ROW of CR 446 to interior 40 
corner of said TRACT 15; 41 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then south along said boundary line of TRACT 15, and west ROW of CR 446 to southeast corner of said TRACT 42 
15, same being north ROW of State Hwy 105; 43 

Then west by north along north ROW of State Hwy 105 to southwest corner of said TRACT 15, same being east 44 
ROW of Kettler Ln; 45 

Then south across ROW of State Hwy 105 approximately 1,331 feet to centerline of Sandy Creek; 46 

Then west southwest along centerline of Sandy Creek approximately 851 feet to a point south of southeast corner of 47 
A0476 H WINGFIELD, TRACT 18-5, ACRES 9.80; 48 

Then north approximately 130 feet to southeast corner of said TRACT 18-5, ACRES 9.80; 49 

Then west along south boundary of said TRACT 18-5, ACRES 9.80, and A0476 H WINGFIELD, TRACT 12-5, 50 
ACRES 1.87 to southwest corner of said TRACT 12-5, ACRES 1.87, same being east ROW of northbound access 51 
road of State Hwy 6 Loop; 52 

Then generally north along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop to south ROW of Dove 53 
Crossing Ln; 54 

Then east by north along south ROW of Dove Crossing Ln to northeast corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, 55 
Lot 2, ACRES 5.05; 56 

Then generally south by east along east boundary of said Lot 2, ACRES 5.05 to southeast corner of said Lot, same 57 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128; 58 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to corner of said TRACT 26, same being 59 
east corner of DOVE COURT, BLOCK 11, LOT 9B; 60 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to interior corner of said TRACT 26, 61 
same being south corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, Lot 6-17, ACRES 0.164; 62 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to interior corner of said TRACT 26, same 63 
being east corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, Lot 6-16, ACRES 0.163; 64 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to corner of said TRACT 26, same being 65 
south corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 10-B, ACRES 2.51 66 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to interior corner of said TRACT 26, same 67 
being east corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, Lot 15, ACRES 4.96; 68 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 26, ACRES 275.128 to northwest corner of said TRACT 26, 69 
same being northeast corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 11, ACRES 5.26; 70 

Then west southwest along City of Navasota Corporate Limits and boundary of said LOT 11, ACRES 5.26, and 71 
continuing along boundary of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 7-B, ACRES 2.51 to west corner of LOT 7-B, 72 
ACRES 2.51; 73 

Then south southeast along boundary of said LOT 7-B, ACRES 2.51, and DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7 to 74 
southwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT 8-B, ACRES 1.0473, same being north ROW of Dove 75 
Crossing Ln; 76 

Then generally southwest by west along north ROW of Dove Crossing Ln to southeast corner of DOVE 77 
CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT A-23; 78 

Then north northwest along east boundary of said DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT A-23 to northeast corner of 79 
DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 7, LOT A-13; 80 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then west southwest along north boundary of said BLOCK 7, LOT A-13, and DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 3 to 81 
northwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 3, LOT 1; 82 

Then south southeast along west boundary of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 3, and DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 4 83 
to southwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 4, LOT 10, same being north ROW of Dove Crossing Ln; 84 

Then west by south along north ROW of Dove Crossing Ln southwest corner of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 1, 85 
LOT 3, ACRES 1.52, same being east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop; 86 

Then generally north along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop to northwest corner of DOVE 87 
CROSSING, BLOCK 1, LOT 1, ACRES 1.22, same being boundary of DOVE CROSSING, BLOCK 1, Lot 6, 88 
ACRES 0.64, (TRIANGLE SHAPE); 89 

Then west southwest along boundary of said Lot 6, ACRES 0.64 to southwest corner of said lot, same being east 90 
ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 91 

Then generally north along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 Loop, across ROW of State Hwy 92 
90 North to southwest corner of S1410 - ANNIE'S COUNTRY STORE, Lot 1, ACRES 0.659, same being north 93 
ROW of State Hwy 90 North; 94 

Then east northeast along north ROW of State Hwy 90 North to southwest corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, 95 
TRACT 31-2, ACRES 15.47; 96 

Then generally north northwest and west northwest along boundary of said TRACT 31-2, ACRES 15.47 to corner of 97 
said tract, same being east corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43; 98 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43 to north corner of said TRACT, same 99 
being east corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 8, ACRES 56.56; 100 

Then west southwest along boundary of said TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43 to northwest corner of said TRACT, same 101 
being boundary of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 57-1, ACRES 35.68; 102 

Then south southeast along boundary of said TRACT 30-1, ACRES 2.43 to southwest corner of said TRACT, same 103 
being north ROW of Alamo Dr; 104 

Then generally southwest along north ROW of Alamo Dr to east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 105 
Loop, same being south corner of A0044 JESSE B MC NEALY, TRACT 57-1, ACRES 35.68; 106 

Then generally northwest and northwest by west along east ROW of northbound access road of State Hwy 6 to east 107 
ROW of FM Rd 3090, same being west corner of A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 8, PAR 2-1, ACRES 10.63 and 108 
point of beginning of +/- 2,586 acre Tract 1 of 3; 109 

Tract 2 of 3 is +/- 273.9 acres situated northwest of the intersection of State Hwy 6 with Spur 515 and comprised of 110 
two tracts (A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 6-2, ACRES 202.482 and M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, 111 
Lot 1, ACRES 71.464) with point of beginning being the southwest corner of NAVASOTA CIRCLE "T", BLOCK 112 
1, Lot 1, ACRES 7.564, same being southeast corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 6-2, ACRES 202.482 113 
and north right-of-way (ROW) of Spur 515; 114 

Then west along north ROW of Spur 515 and boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to south corner of said TRACT, 115 
same being north ROW of Montgomery Rd; 116 

Then generally west northwest along north ROW of Montgomery Rd and boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to 117 
southwest corner of said TRACT; 118 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to west corner of said TRACT to north corner of 119 
A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 7-2, ACRES 2.84, same being boundary of MILROY TERRACE Subdivision; 120 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to interior corner of said TRACT, same being east 121 
corner of MILROY TERRACE, SEC 2, LOT 3; 122 

Then north northwest along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to corner of said tract, same being north corner of 123 
MILROY TERRACE, BLOCK 2, LOT 11 and boundary of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 32, ACRES 9.72; 124 

Then east northeast along boundary of said TRACT 5, PAR 6-2 to north corner of said tract, same being east corner 125 
of said 9.72 acre tract and boundary of M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 1, ACRES 71.464; 126 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot same being interior 127 
corner CAMP SUB, BLOCK 79,80,88 PT OF 76-78, 89-92, ACRES 5.42; 128 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot; 129 

Then generally northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 and east boundary of A0055-4 D 130 
TYLER, TRACT 4, PAR 24A and 24B, PAR 24 and PAR 23 to corner of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464, same being 131 
east ROW of Woodrow Jackson Dr; 132 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being east 133 
corner of OLD HOMESTEAD, BLOCK 129-A, LOT 2,3,5,7,9,11,13 & BLOCK 130, LOT 1 TO 7; 134 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to northwest corner of said lot, same being 135 
north corner of OLD HOMESTEAD, BLOCK 129-A, LOT 2,3,5,7,9,11,13 & BLOCK 130, LOT 1 TO 7, and south 136 
ROW of Grimes St; 137 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being west corner of 138 
A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 1, PAR 3-5, ACRES 5.24; 139 

Then south southeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being west 140 
corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-3, ACRES 1.00; 141 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being east 142 
corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-3, ACRES 1.00; 143 

Then west northwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being interior corner 144 
of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-3, ACRES 1.00 and southwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, 145 
TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 146 

Then generally east by south along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 147 
southeast corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 148 

Then generally north by west along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 149 
northeast corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 150 

Then west southwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being interior corner 151 
of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 152 

Then north northwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being south corner of 153 
M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175; 154 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southeast 155 
corner of said M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175; 156 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 157 
northeast corner of M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175; 158 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then west southwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being northwest 159 
corner of said M&P ADVENTURES SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 0.175, and boundary of A0055-5 D TYLER, 160 
TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 161 

Then north northwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being north corner of 162 
A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9-7, ACRES 5.444, (PARTLY IN A-2); 163 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to north corner of said lot, same being boundary 164 
of A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 6, PAR 4-1, ACRES 7.09; 165 

Then southeast by south along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 166 
southwest corner of boundary of said A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 6, PAR 4-1, ACRES 7.09; 167 

Then east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to northeast corner of said lot, same being 168 
northwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 9, ACRES 7.91; 169 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southwest 170 
corner of MCLEMORE SHOPPING CENTER, Lot 1-R, ACRES 4.67, (TRACTOR SUPPLY); 171 

Then east by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being southeast corner 172 
of said MCLEMORE SHOPPING CENTER, Lot 1-R, ACRES 4.67, (TRACTOR SUPPLY), and west ROW of 173 
southbound feeder road to State Hwy 6 Loop; 174 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being northeast corner 175 
of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8, ACRES 1.58; 176 

Then west by south along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being 177 
northwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8, ACRES 1.58; 178 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southwest 179 
corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8, ACRES 1.58 (Navasota Inn); 180 

Then east by north along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being northwest corner 181 
of S7140 - NEW LIGHT, Lot 2, ACRES 1.743; 182 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being southwest corner 183 
of S7140 - NEW LIGHT, Lot 2, ACRES 1.743, and boundary of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-4, ACRES 184 
1.899; 185 

Then generally west southwest along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same 186 
being northwest corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-6, ACRES 2.271 (Western RV Park); 187 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to interior corner of said lot, same being southwest 188 
corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-6, ACRES 2.271; 189 

Then generally east northeast along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464 to corner of said lot, same being 190 
southeast corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 8-1, ACRES 1.77 (Western Steakhouse & Dance Hall) and 191 
west ROW of southbound feeder road to State Hwy 6 Loop; 192 

Then south by east along boundary of said Lot 1, ACRES 71.464, and A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 6-2, 193 
ACRES 202.482 to east corner of said 202.482 acre tract, same being north corner of A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 194 
5, PAR 11-1, ACRES 2.00 (Kingdom Hall of Jehovah’s Witnesses); 195 

Then generally west southwest along boundary of said 202.482 acre tract to interior corner of said tract, same being 196 
northwest corner of said A0055-5 D TYLER, TRACT 5, PAR 11-1, ACRES 2.00; 197 



Jurisdictional Boundary Description 
City of Navasota Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 
October 27, 2022 

Then generally south along boundary of said 202.482 acre tract to southeast corner of said tract, same being 198 
southwest corner of NAVASOTA CIRCLE "T", BLOCK 1, Lot 1, ACRES 7.564 and point of beginning of +/- 199 
273.9 acre Tract 2 of 3; 200 

Tract 3 of 3 is +/- 30.17 acres situated south of intersection of State Hwy 6 Loop and FM 3090 (Piedmont) with 201 
point of beginning being the east right-of-way (ROW) of FM 3090 (Piedmont St) and north corner of A0002. D 202 
ARNOLD, TRACT 7, PAR 15,16, ACRES 9.74, same being south ROW of southbound access road to State Hwy 6 203 
Loop; 204 

Then generally east southeast along south ROW of southbound access road to State Hwy 6 to east corner of S8490 - 205 
VIVALDI SUBDIVISION, Lot 2, ACRES 2.395; 206 

Then south southwest along boundary of said Lot 2, ACRES 2.395 to southeast corner of said lot; 207 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said Lot 2, ACRES 2.395 to east corner of A0002. D ARNOLD, 208 
TRACT 7, PAR 15,16, ACRES 9.74; 209 

Then southwest by south along boundary of said 9.74 acre tract to southeast corner of said tract; 210 

Then northwest by north along boundary of said 9.74 acre tract to east corner of A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 7, 211 
PAR 14-1, ACRES 12.76; 212 

Then southwest by south along boundary of said 12.76 acre tract to south corner of said tract; 213 

Then northwest by north along west boundary to said 12.76 acre tract, and A0002. D ARNOLD, TRACT 7, PAR 214 
14-2, ACRES 2 to west corner of said 2 acre tract, same being east ROW of FM 3090 (Piedmont); 215 

Then generally northeast by north along east ROW of FM 3090 (Piedmont St) to north corner of said A0002. D 216 
ARNOLD, TRACT 7, PAR 15,16, ACRES 9.74, same being south ROW of southbound access road to State Hwy 6 217 
Loop, and point of beginning of +/- 30.17 acre Tract 3 of 3; 218 



Tax Increment 
Reinvestment Zone 

No. 1

Preliminary Project Plan & 
Financing Plan

City of Navasota, Texas

October 2022

PREPARED BY:
HAWES HILL & ASSOCIATES



CO
N

TE
N

TS

Introduction ......................................................................................2
Location ............................................................................................3
Goals .................................................................................................5
Authorized Project Costs ..................................................................7
Project Plan ......................................................................................8
Finance Plan ...................................................................................11



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   1

A tax increment reinvestment zone (TIRZ) is a financing tool enabled by the Texas Legislature with 
the adoption of Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. A TIRZ is a tool that can be used to pay for 
public improvements to encourage development and/or redevelopment of an area and attract 
private investment. 

Cities may create a TIRZ where conditions exist that substantially impair an area’s sound growth 
and where development or redevelopment is not likely to occur but for public infrastructure 
enhancements financed by a TIRZ. 

Upon creation of the Zone, the total appraised value of real property located within its boundaries 
is established for the year in which it was created. This is known as the base value. As development 
occurs in the Zone due to the provision of new infrastructure, the value of real property increases. 

This additional value above the base is known as the increment. It is set aside to finance 
infrastructure improvements within the Zone. Once all projects are completed, or after a defined 
period of time, the TIRZ is dissolved. 

During the life of the Zone, the city and other participating taxing jurisdictions collect tax revenue 
on the base value of the Zone. When the Zone is dissolved, the city and other participating taxing 
jurisdictions receive the benefit of the full increment value created by new development. 

TIRZ Concept

New Post - Project 
AV

Total AV now be-
longs to all taxing 

districts in the 
project area

Incremental AV

Incremental real property tax 
belongs to TIRZ to pay project costs

Base AV

AV belongs to all other taxing districts in project area

30-Year TIRZ
Created Terminated

As
se

ss
ed

 V
al

ua
�o

n 
(A

V)

Increased AV fro
m Development



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   2

Purpose
This document constitutes the Preliminary Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Financing Plan for 
Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number One, Navasota, Texas as required by Chapter 311, Texas 
Tax Code.  This document details the specific projects proposed to address existing conditions in the 
area as well as the method and means to finance them.

The purpose of the tax increment reinvestment zone (the “Zone”) is to finance construction of 
public facilities and infrastructure necessary to catalyze residential and commercial development 
and redevelopment, thereby increasing property values and revenues within the Zone boundaries.  
Expenditures associated with the design and construction of public facilities and infrastructure, 
as well as other specific project related costs, will be funded by tax increment revenues derived 
from increases in property values following new development/redevelopment. Zone activities may 
include, but are not limited to, public infrastructure improvements including water, sewer and 
drainage, stormwater detention, mobility improvements, land acquisition, creation of public spaces 
and facilities, streetscape/corridor improvements, trails and pedestrian amenities, and support for 
initiatives and projects that further the economic goals and priorities of the City.

The Zone boundary primarily includes unincorporated properties within the City’s ETJ. The intent 
of the Zone is to facilitate future residential and commercial development in these areas through 
the funding of public infrastructure and allow for voluntary annexation of properties into the City 
Limits. The area is primarily agricultural with limited to no infrastructure including water, sewer, 
drainage, and roadways. As growth pressures increase in the area, the reinvestment zone can serve 
as a mechanism to fund needed infrastructure improvements to support future growth, as properties 
are annexed into the City Limits. The reinvestment zone also serves as a mechanism to support the 
community’s goals for higher quality development that is compatible with character of the area.

Introduction



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   3

The proposed TIRZ boundary is approximately +/- 2,890 acres and is located within both Navasota’s 
corporate limits, as well as its ETJ. The Zone is largely bounded by State Highway 6 to the west, 
Navasota’s ETJ limit to the east, FM 3090 to the north, and State Highway 105 / TX-515 Spur and 
County Road 446 to the south. Approximately 274 acres lies near the northwest corner of the State 
Highway 6 / TX-515 Spur intersection, and approximately 30 acres lies at the southwest corner of the 
State Highway 6 / FM 3090 intersection. The majority of the Zone is located within the City’s ETJ and 
is undeveloped or in agricultural use.

Location



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   4

Location

+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   5

The following goals outline priorities and projects for the Zone and are based on needs 
identified in the Feasibility Report (Exhibit 2) and other  plans and studies. The intent of 
the goals is to identify public projects that would support the City’s economic development 
initiatives and vision for eastern portion of the City and it’s ETJ.

Infrastructure
Support commercial and residential development through coordination of public 
infrastructure improvements including water, sewer, drainage and detention.

The majority of the Zone lies within the City’s ETJ and over 90%, consists of undeveloped land 
that is either designated as vacant or used for agriculture purposes. Infrastructure is limited 
throughout most of the Zone, including access to City water and sewer facilities. As growth 
pressures continue to increase in the area, development of this land will transition over 
time to higher intensity uses. To support these uses and the viability of new residential and 
commercial development, infrastructure improvements will be needed, including roadways, 
water, sewer, natural gas, wastewater treatment plant, drainage and detention. The TIRZ can 
serve as a tool to facilitate the coordination of infrastructure needs with property owners and 
developers, and the annexation of properties into the City Limits. This can be accomplished 
through the funding of public infrastructure and/or developer reimbursement agreements 
and incentives. Infrastructure improvements supported by the TIRZ may include roadways, 
water, sewer, drainage, stormwater management improvements, property acquisition, and 
site remediation/preparation. 

Mobility & Connectivity
Enhance mobility options allowing for efficient and safe access through and within the area.

As the area develops to higher intensity uses, mobility options to travel through the area will be 
important to support new development, including new or expanded roadways and pedestrian 
and/or bike facilities. Additional mobility and intersection improvements associated with the 
SH 249 extension may also be needed, as the extension connects to SH 105 in Navasota. 
Additionally, strengthening the vitality of existing corridors for commercial use will enhance 
the economic marketability of the area, whether this is through capacity expansion, safety and 
intersection improvements or streetscape/median enhancements. TIRZ improvements may 
include roadway improvements, enhanced intersections, access management, sidewalks, 
bike improvements, crosswalks, parking, safety improvements, landscaping, pedestrian 
amenities, lighting, signage/wayfinding and public art. 

Parks, Recreation, & Public Facilities
Enhance parks and recreation opportunities that add to the quality of life and economic 
vitality of the City.

As growth continues to occur east of the City and new residential communities develop, having 

Goals



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   6

Goals

adequate parks, recreational and other public facilities will be important to the community’s 
economic vitality and in attracting residents and businesses to the area. Additionally, trails, 
bicycle and pedestrian facilities provide not only recreational opportunities but also connect 
key destinations in the community. Opportunities for TIRZ funded projects could include 
improvements to existing facilities, development of new parks, green spaces, linear trails, 
public spaces, and joint use of detention facilities. Public spaces and facilities will attract, 
support, and enhance the viability of residential, commercial, and retail destinations in the 
Zone, while potentially fostering innovative economic opportunities. In addition to parks and 
recreation improvements the TIRZ may fund public facilities including but not limited to a 
library, community center, civic center, recreation center, and public safety facilities. 

Economic Development
Incentivize projects that promote redevelopment of the community and enhance economic 
development opportunities consistent with the community’s goals and priorities.

In order to stimulate and accelerate redevelopment within the TIRZ, the TIRZ desires to establish 
an economic development program that would directly incentivize private enterprise that affect the 
TIRZ and serve as a catalyst for other business developments. Examples of how the program would 
be used include funding for business development and retention, business loss mitigation, economic 
development grants to catalyze investments, such as Agreements under Chapter 380 of the Texas 
Local Government Code, and matching grants to provide leverage for other economic development 
funds. In cases such as those described in this section, an appropriate economic development 
program would be proposed by the City and/or the TIRZ and approved by both the TIRZ and City 
Council. Payments made pursuant to this program shall be pursuant to economic development 
agreements entered into on behalf of the Zone and are considered Project Costs. No grant or loan 
shall be authorized by the Zone without prior consent of the City.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   7

The project costs for the Preliminary Project Plan and Financing Plan are detailed in Table 1.  
Projects include infrastructure improvements, including detention/drainage, water and sewer, 
mobility improvements, parks, recreation and public facilities, and economic development. The 
project categories reflect the types of projects supported by the TIRZ; however, actual projects 
that will be undertaken by the TIRZ will be based on factors including community development  
priorities, the ability to leverage funds, and available increment.

Non-Project costs are those infrastructure costs that will not be funded or reimbursed by the TIRZ, 
but will be funded by other parties, such as the City, County, the Texas Department of Transportation, 
non-profit organizations, or private sources, including developers. Funding identified in Table 1 will 
be leveraged with other sources to secure Non-Project funding when appropriate and available.

Authorized Project Costs

Table 1 - Project Costs

Projects Costs
Infrastructure  $10,000,000 
Mobility & Connectivity  $10,000,000 
Parks, Recreation & Public Facilities  $1,500,000 
Economic Development  $500,000 
Planning, Admin, Legal  $500,000 
Total  $22,500,000 



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   8

Project Plan
This document constitutes the Preliminary Project Plan for Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number 
One, City of Navasota, as required by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. The purpose of the Zone is to 
finance improvements that support new development and redevelopment of properties within the Zone.

Existing and Proposed Uses of Land

Estimated Non-Project Costs 

Proposed Changes of Zoning 
Ordinances, Master Plan of 

Municipality, Building Codes, and 
Other Municipal Ordinances 

Method of Relocating Persons to 
Be Displaced, if Any, as a Result of 

Implementing the Plan

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(1)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(2)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(3)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (B)(4)



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   9

Existing and Proposed Uses of Land 
(TEXAS TAX CODE- 311.011(B)(1))

Existing Land Use - Current land uses within the Zone consist primarily of undeveloped   uses 
classified as agricultural, farmland and vacant as shown in Map 2 (page 15). Other uses include 
commercial and large lot residential development. In terms of taxable value, commercial is 
the largest use, 61%, followed by undeveloped, 25% and single family residential, 10%. Given 
that over 94% of the acreage in the Zone is undeveloped, the taxable value is relatively low at 
just over $45 million. Existing conditions are further described in Exhibit B.

Surrounding Land Use - Land surrounding the Zone includes vacant, large lot residential,  
public/institutional, and commercial uses.  

Proposed Uses -  Proposed uses in the Zone are anticipated to include residential, commercial 
and public uses, including parks and recreation facilities, with decreasing vacant land over 
time. Retail and commercial uses are anticipated along major corridors in the Zone. Map 3  
(page 17) shows proposed uses.

Existing Property Classification, Acreage

Existing Property Classification, Taxable Value

Undeveloped (94%)

Commercial (3%)

Single Family
Residential (2%)

Other (2%)

Undeveloped (94%)

Commercial (3%)

Single Family(2%)

Other (2%)

Undeveloped (25.3%)

Commercial (61.5%)

Single Family (9.8%)

Other (3.4%)

Undeveloped (25.3%)

Commercial (61.5%)

Single Family (9.8%)

Other (3.4%)



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   10

Proposed Changes Of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan Of Municipality, Building 
Codes, And Other Municipal Ordinances 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(B)(2))

All construction will be performed in conformance with the City’s existing rules and regulations.  
There are no proposed changes to any City ordinance, master plan, or building code. 

Estimated Non-Project Costs 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(B)(3))

Non-Project costs are those infrastructure costs that will not be funded or reimbursed by the 
TIRZ but will be funded by other parties. Funding identified in Table 1 will be leveraged with 
other sources to secure non-project funding when appropriate and available.

Method Of Relocating Persons To Be Displaced, If Any, As  A Result Of  
Implementing The Plan
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(B)(4))

It is not anticipated that any residents will be displaced or relocated as a result of this Plan.  



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   11

Finance Plan
This document constitutes the Preliminary Finance Plan for Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number 
One, City of Navasota as required by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code. The purpose of the Zone is to 
finance public improvements to support new development and redevelopment in the City and ETJ. 
Improvements include, but are not limited to, roadways, infrastructure improvements including water, 
sewer and drainage, trails, streetscape enhancements, and parks and open space improvements.

Funding of projects will occur through available tax increment funds, leveraged with local, state and federal 
dollars and/or through reimbursement of eligible project costs advanced by private entities/developers.

Estimated Project Costs

Economic Feasibility Study

Proposed Kind, Number, and Location 
of All Proposed Public Works or Public 

Improvements to be Financed by the 
Zone 

Estimated Amount of Bond Indebtedness; 
Estimated Time When Related Costs or 

Monetary Obligations Are Incurred

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011(C)(1)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011(C)(2)

Texas Tax Code
- 311.011 (C)(3)

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(4),   
- 311.011(C)(5)

Methods and Sources of Financing Project 
Costs and Percentage of Increment From 

Taxing Units Anticipated to Contribute Tax 
Increment to the Zone 

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(6)

Current Total Appraised Value of Taxable 
Real Property 

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(7)

Estimated Captured Appraised Value of 
Zone During Each Year of Existence

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(8)

Texas Tax Code 
- 311.011(C)(9)Zone Duration 



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   12

ESTIMATED PROJECT COSTS 
(TEXAS TAX CODE -  311.011(C)(1)) 

Table 1 details proposed public improvements to be funded utilizing resources from the Zone. 
As set forth in the Plan, the dollar amounts are approximate and may be amended from time 
to time by the Board, with the approval of City Council. Any financing costs are a function of 
project financing needs and will vary with market conditions. Proposed public projects will be 
located throughout the Zone and along corridors within the TIRZ boundaries.

PROPOSED KIND, NUMBER, AND LOCATION OF ALL PROPOSED PUBLIC WORKS 
OR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS TO BE FINANCED BY THE ZONE 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(2)) 

These details are described throughout the Plan and include roadway, drainage, water, sewer, 
stormwater management, natural gas, streetscape, trails, and parks and recreation facilities 
improvements. Proposed improvements are identified in Table 1, and all improvements will 
be located along public rights-of-way and on properties within the Zone boundary, as shown 
on Map 1.

ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY STUDY 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(3))

An economic feasibility study was completed for the Zone boundary and is shown in Exhibit 
2.  Exhibit 1 constitutes incremental revenue estimates for this Plan. The future anticipated 
revenue of the zone is expected to be sufficient to pay for all project costs. 

The Zone and the City find and determine that the Plan is economically feasible.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   13

ESTIMATED AMOUNT OF BOND INDEBTEDNESS; ESTIMATED TIME WHEN 
RELATED COSTS OR MONETARY OBLIGATIONS INCURRED
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(4), - 311.011(C)(5)): 

Issuance of notes and bonds by the Zone may occur as tax increment revenues allow. The 
value and timing of the issuance of notes or bonds will correlate to debt capacity as derived 
from the projects and revenue schedules included in Table 1 and Exhibit 1, as well as actual 
market conditions for the issue and sale of such notes and bonds. 

The time when related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred is a function of the 
availability of TIRZ revenues, as shown in Exhibit 1. 

METHODS AND SOURCES OF FINANCING PROJECT COSTS AND PERCENTAGE OF 
INCREMENT FROM TAXING UNITS ANTICIPATED TO CONTRIBUTE TAX INCREMENT 
TO THE ZONE 
(TEXAS TAX CODE -  311.011(C)(6)): 

Methods and sources of financing include the issuance of notes and bonds, as well as 
agreements with developers and other entities for grant funding and partnerships. Leveraging 
of funds with other entities and grants will be instrumental in realizing projects sooner, 
participating in larger cost projects and in adding value to projects.

Projects will be implemented through the use of the following strategies:
• Developers could advance funds for qualified projects and be reimbursed through 

the TIRZ, as revenues are realized through additional increment generated by the 
development.

• Pay-as-you-go-Projects are implemented on a pay-as-you-go basis, whereby projects 
are only implemented once enough revenues have been generated to fund design and 
construction of a project. Tax increment funds may be leveraged with other available 
funds in implementing projects.

• Issuing debt against the revenue stream of the TIRZ allows projects to be implemented 
sooner.

Tax increment associated with this Plan will consist of contributions from the City, at a rate of 
50 percent of its tax rate.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   14

CURRENT TOTAL APPRAISED VALUE OF TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(7) 

The 2022 value of taxable real property in the Zone is estimated at  $45.5 million.  
  

ESTIMATED CAPTURED APPRAISED VALUE OF ZONE DURING EACH YEAR OF 
EXISTENCE 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(8)) 

The estimated captured appraised value of the Zone during each remaining year of its 
existence is contained in Exhibit 1. By 2052, it is estimated the taxable value within the Zone 
will increase to over $557 million.

ZONE DURATION 
(TEXAS TAX CODE - 311.011(C)(9)) 

The Zone will terminate on December 31, 2052. Final TIRZ payments will be received in 2053. 
The Zone may terminate at an earlier time designated by subsequent ordinance, or at such 
time, subsequent to the issuance of proposed revenue bonds, notes or other obligations, if 
any, that all project costs, bonds, and interest on bonds have been paid in full.



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   15

+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022

Map 1- Boundary



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   16

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

GRIMEST

Brosig

MANLEY ST

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 446

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

FM 379

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

DURDEN ST

E JOHNSON ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

C
ounty

Road
4 03

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
AR

V
E

R
 S

T

C
L E

V
E

L
A

N
D

A
VE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

W LEE ST

D
O

VE C
T

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

AUSTIN ST

BUCKINGHAM LN

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN WHITE
D

R

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Property Class 2022
Unknown/Not Specified (3)

Agricultural (70)

Commercial (29)

Multi-Family Res. (2)

Exempt (8)

Farm and Ranch (14)

Industrial (1)

Single Family Res. (30)

Utility (1)

Vacant Lot (28)

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/23/2022

Map 2 - Property Classification



Preliminary Project Plan & Finance Plan   17

Map 3 - Proposed Uses

East ETJ

North East ETJ



Exhibit 1
Taxable Value & Revenues



Base Year 
Valuation

City Projected 
Valuation

 Projected 
Valuation City

(Increment)

2022 45,488,600$         45,488,600$        -$                      2022 2023 -$                      -$                      
2023 45,488,600$         46,853,258$        1,364,658$          2023 2024 7,614$                  3,807$                  
2024 45,488,600$         51,258,856$        5,770,256$          2024 2025 32,193$                16,097$                
2025 45,488,600$         68,296,621$        22,808,021$        2025 2026 127,249$              63,625$                
2026 45,488,600$         96,595,520$        51,106,920$        2026 2027 285,133$              142,566$              
2027 45,488,600$         125,743,386$      80,254,786$        2027 2028 447,753$              223,876$              
2028 45,488,600$         152,015,687$      106,527,087$      2028 2029 594,330$              297,165$              
2029 45,488,600$         179,076,158$      133,587,558$      2029 2030 745,304$              372,652$              
2030 45,488,600$         206,948,443$      161,459,843$      2030 2031 900,807$              450,404$              
2031 45,488,600$         234,156,896$      188,668,296$      2031 2032 1,052,607$           526,303$              
2032 45,488,600$         241,181,603$      195,693,003$      2032 2033 1,091,799$           545,899$              
2033 45,488,600$         268,417,051$      222,928,451$      2033 2034 1,243,749$           621,875$              
2034 45,488,600$         276,469,562$      230,980,962$      2034 2035 1,288,675$           644,338$              
2035 45,488,600$         294,763,649$      249,275,049$      2035 2036 1,390,740$           695,370$              
2036 45,488,600$         318,606,559$      273,117,959$      2036 2037 1,523,763$           761,882$              
2037 45,488,600$         343,164,755$      297,676,155$      2037 2038 1,660,777$           830,388$              
2038 45,488,600$         368,459,698$      322,971,098$      2038 2039 1,801,901$           900,950$              
2039 45,488,600$         379,513,489$      334,024,889$      2039 2040 1,863,572$           931,786$              
2040 45,488,600$         390,898,894$      345,410,294$      2040 2041 1,927,092$           963,546$              
2041 45,488,600$         402,625,861$      357,137,261$      2041 2042 1,992,519$           996,259$              
2042 45,488,600$         414,704,636$      369,216,036$      2042 2043 2,059,908$           1,029,954$           
2043 45,488,600$         427,145,775$      381,657,175$      2043 2044 2,129,319$           1,064,659$           
2044 45,488,600$         439,960,149$      394,471,549$      2044 2045 2,200,812$           1,100,406$           
2045 45,488,600$         453,158,953$      407,670,353$      2045 2046 2,274,450$           1,137,225$           
2046 45,488,600$         466,753,722$      421,265,122$      2046 2047 2,350,297$           1,175,149$           
2047 45,488,600$         480,756,333$      435,267,733$      2047 2048 2,428,420$           1,214,210$           
2048 45,488,600$         495,179,023$      449,690,423$      2048 2049 2,508,886$           1,254,443$           
2049 45,488,600$         510,034,394$      464,545,794$      2049 2050 2,591,766$           1,295,883$           
2050 45,488,600$         525,335,426$      479,846,826$      2050 2051 2,677,133$           1,338,566$           
2051 45,488,600$         541,095,489$      495,606,889$      2051 2052 2,765,060$           1,382,530$           
2052 45,488,600$         557,328,353$      511,839,753$      2052 2053 2,855,626$           1,427,813$           

46,819,251$        23,409,626$        
Notes/Assumptions:
2022 taxable values includes properties within the City & ETJ. Increment will only be generated upon annexation of properties into the City Limits.

Projected Assessed Valuation Projected Revenue

Tax 
Year

Tax 
Year

Coll 
Year

Total Revenues
TIRZ Revenues 

(50%)



Exhibit 2
Existing Conditions & Feasibility



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    1

Introduction
This document outlines the existing conditions of the Navasota area and assesses the 
feasibility of using a tool like tax reinvestment zone financing in catalyzing new development 
and redevelopment opportunities within the zone boundary. Tax Increment Reinvestment 
Zones are governed by Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code and are created by cities to 
support development and/or redevelopment of areas that would not otherwise occur in the 
foreseeable future. There are a number of conditions under which a reinvestment zone can be 
created, including being predominately open or undeveloped land with limited infrastructure.

Proposed Boundary
The proposed Zone boundary, as shown in Map 1, is approximately 2,890 acres and is 
located entirely within both Navasota’s corporate limits, as well as it’s ETJ. The Zone is 
largely bounded by State Highway 6 to the west, Navasota’s ETJ limit to the east, FM 3090 
to the north, and State Highway 105 / TX-515 Spur and County Road 446 to the south. 
Approximately 274 acres lies near the northwest corner of the State Highway 6 / TX-515 Spur 
intersection, and approximately 30 acres lies at the southwest corner of the State Highway 6 
/ FM 3090 intersection.   

In identifying areas appropriate for tax increment financing and drafting the Zone boundary, 
the following were considered:

• 30% residential limit allowed by State Statute. No more than 30% of the taxable value 
of the proposed Zone may be classified as residential use. Uses classified as residential 
with the proposed Zone boundary currently make up just under 10% of taxable value 
and less than 2% of total acreage. Commercial uses account for the largest percent of 
taxable value within the proposed Zone, at approximately 61%, while only accounting 
for roughly 3% of its total acreage. See Map 2.

• Underserved, underutilized, and vacant areas that would benefit from public 
infrastructure improvements.

• Areas that would generate increment through public improvements including 
vacant, underdeveloped / underutilized parcels and areas prime for development / 
redevelopment. 

• Approximately 2,692 acres, which reflects 94% of the total acreage in the proposed 
Zone boundary, consists of largely undeveloped land (Agricultural, Farm and Ranch, 
and Vacant Lot land uses). See Map 2.

• Properties that have a lower value per acre offer opportunities for redevelopment and 
added value creation through more intense uses. See Map 3.



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  2

Existing Conditions
A review of existing conditions was conducted through windshield surveys, review of previous 
plans and studies, and data analysis to identify conditions and areas within the Navasota 
area that would benefit from a tool like Tax Increment Financing. Results of the existing 
conditions review show that there are a number of conditions and issues that are present 
within the proposed Zone that impede the sound growth of the area and its ability to reach its 
full economic potential. These conditions include the following:

Lack of infrastructure including Water & Sewer
With the exception of the acreage west of SH 6, virtually all of the remaining acreage is 
outside of Navasota’s water and sewer service areas, as well as those of any other provider, 
and existing commercial and residential facilities rely on individual water wells and septic 
systems. Additionally, 93% of the proposed Zone’s area, or 2,642 acres, is currently 
undeveloped land without major infrastructure and primarily in agricultural use. 

Mobility & Connectivity
Approximately 0.25 miles of SH 105 and 1.4 miles of SH 90S fall, both east/west major 
arterials, fall within the proposed Zone boundary. Apart from these roads, only a small handful 
of local streets exist within the Zone. These are of insufficient quantity and design to support 
existing / future development patterns and multiple modes of travel. With the exception of 
the hard corners at the intersections of SH 6 / SH 105 and SH 6 / SH 90S, there is no existing 
pedestrian and bicycle paths. 

Drainage & Flooding
Regulatory Floodway and 100 Year Floodplain are relatively limited within the proposed Zone 
as a whole; however, a large portion of the flood hazard areas are concentrated within the 
non-contiguous +/- 274-acre parcel. See Map 4. Current runoff within the proposed Zone is 
largely handled by natural drainage features such as creeks, as well as open ditches on local 
road and along the nearby arterial roadways.   



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    3

Underutilized  Acreage / Vacant Buildings

The proposed Zone is currently bounded by a freeway, SH 6, and major arterial roadways, 
SH 105 and FM 3090. It is bisected by another Major Arterial roadway, SH 90S. Currently, 
commercial development within the proposed Zone exists along the SH 6 frontage road 
and at its intersections. Most of the adjacent frontage along the major arterials within the 
Zone is agricultural land or occupied by older, single-family residential dwellings that are 
prime for redevelopment as the area grows and traffic flow along these corridors increases. 
Reinvestment in these areas will be dependent on public infrastructure improvements 
including water, sewer, and drainage facilities, as well as potential roadway enhancements. 
Residential properties that have a lower value per acre offer opportunities for redevelopment 
and creating added value through more intense uses. Aging buildings / structures offer 
opportunities for redevelopment. 



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  4

Demographic & Socioeconomic Overview
An analysis of the demographic makeup and market was conducted to fully understand 
the patterns, trends, and needs of the community. Data for the demographic overview was 
collected for the City of Navasota and for Grimes County.

Population & Households : At –A-Glance

The City of Navasota’s population largely consists of young families. Similar to Grimes County, 
nearly 70% of Navasota’s households are family households, though the Navasota family size 
is marginally larger. Ethnically, Navasota is significantly more diverse than Grimes County, 
with a lower White population and higher Black and Hispanic populations than the county as 
a whole, respectively. 

Median Household Income in Navasota is $59,152, slightly less than that of Grimes County. 
The city’s population is employed evenly as white collar and blue collar workers within the 
Services, Retail Trade, and Manufacturing industries. Approximately 36% of the population 
25 years+ has a high school diploma as their highest level of education, similar to Grimes 
County; however, only 14% of Navasota residents hold a Bachelor’s or Graduate degree, less 
than Grimes County at 18%. 

Table 1-  2022 Summary Population Characteristics
City of Navasota Grimes County

Population 7,598 29,920
Households 2,762 10,388
HH Average Size 2.72 2.62
Families 1,911 7,232
Average Family Size 3.34 3.18
Median Age 34.9 40.7

Median Household Income $59,152 $63,007 
Median Home Value $147,119 $195,553 

Business 377 870
Employees 3,418 9,119
Employee / Residential Population 
Ratio (per 100 Residents)

45 30

Source: ESRI, 2022



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    5

Age & Race

With a median age of 34.7 years and more than 30% of residents under the age of 18, 
Navasota has a younger population than Grimes County as a whole, which has a median age 
of 40.7 years and only 23% of residents younger than 18. 

In addition to being younger than the surrounding area, the City of Navasota also is more 
diverse. White residents make up 40% of Navasota while comprising the majority of Grimes 
County inhabitants. Navasota has twice the relative population of black residents and nearly 
two thirds the relative population of Hispanic residents than Grimes County. 

Navasota has a Diversity Index* of 85.7, higher than both Grimes County at 73 and the 
United States as a whole, which in 2020 had a Diversity Index of 65.1. 

23%

13%
26%

22%

15%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

0 - 14
15 - 24
25 - 44
45 - 64
65 +

17%

12%

27%
27%

18%

GRIMES COUNTY

63%13%

13%
11%

GRIMES COUNTY

40%

26%

18%

16%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

White

Black

Some Other
Race Alone
Two or More
Races

2022 POPULATION BY AGE

42%

26%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

HISPANIC ORIGIN
Hispanic Origin

Population by Age

Population by Race

63%13%

13%
11%

GRIMES COUNTY

40%

26%

18%

16%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

White

Black

Some Other
Race Alone
Two or More
Races

63%13%

13%
11%

GRIMES COUNTY

40%

26%

18%

16%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

White

Black

Some Other
Race Alone
Two or More
Races

*A Diversity Index of 85.7 
translates to a probability 
of 85.7% that two people 
randomly chosen from 
the area’s population 
would belong to different 
race or ethnic groups.



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  6

Educational Attainment

In the City of Navasota, 78% of the population aged 25 years or older has a high school 
degree or higher, slightly less than Grimes County at 83% capture rate for these education 
segments. Approximately, 14% of Navasota residents hold at least a four-year college degree, 
versus 18% in Grimes County.

22%

36%

28%

7% 7%

17%

36%

29%

11%
7%

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%

2022 EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT AGES 25+

CITY OF NAVASOTA GRIMES COUNTY

Housing

Residential uses in Navasota include clusters of predominantly single-family homes 
interspersed with mobile homes and multi-family units. 54% of the housing stock is currently 
owner occupied, while 35% is renter occupied. The median home value is $147,119, nearly 
25% lower than the average home value in Grimes County, $195,553. 

54%35%

11%

CITY OF NAVASOTA

Owner Occupied Renter Occupied Vacant

65%
19%

16%

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 HOUSING UNIT SUMMARY

2022 Educational Attainment Ages 25+

11
% 12

%

7%

12
%

18
%

13
%

21
%

4% 3%

10
%

9% 9%

12
%

16
%

13
%

19
%

6% 7%
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%
2022 HOUSEHOLD INCOME BRACKETS

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 Housing Unit Summary



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    7

Income
In 2022, the City of Navasota’s Per Capita Income is $28,315, 11% less than that of Grimes 
County. Navasota’s Median Household Income, $59,152, is also smaller than that of Grimes 
County, though by a smaller margin – 6%. 

$28,315

$59,152

$82,372

$31,682

$63,007

$102,576

$0
$20,000
$40,000
$60,000
$80,000

$100,000
$120,000

Per Capita Income Median Household
Income

Average Household
Income

2022 INCOME

11
% 12

%

7%

12
%

18
%

13
%

21
%

4% 3%

10
%

9% 9%

12
%

16
%

13
%

19
%

6% 7%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%
2022 HOUSEHOLD INCOME BRACKETS

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

Resident Employment by Occupation
The City currently has 3,267 residents aged 16+ engaged in the labor force, or 95.1% of the 
total population actively seeking employment. Grimes County falls just short of Navasota with 
94.9% of residents in the labor force. Roughly 39% of Navasota residents are employed as 
White Collar workers with slightly more, 43%, in Blue Collar jobs. The remainder of the City’s 
labor force work in Service occupations. Comparatively, Grimes County has more residents 
employed in White Collar jobs and less in Blue Collar and Service occupations. White Collar 
workers in the City are split relatively evenly among Management / Business / Financing, 
Professional, Sales, and Administrative Support roles. Production and Transportation roles 
make up the majority of its residents Blue Collar jobs. 

39%
43%

19%

45%
38%

16%

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%
50%

White Collar Blue Collar Services

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 Income

11
% 12

%

7%

12
%

18
%

13
%

21
%

4% 3%

10
%

9% 9%

12
%

16
%

13
%

19
%

6% 7%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%
2022 HOUSEHOLD INCOME BRACKETS

CITY OF NAVASOTA

GRIMES COUNTY

2022 Income Employed Population 16+ by Occupation



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  8

Business & Industry
There are approximately 377 businesses in the City of Navasota employing roughly 3,418 
individuals. In terms of employment, Retail Trade, Educational Services, Health Care & 
Social Assistance, Public Administration, and Accommodation & Food Service comprise the 
top five industries; together they employ 66% of employees within the city, or roughly 2,250 
individuals. When looking at business counts, Retail Trade dominates with nearly 18% of 
Navasota businesses, followed by Other Services*, Accommodation & Food Services, Health 
Care & Social Assistance, and Public Administration. In total, these industries account for just 
over 56% of businesses within the city. 

15%
14% 13%

10%

13%

520 470
453 354

453

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%

Retail Trade Educational
Services

Health Care &
Social

Assistance

Accommodation
& Food Services

Public
Administration

CITY OF NAVASOTA, EMPLOYEES BY INDUSTRY

Percent of
Navasota
Employees

Number of
Employees

18%

8%
9%

14%

8%
67

29
35 52

29

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90
100

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%

Retail Trade Health Care &
Social

Assistance

Accommodation
& Food Services

Other Services
(except Public
Administration)

Public
Administration

CITY OF NAVASOTA, BUSINESSES BY INDUSTRY

% of
Navasota
Businesses

Number of
Businesses

Employees by Industry, City of Navasota

Businesses by Industry, City of Navasota

*Other Services 
includes automotive 
and commercial / 
industrial repair & 
maintenance, personal 
& household goods 
repair & maintenance, 
personal care services, 
dry cleaning & laundry 
services, religious 
organizations, civic & 
social organizations, etc.



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    9

TIRZ as a Tool
As shown in the existing conditions analysis, the area within the Zone meets many of the 
conditions required by Chapter 311 for designation as a tax increment reinvestment zone. 
These conditions include the following:

• Area is predominately open with physical and economic constraints to development
• Defective or inadequate sidewalks, utilities, or street layout
• Faulty lot layout in relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, or usefulness 
• Unsanitary or unsafe conditions
• An area’s tax base is relatively low

Given these conditions, the area would benefit from utilizing a tool like tax increment financing. 
There are a number of opportunities for growth and development within the proposed Zone 
boundary, especially given its proximity to State Highway 6 and the extension of State Highway 
249 via State Highway 105. However, the area lacks the necessary infrastructure to support 
future development and redevelopment. Opportunities for new investment include vacant 
land, and older and underutilized properties adjacent to major thoroughfares that are prime 
for redevelopment. Utilizing a tool like a TIRZ would attract public and private investment, 
providing initial financing for much needed public infrastructure improvements, including 
water and sewer, trails and recreation facilities, mobility and streetscape enhancements, and 
other economic development initiatives. Improvements would ultimately be funded from tax 
increment revenues (captured value) following new residential and commercial development. 
The development of the Zone to its fullest potential would not be feasible in the near future 
without the assistance of a tool like a TIRZ.

Potential Projects
Potential projects may include but are not limited to:
• Water, wastewater, natural gas and drainage improvements associated with new 

commercial and residential developments
• Wastewater treatment plant
• Stormwater management improvements including land acquisition and detention
• Roadway and mobility enhancements and connections
• Value added improvements to State funded projects including the SH 249 extension
• Streetscape enhancements including enhanced intersections, ADA accessibility 

improvements, sidewalks, crosswalks, pedestrian signals, landscaping, pedestrian 
amenities, lighting, facade improvements, signage/wayfinding and public art

• Parks, trails and recreation improvements
• Parking and safety improvements



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  10

Projected Growth and Revenues
The SH 249 Expansion Project will represent, upon completion, the second major corridor 
directly linking the City of Navasota and the Houston MSA. A combination of a controlled 
access tollway and a rural highway, SH 249 will ultimately connect to SH 105 via an elevated 
interchange roughly 6 miles east of Navasota. TxDOT currently anticipates a 2023 completion. 
Not only will the Project provide easy, reliable, and aesthetically pleasing access to the 
Houston MSA for outward-bound daily commuters, but it will provide better access to 
Navasota for rural and suburban residents living in the commercially underserved quadrant 
southeast of the city. With enhanced access to the area, combined with increasing growth 
pressures, the City will be able to capture new development in the eastern portion of the City 
Limits and ETJ, with the availability of adequate infrastructure. Navasota is already starting to 
see an increase in both residential and commercial activity in it’s City Limits and an interest 
in development in it’s ETJ.

As part of the feasibility analysis, three revenue scenarios were developed that reflect different 
assumptions as it relates to the timing of planned projects, growth rates and availability of 
infrastructure to support future development. Given that the majority of the Zone lies within 
the City’s ETJ, it is assumed that as growth occurs, developments will be annexed into the 
City Limits. Funding or reimbursement for public infrastructure can serve as a mechanism 
to allow for voluntary annexation into the City.  The purpose of the scenarios is to show the 
growth potential within the area and demonstrate the financial feasibility of the proposed 
reinvestment zone. 

Results of the three scenarios are shown in Tables 2 and 3. As shown, projected Taxable 
Value in 2052 ranges from $341 million to $557 million. Projected revenues available for 
TIRZ projects range from $14 million to $23 million.

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3
2022  $45,488,600  $45,488,600  $45,488,600 
2027  $107,980,886  $125,743,386  $125,743,386 
2032  $188,786,478  $241,181,603  $241,181,603 
2037  $218,855,270  $301,777,937  $343,164,755 
2042  $253,713,241  $349,843,339  $414,704,636 
2047  $294,123,182  $405,564,313  $480,756,333 
2052  $340,969,380  $470,160,193  $557,328,353 

Table 2 - Taxable Values



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    11

There are a number of opportunities for growth and development within the Zone boundaries, 
particularly given its easy access to major State Highways 6 and 249. Public improvements 
funded / implemented by the City and other partners would stimulate commercial and 
residential development and redevelopment within the Zone. Provision of water, sewer, 
drainage and mobility improvements would support the viability and quality of new 
development. 

Based on values and revenue projections for the scenarios as outlined in this report, revenues 
generated as a result of capital improvements made by the public in all scenarios would be 
sufficient to fund certain public infrastructure improvements within the proposed Zone.

The extent and quality of development in the proposed Zone is dependent upon the timing 
and implementation of public infrastructure projects including water, sewer, drainage, 
and roadway improvements. A financing tool like a TIRZ can facilitate and expedite new 
development and investment within the Zone boundaries, providing economic opportunity 
not only in terms of increased property values and sales tax but also housing, employment, 
and quality of life amenities for residents and businesses. 

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3
2022  $-    $-    $-   
2027  $174,327  $223,876  $223,876 
2032  $399,739  $545,899  $545,899 
2037  $483,618  $714,937  $830,388 
2042  $580,857  $849,019  $1,029,954 
2047  $693,584  $1,004,456  $1,214,210 
2052  $824,264  $1,184,651  $1,427,813 

Total  $14,032,045  $20,175,286  $23,409,626 

Table 3 - Revenues



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  12

+/- 273.863 ac.

+/- 29.816 ac.

TIRZ No. 1
+/- 2,586.068 ac.

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 44

6

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

C
ounty

R
oad

403

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
AR

V
E

R
 S

T

C
LE V

E
L

A
N

D
AVE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

D
O

VE C
T

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

C
ount y

R
oa d

4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE
DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

C
LE

V
E

LA
N

D
 A

V
E

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

CITY OF NAVASOTA
TIRZ BOUNDARY

TIRZ Boundary Ver. 3

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/13/2022

Map 1- Proposed Boundary, Aerial View



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    13

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

GRIMEST

Brosig

MANLEY ST

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 446

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

FM 379

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

DURDEN ST

E JOHNSON ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

C
ounty

Road
4 03

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
AR

V
E

R
 S

T

C
L E

V
E

L
A

N
D

A
VE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

W LEE ST

D
O

VE C
T

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

AUSTIN ST

BUCKINGHAM LN

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN WHITE
D

R

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105
W

O
O

D
 ST

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Property Class 2022
Unknown/Not Specified (3)

Agricultural (70)

Commercial (29)

Multi-Family Res. (2)

Exempt (8)

Farm and Ranch (14)

Industrial (1)

Single Family Res. (30)

Utility (1)

Vacant Lot (28)

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/23/2022

Map 2 - Property Classification



Existing Conditions & Feasibility  14

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 44

6

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE

LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

C
ounty

R
oad

403

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
A

R
V

E
R

 S
T

C
LE V

E
L

A
N

D
AVE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

D
O

VE C
T

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

C
ount y

R
oa d

4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE
DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

C
LE

V
E

LA
N

D
 A

V
E

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

2021 County Taxable Value
$1,352,438 - 5,210,169 (8)

$631,654 - 1,352,437 (10)

$163,781 - 631,653 (41)

$1 - 163,780 (111)

$0 (11)

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD
Map Date: 9/26/2022

Map 3 - Taxable Value



Existing Conditions & Feasibility    15

SH
 9

0

BS 6

SH 105

FM
 3

09
0

FM
 3455

SS 515

Victoria

C
hurch

Rabun

Leon

NEAL ST

GIBBST

N
O

LAN
 ST

Thane

Brosig

GRIMEST

MANLEY ST

FM 379

IVY ST

Coun
ty

Roa
d 44

6

Harn

STACEY ST

FAR
Q

U
H

AR
 ST

Mc A
lpine

HORLO
CK AVE

N JUDSON AVE
LANE ST

Montgomery

N M
C NAIR ST

ELM
 ST

WATER ST

E HOLLAND ST

FELDER ST

E JOHNSON ST

DURDEN ST

H
O

LLISTER
 ST

E LEE ST

W
OO

D ST

Teague

KETTLER ST

LEAKE ST

DAVIST

TE
X

A
S

T

M
ILLER ST

R
ATTLER

 D
R

JULIA AVE

HILLSIDE DR

DOVE CROSSING LN

M
O

O
RE ST

C
U

LLE
N

 S
T

Sunshine Valley

LINCOLN ST

UNIVERSAL ST

C
ounty

R
oad

403

C
ou

nt
y 

R
oa

d 
41

5

TEAGUE ST

S JUDSON ST

C
A

R
V

E
R

 S
T

C
LE V

E
L

A
N

D
AVE

DON ST

BAKER
ST

KETCHUM
 ST

C
O

U
R

TN
E

Y
 R

D
AUSTIANA HILLS DR

SA
N

FO
R

D
 S

T

W LEE ST

ANDERSON ST

D
O

VE TR
L

D
O

VE C
T

TYLER
 D

R

N PO
ST O

AK ST

ALAMO DR

ABRAHAM ST

C
ount y

R
oa d

4 2 0

Indus trial

BUCKINGHAM LN

AUSTIN ST

S
PO

ST
O

AK
ST

SHAWNEE ST

RUTH CT

TH
AN

E ST

County Road 442

SANDALL ST

ALLEN W HITE
DR

Ketchum WHITE WING

FLORIDA ST

BR
IAR

 LN

LEO
N ST

BURTON ST

SH 105

W
O

O
D

 ST

C
LE

V
E

LA
N

D
 A

V
E

FELDER ST

ELM
 ST

HILLSIDE DR

DURDEN ST

SH 105

City of Navasota

Navasota ETJ

0 0.5 10.25 Miles

USA Flood Hazard Areas
1% Annual Chance Flood Hazard (10)

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard (15)

Regulatory Floodway (2)

Zone Boundary

ETJ 2022

City Limit

County Boundary

Data Sources: City of Navasota, MapBox Streets, GCAD, Esri
Map Date: 9/28/2022

Map 4 - Flood Hazard Areas



 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #7 

 

Agenda Date Requested: November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Lance Hall, Director  
Department: Financial Services  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  

 
Exhibits: Ordinance No. 1013-22 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #7 
 
Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 1013-22, 
authorizing the Issuance of the City of Navasota, Texas, Combination Tax and 
Limited Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022. 
 
 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 

The City of Navasota is in the process of selling Combination Tax and Limited Surplus 
Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022 to provide funding for the approved 
budgeted utility (water, natural gas, and wastewater) capital improvement projects. To 
move forward with the issuance of the debt for these purposes, Ordinance No. 1013-22 
is needed to authorize the issuance of such Certificates of Obligation, levying a tax to pay 
debt service on such COs, and approving all other matters related thereto. Staff 
recommends City Council approving Ordinance No. 1013-22. 
 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
 
I move to adopt Ordinance No. 1013-22, authorizing the issuance and sale of 
“City of Navasota, Texas, Combination Tax and Limited Surplus Revenue 
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022” and approving all other matters related 
thereto. 
 

 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

  
 
    

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   

11/10/2022



Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 1013-22 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF CITY OF 
NAVASOTA, TEXAS, COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED SURPLUS REVENUE 
CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2022; LEVYING AN ANNUAL AD 
VALOREM TAX AND PROVIDING FOR THE SECURITY FOR AND PAYMENT OF 
SAID CERTIFICATES; APPROVING AN OFFICIAL STATEMENT; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE 
SUBJECT 
 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 
COUNTIES OF GRIMES AND BRAZOS 
CITY OF NAVASOTA 

 § 
§ 
§ 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council (the “Council”) of the City of Navasota, Texas (the 

“City” or “Issuer”), deems it advisable to issue it “City of Navasota, Texas, Combination 
Tax and Limited Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022” (the 
“Certificates”) in the amount of $_____ for the purpose of paying all or a portion of the 
Issuer’s contractual obligations incurred in connection with: (i) acquiring, constructing, 
installing and equipping additions, improvements, extensions and equipment for the City’s 
Waterworks, Sewer and Gas System (the “System”) and the acquisition of land and rights-
of-way therefor and (ii) paying legal, fiscal and engineering fees in connection with such 
projects (collectively, the “Projects”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Certificates hereinafter authorized and designated are to be 
issued and delivered for cash pursuant to Subchapter C of Chapter 271, Local Government 
Code; and Chapter 1502 Texas Government Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Council has heretofore passed a resolution authorizing and 
directing the City Secretary to give notice of the City’s intention to issue the Certificates, 
and the notice has been duly (i) posted on the Issuer’s website and (ii) published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City, said newspaper being a “newspaper” as 
defined in Section 2051.044, Texas Government Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City received no petition from the qualified electors of the City 
protesting the issuance of the Certificates; and 

 
WHEREAS, during the preceding three years, the Issuer has not submitted a bond 

proposition to authorize the issuance of bonds for any of the purposes for which the 
Certificates are hereby being issued and which proposition was disapproved by voters; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, it is considered to be to the best interest of the City that said interest-

bearing Certificates be issued; and 
 



 2 

WHEREAS, it is officially found, determined, and declared that the meeting at 
which this Ordinance has been adopted was open to the public and public notice of the 
time, place and subject matter of the public business to be considered and acted upon at 
said meeting, including this Ordinance, was given, all as required by the applicable 
provisions of Texas Government Code, Chapter 551; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS: 
 

Section 1.  RECITALS, AMOUNT AND PURPOSE OF THE CERTIFICATES.  
The recitals set forth in the preamble hereof are incorporated herein and shall have the 
same force and effect as if set forth in this Section.  The Certificates are hereby authorized 
to be issued and delivered in the aggregate principal amount of $_____ for the purpose 
of paying all or a portion of the Issuer’s contractual obligations incurred in connection 
with the Projects, including payment of the costs of issuing the Certificates. 
 

Section 2.  DESIGNATION, DATE, DENOMINATIONS, NUMBERS, AND 
MATURITIES AND INTEREST RATES OF CERTIFICATES; REDEMPTION 
PROVISIONS. 

 
(a) Each certificate issued pursuant to this Ordinance shall be designated: 

“CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS, COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED SURPLUS REVENUE 
CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2022,” and initially there shall be issued, sold and 
delivered hereunder one fully registered certificate, without interest coupons, dated 
December 1, 2022, in the principal amount stated above and in the denominations 
hereinafter stated, numbered T-1, with certificates issued in replacement thereof being 
in the denominations and principal amounts hereinafter stated and numbered 
consecutively from R-1 upward, payable to the respective Registered Owners thereof 
(with the initial Certificate being made payable to the Purchaser (defined herein) as 
described herein), or to the registered assignee or assignees of said Certificates or any 
portion or portions thereof (in each case, the “Registered Owner”), and said Certificates 
shall mature and be payable on November 15 in each of the years and in the principal 
amounts, respectively, and shall bear interest from the date and at the rates set forth in 
the FORM OF CERTIFICATE attached hereto as Exhibit A to their respective dates of 
maturity or redemption prior to maturity. 
 

The term “Certificates”, as used in this Ordinance, shall mean and include 
collectively the certificates initially issued and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance and 
all substitute certificates exchanged therefor, as well as all other substitute certificates 
and replacement certificates issued pursuant hereto, and the term “Certificate” shall 
mean any of the Certificates. 
 

(b) The Certificates shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity as set forth 
in the FORM OF CERTIFICATE attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 



 3 

Section 3.  CHARACTERISTICS OF THE CERTIFICATES.  
 

(a) Registration, Transfer, Conversion and Exchange; Authentication.  The 
Issuer shall keep or cause to be kept at the principal corporate trust office of BOKF, NA, 
Dallas, Texas (the “Paying Agent/Registrar”) books or records for the registration of the 
transfer, conversion and exchange of the Certificates (the “Registration Books”), and the 
Issuer hereby appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar as its registrar and transfer agent to 
keep such books or records and make such registrations of transfers, conversions and 
exchanges under such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and Paying Agent/Registrar 
may prescribe; and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make such registrations, transfers, 
conversions and exchanges as herein provided.  The Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement 
in the form presented at the meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted is hereby 
approved.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall obtain and record in the Registration Books 
the address of the registered owner of each Certificate to which payments with respect 
to the Certificates shall be mailed, as herein provided; but it shall be the duty of each 
registered owner to notify the Paying Agent/Registrar in writing of the address to which 
payments shall be mailed, and such interest payments shall not be mailed unless such 
notice has been given.  The Issuer shall have the right to inspect the Registration Books 
during regular business hours of the Paying Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying 
Agent/Registrar shall keep the Registration Books confidential and, unless otherwise 
required by law, shall not permit their inspection by any other entity.  The Issuer shall 
pay the Paying Agent/Registrar’s standard or customary fees and charges for making 
such registration, transfer, conversion, exchange and delivery of a substitute Certificate 
or Certificates.  Registration of assignments, transfers, conversions and exchanges of 
Certificates shall be made in the manner provided and with the effect stated in the FORM 
OF CERTIFICATE set forth in this Ordinance.  Each substitute Certificate shall bear a letter 
and/or number to distinguish it from each other Certificate. 
 

(b) Except as provided in Section 3(d) of this Ordinance, an authorized 
representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar shall, before the delivery of any such 
Certificate, date and manually sign said Certificate, and no such Certificate shall be 
deemed to be issued or outstanding unless such Certificate is so executed.  The Paying 
Agent/Registrar promptly shall cancel all paid Certificates and Certificates surrendered for 
conversion and exchange.  No additional ordinances, orders, or resolutions need be 
passed or adopted by the governing body of the Issuer or any other body or person so 
as to accomplish the foregoing conversion and exchange of any Certificate or portion 
thereof, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the printing, execution, and 
delivery of the substitute Certificates in the manner prescribed herein, and said 
Certificates shall be printed or typed on paper of customary weight and strength.  
Pursuant to Chapter 1201, Government Code, as amended, the duty of conversion and 
exchange of Certificates as aforesaid is hereby imposed upon the Paying Agent/Registrar, 
and, upon the execution of said Certificate, the converted and exchanged Certificate shall 
be valid, incontestable, and enforceable in the same manner and with the same effect as 
the Certificates that initially were issued and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, 
approved by the Attorney General (the “Attorney General”) of the State of Texas (the 



 4 

“State”) and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State (the 
“Comptroller”). 
 

(c) Payment of Certificates and Interest. The Issuer hereby further appoints 
the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of and 
interest on the Certificates, all as provided in this Ordinance.  The Paying Agent/Registrar 
shall keep proper records of all payments made by the Issuer and the Paying 
Agent/Registrar with respect to the Certificates, and of all conversions and exchanges of 
Certificates, and all replacements of Certificates, as provided in this Ordinance.  However, 
in the event of a nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for thirty 
(30) days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a “Special Record 
Date”) will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the 
payment of such interest have been received from the Issuer.  Notice of the past due 
interest shall be sent at least five (5) business days prior to the Special Record Date by 
United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner 
appearing on the Registration Books at the close of business on the last business day 
next preceding the date of mailing of such notice. 
 

(d) In General.  The Certificates (i) shall be issued in fully registered form, 
without interest coupons, with the principal of and interest on such Certificates to be 
payable only to the registered owners thereof, (ii) may be redeemed prior to their 
scheduled maturities, (iii) may be converted and exchanged for other Certificates, (iv) 
may be transferred and assigned, (v) shall have the characteristics, (vi) shall be signed, 
sealed, executed and authenticated, (vii) the principal of and interest on the Certificates 
shall be payable, and (viii) shall be administered and the Paying Agent/Registrar and the 
Issuer shall have certain duties and responsibilities with respect to the Certificates, all as 
provided, and in the manner and to the effect as required or indicated, in the FORM OF 
CERTIFICATE set forth in this Ordinance.  The Certificate initially issued and delivered 
pursuant to this Ordinance is not required to be, and shall not be, authenticated by the 
Paying Agent/Registrar, but on each substitute Certificate issued in conversion of and 
exchange for any Certificate or Certificates issued under this Ordinance the Paying 
Agent/Registrar shall execute the PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR’S AUTHENTICATION 
CERTIFICATE, in the form set forth in the FORM OF CERTIFICATE. 
 

(e) The Issuer covenants with the registered owners of the Certificates that at 
all times while the Certificates are outstanding the Issuer will provide a competent and 
legally qualified bank, trust company, financial institution, or other entity to act as and 
perform the services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates under this Ordinance, 
and that the Paying Agent/Registrar will be one entity.  The Issuer reserves the right to, 
and may, at its option, change the Paying Agent/Registrar upon not less than 120 days 
written notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar, to be effective not later than 60 days prior 
to the next principal or interest payment date after such notice.  In the event that the 
entity at any time acting as Paying Agent/Registrar (or its successor by merger, 
acquisition, or other method) should resign or otherwise cease to act as such, the Issuer 
covenants that promptly it will appoint a competent and legally qualified bank, trust 



 5 

company, financial institution, or other agency to act as Paying Agent/Registrar under 
this Ordinance.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar, the previous Paying 
Agent/Registrar promptly shall transfer and deliver the Registration Books (or a copy 
thereof), along with all other pertinent books and records relating to the Certificates, to 
the new Paying Agent/Registrar designated and appointed by the Issuer.  Upon any 
change in the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Issuer promptly will cause a written notice 
thereof to be sent by the new Paying Agent/Registrar to each Registered Owner of the 
Certificates, by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, which notice also shall give 
the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.  By accepting the position and performing 
as such, each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be deemed to have agreed to the provisions 
of this Ordinance, and a certified copy of this Ordinance shall be delivered to each Paying 
Agent/Registrar. 
 

(f) Except as provided below, no Certificate shall be valid or obligatory for any 
purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Ordinance unless and until there 
appears thereon the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar substantially in the form 
provided in this Ordinance, duly authenticated by manual execution of the Paying 
Agent/Registrar. It shall not be required that the same authorized representative of the 
Paying Agent/Registrar sign the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar on all of the 
Certificates. In lieu of the executed Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar described above, 
the initial Certificate delivered on the closing date shall have attached thereto the 
Comptroller’s Registration Certificate substantially in the form provided in this Ordinance, 
manually executed by the Comptroller or by his duly authorized agent, which certificate 
shall be evidence that the initial Certificate has been duly approved by the Attorney 
General and that it is a valid and binding obligation of the Issuer, and has been registered 
by the Comptroller. 
 

(g) Book-Entry Only System.  The Certificates issued in exchange for the 
Certificate initially issued to the Purchaser or its designee shall be initially issued in the 
form of a separate single fully registered Certificate for each of the maturities thereof.  
Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Certificate shall be registered in the 
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York 
(“DTC”), and except as provided in subsection (f) hereof, all of the outstanding 
Certificates shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. With 
respect to Certificates registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the 
Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain 
other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created (“DTC Participant”) to hold 
securities to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC 
Participants or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest 
in the Certificates.  Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the Issuer and 
the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) 
the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect to 
any ownership interest in the Certificates, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any 
other person, other than a Registered Owner of Certificates, as shown on the Registration 



 6 

Books, of any notice with respect to the Certificates, or (iii) the payment to any DTC 
Participant or any other person, other than a Registered Owner of Certificates, as shown 
in the Registration Books of any amount with respect to principal of or interest on the 
Certificates.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, the 
Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to treat and consider the person 
in whose name each Certificate is registered in the Registration Books as the absolute 
owner of such Certificate for the purpose of payment of principal and interest with respect 
to such Certificate, for the purpose of registering transfers with respect to such 
Certificate, and for all other purposes whatsoever.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay 
all principal of and interest on the Certificates only to or upon the order of the Registered 
Owners, as shown in the Registration Books as provided in this Ordinance, or their 
respective attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and 
effective to fully satisfy and discharge the Issuer’s obligations with respect to payment of 
principal of and interest on the Certificates to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.  No 
person other than a Registered Owner, as shown in the Registration Books, shall receive 
a Certificate evidencing the obligation of the Issuer to make payments of principal and 
interest pursuant to this Ordinance.  Upon delivery by DTC to the Paying Agent/Registrar 
of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee in 
place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in this Ordinance with respect to 
interest checks being mailed to the Registered Owner at the close of business on the 
Record date, the words “Cede & Co.” in this Ordinance shall refer to such new nominee 
of DTC.  The previous execution and delivery of the Blanket Letter of Representations 
with respect to obligations of the Issuer is hereby ratified and confirmed; and the 
provisions thereof shall be fully applicable to the Certificates. 
 

(h) Successor Securities Depository; Transfers Outside Book-Entry Only 
System.  In the event that the Issuer determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its 
responsibilities described herein and in the representations letter of the Issuer to DTC or 
that it is in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Certificates that they be able 
to obtain certificated Certificates, the Issuer shall (i) appoint a successor securities 
depository, qualified to act as such under Section 17A of the Securities and Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended, notify DTC and DTC Participants of the appointment of such 
successor securities depository and transfer one or more separate Certificates to such 
successor securities depository or (ii) notify DTC and DTC Participants of the availability 
through DTC of Certificates and transfer one or more separate certificated Certificates to 
DTC Participants having Certificates credited to their DTC accounts.  In such event, the 
Certificates shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Registration Books in 
the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered in the name of the 
successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names Registered 
Owners transferring or exchanging Certificates shall designate, in accordance with the 
provisions of this Ordinance. 
 

(i) Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Ordinance to the contrary, so long as any Certificate is registered in the name of Cede & 
Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with respect to principal of and interest on such 



 7 

Certificate and all notices with respect to such Certificate shall be made and given, 
respectively, in the manner provided in the representations letter of the Issuer to DTC. 
 

(j) Cancellation of Initial Certificate.  On the closing date, one initial Certificate 
representing the entire principal amount of the Certificates, payable in stated installments 
to the Purchaser or its designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor 
or Mayor Pro Tem and City Secretary of the Issuer, approved by the Attorney General, 
and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller, will be delivered to the Purchaser 
or its designee.  Upon payment for the initial Certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall 
cancel the initial Certificate and deliver to the Depository Trust Company on behalf of the 
Purchaser one registered definitive Certificate for each year of maturity of the Certificates, 
in the aggregate principal amount of all of the Certificates for such maturity. 

 
(k) Conditional Notice of Redemption.  With respect to any optional redemption 

of the Certificates, unless certain prerequisites to such redemption required by this 
Ordinance have been met and money sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if 
any, and interest on the Certificates to be redeemed will have been received by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar prior to the giving of such notice of redemption, such notice may state 
that said redemption may, at the option of the Issuer, be conditional upon the satisfaction 
of such prerequisites and receipt of such money by the Paying Agent/Registrar on or prior 
to the date fixed for such redemption or upon any prerequisite set forth in such notice of 
redemption.  If a conditional notice of redemption is given and such prerequisites to the 
redemption are not fulfilled, such notice will be of no force and effect, the Issuer will not 
redeem such Certificates, and the Paying Agent/Registrar will give notice in the manner 
in which the notice of redemption was given, to the effect that such Certificates have not 
been redeemed. 
 

Section 4.  FORM OF CERTIFICATES.  The form of the Certificates, including the 
form of Paying Agent/Registrar’s Authentication Certificate, the form of Assignment and 
the form of Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of 
Texas to be attached to the Certificates initially issued and delivered pursuant to this 
Ordinance, shall be substantially in the form provided in Exhibit A, with such appropriate 
variations, omissions or insertions as are permitted or required by this Ordinance. 
 

Section 5.  INTEREST AND SINKING FUND; SURPLUS REVENUES. 
 

(a) A special “Interest and Sinking Fund” is hereby created and shall be 
established and maintained by the Issuer at an official depository bank of said Issuer.  
Said Interest and Sinking Fund shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds and 
accounts of said Issuer, and shall be used only for paying the interest on and principal of 
said Certificates.  All amounts received from the sale of the Certificates as accrued interest 
shall be deposited upon receipt to the Interest and Sinking Fund, and all ad valorem taxes 
levied and collected for and on account of said Certificates shall be deposited, as 
collected, to the credit of said Interest and Sinking Fund.  During each year while any of 
said Certificates are outstanding and unpaid, the governing body of said Issuer shall 



 8 

compute and ascertain a rate and amount of ad valorem tax that will be sufficient to raise 
and produce the money required to pay the interest on said Certificates as such interest 
comes due, and to provide and maintain a sinking fund adequate to pay the principal of 
said Certificates as such principal matures (but never less than 2% of the original amount 
of said Certificates as a sinking fund each year); and said tax shall be based on the latest 
approved tax rolls of said Issuer, with full allowances being made for tax delinquencies 
and the cost of tax collection.  Said rate and amount of ad valorem tax is hereby levied, 
and is hereby ordered to be levied, against all taxable property in said Issuer, for each 
year while any of said Certificates are outstanding and unpaid, and said tax shall be 
assessed and collected each such year and deposited to the credit of the aforesaid 
Interest and Sinking Fund.  Said ad valorem taxes sufficient to provide for the payment 
of the interest on and principal of said Certificates, as such interest comes due and such 
principal matures, are hereby pledged for such payment, within the limits prescribed by 
law. 

 
(b) The Certificates are additionally secured by a limited pledge of $1,000 of 

the revenues of the System that remain after the payment of all maintenance and 
operation expenses thereof, and all debt service, reserve and other requirements in 
connection with all of the Issuer’s revenue obligations (now or hereafter outstanding) 
that are secured by a lien on all or any part of the net revenues of the System, constituting 
“Surplus Revenues”.  The Issuer shall deposit such Surplus Revenues to the credit of the 
Interest and Sinking Fund created pursuant to this Section, to the extent necessary to 
pay the principal and interest on the Certificates.  Notwithstanding the requirements of 
this Section, if revenues are actually on deposit or budgeted for deposit in the Interest 
and Sinking Fund in advance of the time when ad valorem taxes are scheduled to be 
levied for any year, then the amount of taxes which otherwise would have been required 
to be levied pursuant to this Section may be reduced to the extent and by the amount of 
the revenues then on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund or budgeted for deposit 
therein. The Issuer reserves the right, without condition or limitation, to issue other 
obligations secured in whole or in part by a parity lien on and pledge of the Surplus 
Revenues, for any purpose permitted by law. 

 
(c) Article 1208, Government Code, applies to the issuance of the Certificates 

and the pledge of the taxes and Surplus Revenues granted by the Issuer hereunder, and 
is therefore valid, effective and perfected.  Should State law be amended at any time 
while the Certificates are outstanding and unpaid, the result of such amendment being 
that the pledge of the taxes and Surplus Revenues granted by the Issuer hereunder is to 
be subject to the filing requirements of Chapter 9, Business and Navasota Code, in order 
to preserve to the registered owners of the Certificates a security interest in said pledge, 
the Issuer agrees to take such measures as it determines are reasonable and necessary 
under State law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9, Business and 
Navasota Code and enable a filing of a security interest in said pledge to occur. 

 
 
 



 9 

Section 6.  DEFEASANCE OF CERTIFICATES. 
 

(a) Any Certificate and the interest thereon shall be deemed to be paid, retired 
and no longer outstanding (a “Defeased Certificate”) within the meaning of this 
Ordinance, except to the extent provided in subsection (d) of this Section, when payment 
of the principal of such Certificate, plus interest thereon to the due date (whether such 
due date be by reason of maturity or otherwise) either (i) shall have been made or caused 
to be made in accordance with the terms thereof, or (ii) shall have been provided for on 
or before such due date by irrevocably depositing with or making available to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar in accordance with an escrow agreement or other instrument (the 
“Future Escrow Agreement”) for such payment (1) lawful money of the United States of 
America sufficient to make such payment or (2) Defeasance Securities that mature as to 
principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will insure the availability, 
without reinvestment, of sufficient money to provide for such payment, and when proper 
arrangements have been made by the Issuer with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the 
payment of its services until all Defeased Certificates shall have become due and payable.  
At such time as a Certificate shall be deemed to be a Defeased Certificate hereunder, as 
aforesaid, such Certificate and the interest thereon shall no longer be secured by, payable 
from, or entitled to the benefits of, the ad valorem taxes herein levied and pledged or 
the pledge of Surplus Revenues as provided in this Ordinance, and such principal and 
interest shall be payable solely from such money or Defeasance Securities.  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, it is hereby 
provided that any determination not to redeem Defeased Certificates that is made in 
conjunction with the payment arrangements specified in subsection 6(a)(i) or (ii) shall 
not be irrevocable, provided that: (1) in the proceedings providing for such payment 
arrangements, the Issuer expressly reserves the right to call the Defeased Certificates for 
redemption; (2) gives notice of the reservation of that right to the owners of the Defeased 
Certificates immediately following the making of the payment arrangements; and (3) 
directs that notice of the reservation be included in any redemption notices that it 
authorizes. 
 

(b) Any moneys so deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar may at the 
written direction of the Issuer be invested in Defeasance Securities, maturing in the 
amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from such Defeasance 
Securities received by the Paying Agent/Registrar that is not required for the payment of 
the Certificates and interest thereon, with respect to which such money has been so 
deposited, shall be turned over to the Issuer, or deposited as directed in writing by the 
Issuer.  Any Future Escrow Agreement pursuant to which the money and/or Defeasance 
Securities are held for the payment of Defeased Certificates may contain provisions 
permitting the investment or reinvestment of such moneys in Defeasance Securities or 
the substitution of other Defeasance Securities upon the satisfaction of the requirements 
specified in subsection 6(a)(i) or (ii).  All income from such Defeasance Securities received 
by the Paying Agent/Registrar which is not required for the payment of the Defeased 
Certificates, with respect to which such money has been so deposited, shall be remitted 
to the Issuer or deposited as directed in writing by the Issuer. 



 10 

 
(c) The term “Defeasance Securities” means any securities and obligations now 

or hereafter authorized by State law that are eligible to refund, retire or otherwise 
discharge obligations such as the Certificates. 
 

(d) Until all Defeased Certificates shall have become due and payable, the 
Paying Agent/Registrar shall perform the services of Paying Agent/Registrar for such 
Defeased Certificates the same as if they had not been defeased, and the Issuer shall 
make proper arrangements to provide and pay for such services as required by this 
Ordinance.  

 
(e) In the event that the Issuer elects to defease less than all of the principal 

amount of Certificates of a maturity, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select, or cause to 
be selected, such amount of Certificates by such random method as it deems fair and 
appropriate. 
 

Section 7.  DAMAGED, MUTILATED, LOST, STOLEN, OR DESTROYED 
CERTIFICATES.  
 

(a) Replacement Certificates.  In the event any outstanding Certificate is 
damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cause to 
be printed, executed and delivered, a new certificate of the same principal amount, 
maturity and interest rate, as the damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed 
Certificate, in replacement for such Certificate in the manner hereinafter provided. 
 

(b) Application for Replacement Certificates.  Application for replacement of 
damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Certificates shall be made by the registered 
owner thereof to the Paying Agent/Registrar.  In every case of loss, theft or destruction 
of a Certificate, the registered owner applying for a replacement certificate shall furnish 
to the Issuer and to the Paying Agent/Registrar such security or indemnity as may be 
required by them to save each of them harmless from any loss or damage with respect 
thereto.  Also, in every case of loss, theft or destruction of a Certificate, the registered 
owner shall furnish to the Issuer and to the Paying Agent/Registrar evidence to their 
satisfaction of the loss, theft or destruction of such Certificate, as the case may be.  In 
every case of damage or mutilation of a Certificate, the registered owner shall surrender 
to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation the Certificate so damaged or mutilated. 
 

(c) No Default Occurred.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this 
Ordinance, in the event any such Certificate shall have matured, and no default has 
occurred that is then continuing in the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, 
if any, or interest on the Certificate, the Issuer may authorize the payment of the same 
(without surrender thereof except in the case of a damaged or mutilated Certificate) 
instead of issuing a replacement Certificate, provided security or indemnity is furnished 
as above provided in this Section. 
 



 11 

(d) Charge for Issuing Replacement Certificates.  Prior to the issuance of any 
replacement certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall charge the registered owner of 
such Certificate with all legal, printing, and other expenses in connection therewith.  Every 
replacement certificate issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section by virtue of the 
fact that any Certificate is lost, stolen or destroyed shall constitute a contractual obligation 
of the Issuer whether or not the lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate shall be found at any 
time, or be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this 
Ordinance equally and proportionately with any and all other Certificates duly issued 
under this Ordinance. 
 

(e) Authority for Issuing Replacement Certificates.  In accordance with Section 
1206.022, Government Code, this Section shall constitute authority for the issuance of 
any such replacement certificate without necessity of further action by the governing 
body of the Issuer or any other body or person, and the duty of the replacement of such 
certificates is hereby authorized and imposed upon the Paying Agent/Registrar, and the 
Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver such Certificates in the form and 
manner and with the effect, as provided in Section 3(a) of this Ordinance for Certificates 
issued in conversion and exchange for other Certificates. 
 

Section 8.  CUSTODY, APPROVAL, AND REGISTRATION OF 
CERTIFICATES; BOND COUNSEL’S OPINION; CUSIP NUMBERS AND 
CONTINGENT INSURANCE PROVISION, IF OBTAINED; ENGAGEMENT OF BOND 
COUNSEL. 
 

(a) The Mayor of the Issuer is hereby authorized to have control of the 
Certificates initially issued and delivered hereunder and all necessary records and 
proceedings pertaining to the Certificates pending their delivery and their investigation, 
examination and approval by the Attorney General and their registration by the 
Comptroller.  Upon registration of the Certificates, the Comptroller (or a deputy 
designated in writing to act for the Comptroller) shall manually sign the Comptroller’s 
Registration Certificate attached to such Certificates, and the seal of the Comptroller shall 
be impressed, or placed in facsimile, on such Certificate.  The approving legal opinion of 
the Issuer’s Bond Counsel and the assigned CUSIP numbers may, at the option of the 
Issuer, be printed on the Certificates issued and delivered under this Ordinance, but 
neither shall have any legal effect, and shall be solely for the convenience and information 
of the registered owners of the Certificates.  In addition, if bond insurance is obtained, 
the payment of the insurance premium is hereby approved and the Certificates may bear 
an appropriate legend as provided by the insurer. 
 

(b) The obligation of the Purchaser to accept delivery of the Certificates is 
subject to the Purchaser being furnished with the final, approving opinion of McCall, 
Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., bond counsel to the Issuer, which opinion shall be dated as of 
and delivered on the date of initial delivery of the Certificates to the Purchaser.  The 
engagement of such firm as bond counsel to the Issuer in connection with issuance, sale 
and delivery of the Certificates is hereby approved and confirmed. 



 12 

 
Section 9.  COVENANTS REGARDING TAX EXEMPTION OF INTEREST ON 

THE CERTIFICATES. 
 

(a) Covenants.  The Issuer covenants to take any action necessary to assure, 
or refrain from any action which would adversely affect, the treatment of the Certificates 
as obligations described in section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 
(the “Code”), the interest on which is not includable in the “gross income” of the holder 
for purposes of federal income taxation.  In furtherance thereof, the Issuer covenants as 
follows: 
 

(1) to take any action to assure that no more than 10 percent of the 
proceeds of the Certificates or the projects financed therewith (less amounts 
deposited to a reserve fund, if any) are used for any “private business use,” as 
defined in section 141(b)(6) of the Code or, if more than 10 percent of the 
proceeds or the projects financed therewith are so used, such amounts, whether 
or not received by the Issuer, with respect to such private business use, do not, 
under the terms of this Ordinance or any underlying arrangement, directly or 
indirectly, secure or provide for the payment of more than 10 percent of the debt 
service on the Certificates, in contravention of section 141(b)(2) of the Code; 

 
(2) to take any action to assure that in the event that the “private 

business use” described in subsection (1) hereof exceeds 5 percent of the proceeds 
of the Certificates or the projects financed therewith (less amounts deposited into 
a reserve fund, if any) then the amount in excess of 5 percent is used for a “private 
business use” which is “related” and not “disproportionate,” within the meaning of 
section 141(b)(3) of the Code, to the governmental use; 

 
(3) to take any action to assure that no amount which is greater than 

the lesser of $5,000,000, or 5 percent of the proceeds of the Certificates (less 
amounts deposited into a reserve fund, if any) is directly or indirectly used to 
finance loans to persons, other than state or local governmental units, in 
contravention of section 141(c) of the Code; 

 
(4) to refrain from taking any action which would otherwise result in the 

Certificates being treated as “private activity bonds” within the meaning of section 
141(b) of the Code; 

 
(5) to refrain from taking any action that would result in the Certificates 

being “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code; 
 

(6) to refrain from using any portion of the proceeds of the Certificates, 
directly or indirectly, to acquire or to replace funds which were used, directly or 
indirectly, to acquire investment property (as defined in section 148(b)(2) of the 



 13 

Code) which produces a materially higher yield over the term of the Certificates, 
other than investment property acquired with B 

 
(A) proceeds of the Certificates invested for a reasonable 

temporary period of 3 years or less or, in the case of a refunding bond, for 
a period of 90 days or less until such proceeds are needed for the purpose 
for which the bonds are issued, 

 
(B) amounts invested in a bona fide debt service fund, within the 

meaning of section l.148 1(b) of the Treasury Regulations, and 
 

(C) amounts deposited in any reasonably required reserve or 
replacement fund to the extent such amounts do not exceed 10 percent of 
the proceeds of the Certificates; 

 
(7) to otherwise restrict the use of the proceeds of the Certificates or 

amounts treated as proceeds of the Certificates, as may be necessary, so that the 
Certificates do not otherwise contravene the requirements of section 148 of the 
Code (relating to arbitrage);  

 
(8) to refrain from using the proceeds of the Certificates or proceeds of 

any prior bonds to pay debt service on another issue more than 90 days after the 
date of issue of the Certificates in contravention of the requirements of section 
149(d) of the Code (relating to advance refundings); and 

 
(9) to pay to the United States of America at least once during each five-

year period (beginning on the date of delivery of the Certificates) an amount that 
is at least equal to 90 percent of the “Excess Earnings,” within the meaning of 
section 148(f) of the Code and to pay to the United States of America, not later 
than 60 days after the Certificates have been paid in full, 100 percent of the 
amount then required to be paid as a result of Excess Earnings under section 
148(f) of the Code. 

 
(b) Rebate Fund.  In order to facilitate compliance with the above covenant (8), 

a “Rebate Fund” is hereby established by the Issuer for the sole benefit of the United 
States of America, and such fund shall not be subject to the claim of any other person, 
including without limitation the bondholders.  The Rebate Fund is established for the 
additional purpose of compliance with section 148 of the Code. 
 

(c) Use of Proceeds.  The Issuer understands that the term “proceeds” includes 
“disposition proceeds” as defined in the Treasury Regulations and, in the case of 
refunding bonds, transferred proceeds (if any) and proceeds of the refunded bonds 
expended prior to the date of issuance of the Certificates.  It is the understanding of the 
Issuer that the covenants contained herein are intended to assure compliance with the 
Code and any regulations or rulings promulgated by the U.S. Department of the Treasury 



 14 

pursuant thereto.  In the event that regulations or rulings are hereafter promulgated 
which modify or expand provisions of the Code, as applicable to the Certificates, the 
Issuer will not be required to comply with any covenant contained herein to the extent 
that such failure to comply, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, will not 
adversely affect the exemption from federal income taxation of interest on the Certificates 
under section 103 of the Code.  In the event that regulations or rulings are hereafter 
promulgated which impose additional requirements which are applicable to the 
Certificates, the Issuer agrees to comply with the additional requirements to the extent 
necessary, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, to preserve the 
exemption from federal income taxation of interest on the Certificates under section 103 
of the Code.  In furtherance of such intention, the Issuer hereby authorizes and directs 
the Mayor, the Mayor Pro Tem, the City Manager, the Finance Director and the City 
Secretary to execute any documents, certificates or reports required by the Code and to 
make such elections, on behalf of the Issuer, which may be permitted by the Code as are 
consistent with the purpose for the issuance of the Certificates. 
 

(d) Allocation of, and Limitation on, Expenditures for the Projects.  The Issuer 
covenants to account for the expenditure of sale proceeds and investment earnings to be 
used for the Projects on its books and records in accordance with the requirements of 
the Code.  The Issuer recognizes that in order for the proceeds to be considered used for 
the reimbursement of costs, the proceeds must be allocated to expenditures within 18 
months of the later of the date that (1) the expenditure is made, or (2) the Projects are 
completed; but in no event later than three years after the date on which the original 
expenditure is paid.  The foregoing notwithstanding, the Issuer recognizes that in order 
for proceeds to be expended under the Code, the sale proceeds or investment earnings 
must be expended no more than 60 days after the earlier of (1) the fifth anniversary of 
the delivery of the Certificates, or (2) the date the Certificates are retired. The Issuer 
agrees to obtain the advice of nationally-recognized bond counsel if such expenditure 
fails to comply with the foregoing to assure that such expenditure will not adversely affect 
the tax-exempt status of the Certificates.  For purposes hereof, the issuer shall not be 
obligated to comply with this covenant if it obtains an opinion that such failure to comply 
will not adversely affect the excludability for federal income tax purposes from gross 
income of the interest. 
 



 15 

(e) Disposition of the Projects.  The Issuer covenants that the property 
constituting the Projects will not be sold or otherwise disposed in a transaction resulting 
in the receipt by the Issuer of cash or other compensation, unless any action taken in 
connection with such disposition will not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the 
Certificates.  For purpose of the foregoing, the Issuer may rely on an opinion of nationally-
recognized bond counsel that the action taken in connection with such sale or other 
disposition will not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Certificates.  For 
purposes of the foregoing, the portion of the property comprising personal property and 
disposed in the ordinary course shall not be treated as a transaction resulting in the 
receipt of cash or other compensation.  For purposes hereof, the Issuer shall not be 
obligated to comply with this covenant if it obtains an opinion that such failure to comply 
will not adversely affect the excludability for federal income tax purposes from gross 
income of the interest. 

 
(f) Designation as Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations.  The Issuer hereby 

designates the Certificates as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” as defined in section 
265(b)(3) of the Code.  In furtherance of such designation, the Issuer represents, 
covenants and warrants the following: (a) that during the calendar year in which the 
Certificates are issued, the Issuer (including any subordinate entities) has not designated 
nor will designate bonds, which when aggregated with the Certificates, will result in more 
than $10,000,000 of “qualified tax-exempt obligations” being issued; (b) that the Issuer 
reasonably anticipates that the amount of tax-exempt obligations issued, during the 
calendar year in which the Certificates are issued, by the Issuer (or any subordinate 
entities) will not exceed $10,000,000; and, (c) that the Issuer will take such action or 
refrain from such action as necessary, and as more particularly set forth in this Section, 
in order that the Certificates will not be considered “private activity bonds” within the 
meaning of section 141 of the Code. 

 
Section 10. SALE OF CERTIFICATES AND APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT; FURTHER PROCEDURES. 
 

(a)  The Certificates are hereby sold and shall be delivered to _____ (the 
“Purchaser”) for the purchase price of $_____ (representing the aggregate principal 
amount of the Certificates, [plus a net reoffering premium] of $_____, less an 
underwriter’s discount of $_____).  The Certificates shall initially be registered in the 
name of the Purchaser or its designee.  It is hereby officially found, determined and 
declared that the terms of this sale are the most advantageous reasonably obtainable. 

 
(b)  It is hereby officially found, determined and declared that the Certificates have 

been sold at public sale to the bidder offering the lowest interest cost, after receiving 
sealed bids pursuant to an Official Notice of Sale and Bidding Instructions.  It is further 
officially found, determined and declared that the Certificates have been offered pursuant 
to a Preliminary Official Statement prepared and distributed in connection with the sale 
of the Certificates.  Said Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement, and any 
addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, have been and are hereby approved by the 



 16 

governing body of the Issuer, and its use in the offer and sale of the Certificates is hereby 
approved.  It is further officially found, determined and declared that the statements and 
representations contained in said Official Statement are true and correct in all material 
respects, to the best knowledge and belief of the Council. 

 
(c)  The Mayor, the Mayor Pro Tem, the City Manager, the Finance Director and 

the City Secretary, individually or jointly, shall be and they are hereby expressly 
authorized, empowered and directed from time to time and at any time to do and perform 
all such acts and things and to execute, acknowledge and deliver in the name and under 
the corporate seal and on behalf of the Issuer such documents, certificates and 
instruments, whether or not herein mentioned, as may be necessary or desirable in order 
to carry out the terms and provisions of this Ordinance, the Letter of Representations, 
the Certificates and the sale of the Certificates.  In addition, prior to the delivery of the 
Certificates, the Mayor, the Mayor Pro Tem, the City Manager, the Finance Director and 
the City Secretary are each hereby authorized and directed to approve any changes or 
corrections to this Ordinance or to any of the documents authorized and approved by this 
Ordinance: (i) in order to cure any ambiguity, formal defect, or omission in this Ordinance 
or such other document, or (ii) as requested by the Attorney General or his representative 
to obtain the approval of the Certificates by the Attorney General. In case any officer 
whose signature shall appear on any Certificate shall cease to be such officer before the 
delivery of such Certificate, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for 
all purposes the same as if such officer had remained in office until such delivery. 

 
Section 11.  INTEREST EARNINGS ON CERTIFICATE PROCEEDS.  Interest 

earnings derived from the investment of proceeds from the sale of the Certificates shall 
be used along with other Certificate proceeds for the Projects; provided that after 
completion of such purpose, if any of such interest earnings remain on hand, such interest 
earnings shall be deposited in the Interest and Sinking Fund.  It is further provided, 
however, that any interest earnings on certificate proceeds that are required to be 
rebated to the United States of America pursuant to the provisions hereof in order to 
prevent the Certificates from being arbitrage bonds shall be so rebated and not 
considered as interest earnings for the purposes of this Section.   

 
Section 12.  CONSTRUCTION FUND. 

 
(a) The Issuer hereby creates and establishes and shall maintain on the books 

of the Issuer a separate fund to be entitled the “Series 2022 Certificate of Obligation 
Construction Fund” (the “Construction Fund”) for use by the Issuer for payment of all 
lawful costs associated with the Projects as hereinbefore provided.  Proceeds of the 
Certificates in the amount of $_____ shall be deposited into the Construction Fund.  The 
remaining amounts of Certificate proceeds shall be used to pay the costs of issuance of 
the Certificates. Upon payment of all such Project costs, any moneys remaining on deposit 
in said Fund shall be transferred to the Interest and Sinking Fund.  Amounts so deposited 
to the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be used in the manner described herein. 
 



 17 

(b) The Issuer may place proceeds of the Certificates (including investment 
earnings thereon) and amounts deposited into the Interest and Sinking Fund in 
investments authorized by the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas 
Government Code, as amended; provided, however, that the Issuer hereby covenants 
that the proceeds of the sale of the Certificates will be used as soon as practicable for 
the purposes for which the Certificates are issued. 
 

(c) All deposits authorized or required by this Ordinance shall be secured to the 
fullest extent required by law for the security of public funds. 
 

Section 13.  COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15c2-12.  
 

(a)  Definitions.  As used in this Section, the following terms have the meanings 
ascribed to such terms below: 
 

“Financial Obligation” means a: (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument 
entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, 
an existing or planned debt obligation; or (c) a guarantee of the foregoing (a) and 
(b).  The term Financial Obligation does not include any municipal securities as to 
which a final official statement has been provided to the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board consistent with the Rule. 
 
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
 
“Rule” means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time. 
 
“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 



 18 

(b)   Annual Reports. 
 
  (i) The Issuer shall provide annually to the MSRB, in the electronic 
format prescribed by the MSRB certain updated financial information and operating data 
pertaining to the Issuer, consisting of the following: (1) the quantitative financial 
information and operating data of the type included in Appendix A to the Official 
Statement, exclusive of the schedules appearing under the headings “Tax Adequacy”, 
“Estimated Overlapping Debt” and “Estimated Overlapping Taxes”, and (2) the Issuer’s 
comprehensive annual financial report.  The Issuer will update and provide the 
information in the numbered tables within six months after the end of each fiscal year 
ending in and after 2022 and, if not submitted as part of such annual financial 
information, the Issuer will provide its audited financial statements when and if available, 
and in any event, within 12 months after the end of each fiscal year ending in and after 
2022.  If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within 12 months after 
any such fiscal year end, then the Issuer will file unaudited financial statements within 
such 12-month period and audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year, 
when and if the audit report on such statements becomes available.  Any such financial 
statements will be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles described in 
Appendix C to the Official Statement or such other accounting principles as the Issuer 
may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to State law or regulation. 
 
  (ii) Any financial information so to be provided shall be (i) prepared in 
accordance with the accounting principles described in the financial statements of the 
Issuer appended to the Official Statement, or such other accounting principles as the 
Issuer may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to state law or regulation, 
and (ii) audited, if the Issuer commissions an audit of such statements and the audit is 
completed within the period during which they must be provided.   
 

(iii) If the Issuer changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the 
change (and of the date of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the 
Issuer otherwise would be required to provide financial information and operating data 
pursuant to this Section.  The financial information and operating data to be provided 
pursuant to this Section may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be 
included by specific reference to any document that is available to the public on the 
MSRB’s internet website or filed with the SEC.  All documents provided to the MSRB 
pursuant to this Section shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by 
the MSRB. 
 
 (c) Event Notices. 
 
  (i) The Issuer shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten 
business days after the occurrence of the event, of any of the following events with 
respect to the Certificates: 
 

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 



 19 

(2) Non-payment related defaults, if material; 
(3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
difficulties; 
(4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial 
difficulties; 
(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 
(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 
proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue 
(IRS Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with 
respect to the tax status of the Certificates, or other material events 
affecting the tax status of the Certificates; 
(7) Modifications to rights of holders of the Certificates, if material; 
(8) Certificate calls, if material, and tender offers; 
(9) Defeasances; 
(10) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 
Certificates, if material; 
(11) Rating changes; 
(12) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of the Issuer; 
(13) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving 
the Issuer or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, 
other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into of a definitive 
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive 
agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if 
material; 
(14) Appointment of a successor or additional paying agent/registrar or the 
change of name of a paying agent/registrar, if material; 
(15) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, if material, or 
agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or 
other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, any of which 
affect security holders, if material; and 
(16) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of 
terms, or other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of 
the Issuer, any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

 
 For these purposes, (a) any event described in the immediately preceding 
paragraph (12) is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the 
appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the Issuer in a 
proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding 
under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed 
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Issuer, or if such 
jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials 
or officers of the Issuer in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of 
a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of 
reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental authority 
having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of 



 20 

the Issuer, and (b) the Issuer intends the words used in the immediately preceding 
paragraphs (15) and (16) and the definition of Financial Obligation in this Section 
to have the same meanings as when they are used in the Rule, as evidenced by 
SEC Release No. 34-83885, dated August 20, 2018. 
 
 In addition, the Issuer shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any 
failure by the Issuer to provide financial information or operating data in 
accordance with subsection (b) of this Section by the time required by subsection 
(b). 

 
(d)   Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments.  

 
 (i)   The Issuer shall be obligated to observe and perform the covenants 

specified in this Section for so long as, but only for so long as, the Issuer remains an 
“obligated person” with respect to the Certificates within the meaning of the Rule, except 
that the Issuer in any event will give notice of any deposit made in accordance with this 
Ordinance or applicable law that causes Certificates no longer to be outstanding.   
 

(ii)   The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the 
registered owners and beneficial owners of the Certificates, and nothing in this Section, 
express or implied, shall give any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim 
hereunder to any other person.  The Issuer undertakes to provide only the financial 
information, operating data, financial statements, and notices which it has expressly 
agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby undertake to provide any 
other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the 
Issuer’s financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any 
information provided in accordance with this Section or otherwise, except as expressly 
provided herein.  The Issuer does not make any representation or warranty concerning 
such information or its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Certificates at any 
future date. 
 

(iii)   UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE ISSUER BE LIABLE TO THE 
REGISTERED OWNER OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY CERTIFICATE OR ANY OTHER 
PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART 
FROM ANY BREACH BY THE ISSUER, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON 
ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND 
REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF 
ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC 
PERFORMANCE. 
 

(iv) No default by the Issuer in observing or performing its obligations 
under this Section shall comprise a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes 
of any other provision of this Ordinance.  Nothing in this Section is intended or shall act 
to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the duties of the Issuer under federal and state 
securities laws. 



 21 

 
(v) Should the Rule be amended to obligate the Issuer to make filings 

with or provide notices to entities other than the MSRB, the Issuer hereby agrees to 
undertake such obligation with respect to the Certificates in accordance with the Rule as 
amended.  The provisions of this Section may be amended by the Issuer from time to 
time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, 
a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the 
Issuer, but only if (1) the provisions of this Section, as so amended, would have permitted 
an underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in the primary offering of the Certificates 
in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of 
the Rule since such offering as well as such changed circumstances and (2) either (a) the 
registered owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any greater amount 
required by any other provision of this Ordinance that authorizes such an amendment) 
of the outstanding Certificates consent to such amendment or (b) a person that is 
unaffiliated with the Issuer (such as nationally recognized 1 counsel) determined that 
such amendment will not materially impair the interest of the registered owners and 
beneficial owners of the Certificates.  If the Issuer so amends the provisions of this 
Section, it shall include with any amended financial information or operating data next 
provided in accordance with subsection (b) of this Section an explanation, in narrative 
form, of the reason for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of 
financial information or operating data so provided.  The Issuer may also amend or repeal 
the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the 
applicable provision of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such 
provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent that the provisions of this 
sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling Certificates 
in the primary offering of the Certificates. 
 

Section 14.  METHOD OF AMENDMENT. The Issuer hereby reserves the right 
to amend this Ordinance subject to the following terms and conditions, to-wit: 
 

(a) The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of any holder, except 
as otherwise required by paragraph (b) below, amend or supplement this Ordinance in 
order to (i) cure any ambiguity, defect or omission in this Ordinance that does not 
materially adversely affect the interests of the holders, (ii) grant additional rights or 
security for the benefit of the holders, (iii) add events of default as shall not be 
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance and that shall not materially adversely 
affect the interests of the holders, (iv) qualify this Ordinance under the Trust Indenture 
Act of 1939, as amended, or corresponding provisions of federal laws from time to time 
in effect, or (v) make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising 
under this Ordinance as shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance 
and that shall not in the opinion of the Issuer’s Bond Counsel materially adversely affect 
the interests of the holders. 
 

(b) Except as provided in paragraph (a) above, the holders of Certificates 
aggregating a majority of the aggregate principal amount of then outstanding Certificates 



 22 

that are the subject of a proposed amendment shall have the right from time to time to 
approve any amendment hereto that may be deemed necessary or desirable by the 
Issuer; provided, however, that without the consent of 100% of the holders in aggregate 
principal amount of the then outstanding Certificates, nothing herein contained shall 
permit or be construed to permit amendment of the terms and conditions of this 
Ordinance or in any of the Certificates so as to: 
 

(1) Make any change in the maturity of any of the outstanding 
Certificates; 

 
(2) Reduce the rate of interest borne by any of the outstanding 
Certificates; 

 
(3) Reduce the amount of the principal of, or redemption premium, if 

any, payable on any outstanding Certificates; 
 

(4) Modify the terms of payment of principal or of interest or redemption 
premium on outstanding Certificates or any of them or impose any 
condition with respect to such payment; or 

 
(5) Change the minimum percentage of the principal amount of any 

series of Certificates necessary for consent to such amendment. 
 

(c)  If at any time the Issuer shall desire to amend this Ordinance under 
subsection (b) of this Section, the Issuer shall send by U.S. mail to each registered owner 
of the affected Certificates a copy of the proposed amendment. 
 

(d) Whenever at any time within one year from the date of mailing of such 
notice the Issuer shall receive an instrument or instruments executed by the holders of 
at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of all of the Certificates then outstanding 
that are required for the amendment, which instrument or instruments shall refer to the 
proposed amendment and that shall specifically consent to and approve such 
amendment, the Issuer may adopt the amendment in substantially the same form. 
 

(e) Upon the adoption of any amendatory Ordinance pursuant to the provisions 
of this Section, this Ordinance shall be deemed to be modified and amended in 
accordance with such amendatory Ordinance, and the respective rights, duties, and 
obligations of the Issuer and all holders of such affected Certificates shall thereafter be 
determined, exercised, and enforced, subject in all respects to such amendment. 
 

(f) Any consent given by the holder of a Certificate pursuant to the provisions 
of this Section shall be irrevocable for a period of six months from the date of the mailing 
of the notice provided for in this Section, and shall be conclusive and binding upon all 
future holders of the same Certificate during such period. Such consent may be revoked 
at any time after six months from the date of the mailing of said notice by the holder who 



 23 

gave such consent, or by a successor in title, by filing notice with the Issuer, but such 
revocation shall not be effective if the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount 
of the affected Certificates then outstanding, have, prior to the attempted revocation, 
consented to and approved the amendment. 
 

(g) For the purposes of establishing ownership of the Certificates, the Issuer 
shall rely solely upon the registration of the ownership of such Certificates on the 
registration books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar. 
 

Section 15.  DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 

(a)   Events of Default.  Each of the following occurrences or events for the 
purpose of this Ordinance is hereby declared to be an Event of Default: 
 

(i)  the failure to make payment of the principal of or interest on any of the 
Certificates when the same becomes due and payable; or 
 

(ii)  default in the performance or observance of any other covenant, 
agreement or obligation of the City, the failure to perform which materially, adversely 
affects the rights of the registered owners of the Certificates, including, but not limited 
to, their prospect or ability to be repaid in accordance with this Ordinance, and the 
continuation thereof for a period of 60 days after notice of such default is given by any 
Registered Owner to the City. 
 

(b)   Remedies for Default. 
 

(i)  Upon the happening of any Event of Default, then and in every case, 
any Registered Owner or an authorized representative thereof, including, but not limited 
to, a trustee or trustees therefor, may proceed against the City for the purpose of 
protecting and enforcing the rights of the Registered Owners under this Ordinance, by 
mandamus or other suit, action or special proceeding in equity or at law, in any court of 
competent jurisdiction, for any relief permitted by law, including the specific performance 
of any covenant or agreement contained herein, or thereby to enjoin any act or thing 
that may be unlawful or in violation of any right of the Registered Owners hereunder or 
any combination of such remedies. 
 

(ii)  It is provided that all such proceedings shall be instituted and 
maintained for the equal benefit of all Registered Owners of Certificates then outstanding. 
 

(c)  Remedies Not Exclusive. 
 

(i)  No remedy herein conferred or reserved is intended to be exclusive of 
any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be 
cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or under the 
Certificates or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity; provided, however, that 



 24 

notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, the right to accelerate the debt 
evidenced by the Certificates shall not be available as a remedy under this Ordinance. 
 

(ii)  The exercise of any remedy herein conferred or reserved shall not be 
deemed a waiver of any other available remedy. 
 

(iii)  By accepting the delivery of a Certificate authorized under this 
Ordinance, such Registered Owner agrees that the certifications required to effectuate 
any covenants or representations contained in this Ordinance do not and shall never 
constitute or give rise to a personal or pecuniary liability or charge against the officers, 
employees or trustees of the City or the Council. 
 

Section 16.  APPLICATION OF PREMIUM FROM SALE OF CERTIFICATES.  
The Certificates have a [net] reoffering premium of $_____, all of which shall be used to 
pay costs of issuance of the Certificates, including underwriter’s discount, with any surplus 
premium not used to pay such costs of issuance to be deposited into the Interest and 
Sinking Fund.] 

 
Section 17.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  In accordance with the provisions of Texas 

Government Code, Section 1201.028, this Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon 
its adoption by the Council. 
 

Section 18.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, article, paragraph, sentence, 
clause, phrase or word in this Ordinance, or application thereof to any persons or 
circumstances is held invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of this Ordinance, despite 
such invalidity, which remaining portions shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
Section 19.  APPROPRIATION.  To pay the debt service coming due on the 

Certificates, if any, prior to receipt of the taxes levied to pay such debt service, there is 
hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which are hereby certified to be on 
hand and available for such purpose, an amount sufficient to pay such debt service, and 
such amount shall be used for no other purpose. 

 
[Section 20. BOND INSURANCE. The Certificates shall be insured by a 

municipal bond insurance policy issued by __________.] 
 

------------------------------------------- 
 
PASSED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 14TH  DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2022. 
 
                                                                             
                                                         __________________________ 
                                                                  BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 



 25 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 
 
 
PASSED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 28TH DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2022. 
 
                                                                       
                                                          __________________________ 
                                                                   BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 



 A-1 

 Exhibit A 
 

FORM OF CERTIFICATES 
 

(a) The form of the Certificates, including the form of Paying Agent/Registrar’s 
Authentication Certificate, the form of Assignment and the form of Registration Certificate 
of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas to be attached to the 
Certificates initially issued and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, shall be, respectively, 
substantially as follows, with such appropriate variations, omissions or insertions as are 
permitted or required by this Ordinance. 
 

 
NO. R-__ 

 
 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF TEXAS 
CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS, 

COMBINATION TAX AND LIMITED SURPLUS 
REVENUE CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION, 

SERIES 2022 

 
 

 
PRINCIPAL 
AMOUNT 
$________ 

  
 

Interest Rate 
 
 

 
Issuance Date 

 
 

 
Maturity Date 

 
 

 
CUSIP No. 

 
_____% 

 
 

 
December 14, 2022 

 
 

 
November 15, 20__ 

 
 

 
 

 
REGISTERED OWNER:  
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT:   
 

ON THE MATURITY DATE specified above, the City of Navasota, located in Grimes 
and Brazos Counties, Texas (the “Issuer”), being a political subdivision and municipal 
corporation of the State of Texas, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner 
specified above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the “Registered Owner”), the 
Principal Amount specified above.  The Issuer promises to pay interest on the unpaid 
principal amount hereof (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day 
months) from the Issuance Date above at the Interest Rate per annum specified above.  
Interest is payable on May 15, 2023 and semiannually on each November 15 and May 15 
thereafter to the Maturity Date specified above, or the date of redemption prior to 
maturity; except, if this Certificate is required to be authenticated and the date of its 
authentication is later than the first Record Date (hereinafter defined), such Principal 
Amount shall bear interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of 
authentication, unless such date of authentication is after any Record Date but on or 
before the next following interest payment date, in which case such principal amount 
shall bear interest from such next following interest payment date; provided, however, 
that if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the Certificate or Certificates, 
if any, for which this Certificate is being exchanged is due but has not been paid, then 



 A-2 

this Certificate shall bear interest from the date to which such interest has been paid in 
full. 
 

THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON this Certificate are payable in lawful money 
of the United States of America, without exchange or collection charges.  The principal 
of this Certificate shall be paid to the registered owner hereof upon presentation and 
surrender of this Certificate at maturity, or upon the date fixed for its redemption prior 
to maturity, at the principal corporate trust office of BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas, which is 
the “Paying Agent/Registrar” for this Certificate. The payment of interest on this 
Certificate shall be made by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the registered owner hereof 
on each interest payment date by check or draft, dated as of such interest payment date, 
drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar on, and payable solely from, funds of the Issuer 
required by the ordinance authorizing the issuance of this Certificate (the “Certificate 
Ordinance”) to be on deposit with the Paying Agent/Registrar for such purpose as 
hereinafter provided; and such check or draft shall be sent by the Paying Agent/Registrar 
by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, on each such interest payment date, 
to the registered owner hereof, at its address as it appeared on the last business day of 
the month preceding each such date (the “Record Date”) on the Registration Books kept 
by the Paying Agent/Registrar, as hereinafter described.  In addition, interest may be 
paid by such other method, acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, requested by, and 
at the risk and expense of, the registered owner.  In the event of a non-payment of 
interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for 
such interest payment (a “Special Record Date”) will be established by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have been received 
from the Issuer.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date 
of the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be 
sent at least five business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, 
first-class postage prepaid, to the address of each owner of a Certificate appearing on 
the Registration Books at the close of business on the last business day next preceding 
the date of mailing of such notice. 
 

ANY ACCRUED INTEREST due at maturity or upon the redemption of this 
Certificate prior to maturity as provided herein shall be paid to the registered owner upon 
presentation and surrender of this Certificate for redemption and payment at the principal 
corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar.  The Issuer covenants with the 
registered owner of this Certificate that on or before each principal payment date, interest 
payment date, and accrued interest payment date for this Certificate it will make available 
to the Paying Agent/Registrar, from the “Interest and Sinking Fund” created by the 
Certificate Ordinance, the amounts required to provide for the payment, in immediately 
available funds, of all principal of and interest on the Certificates, when due. 
 

IF THE DATE for the payment of the principal of or interest on this Certificate shall 
be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions in the city 
where the principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are 
authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be 



 A-3 

the next succeeding day that is not such a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or day on 
which banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have 
the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due. 
 

THIS CERTIFICATE is dated December 1, 2022, and is authorized in accordance 
with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas in the principal amount of $_____ 
for paying all or a portion of the Issuer’s contractual obligations incurred in connection 
with (i) acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping additions, improvements, 
extensions and equipment for the City’s Waterworks, Sewer and Gas System (the 
“System”) and the acquisition of land and rights-of-way therefor and (ii) paying legal, 
fiscal and engineering fees in connection with such projects and paying the costs of 
issuance of the Certificates. 

 
ON NOVEMBER 15, 2031, or any date thereafter, the Certificates of this series may 

be redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, at the option of the Issuer, with funds 
derived from any available and lawful source, as a whole, or in part, and, if in part, the 
particular Certificates, or portions thereof, to be redeemed shall be selected and 
designated by the Issuer (provided that a portion of a Certificate may be redeemed only 
in an integral multiple of $5,000), at a redemption price equal to the principal amount to 
be redeemed plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

 
IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING OPTIONAL REDEMPTION, the Certificates 

scheduled to mature on November 15 in each of the years 20__ and 20__ (the “Term 
Certificates”) are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption by the Paying 
Agent/Registrar by lot, or by any other customary method that results in a random 
selection, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, out of moneys available for such purpose in the interest and sinking 
fund for the Certificates, on the dates and in the respective principal amounts, set forth 
in the following schedule: 

   
Term Certificate 

Maturity: November 15, 20__ 

 
 

 
Term Certificate 

Maturity: November 15, 20__ 
 

Mandatory Redemption 

Date 

 
 
 

Principal 
Amount 

 
 

 
Mandatory Redemption 

Date 

 
 

 
Principal 
Amount 

 
November 15, 20__ 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 
November 15, 20__ 

 
  

 
  

November 15, 20__ 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 
November 15, 20__ 

 
  

 
 

 
November 15, 20__ 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 
November 15, 20__ 

 
  

 
  

 November 15, 20__*   
 
 
 
 

 
 November 15, 20__* 

 
  

 
 

 

* Stated maturity. 

 
The principal amount of Term Certificates required to be redeemed on any mandatory 
redemption date pursuant to the operation of the mandatory sinking fund redemption 
provisions shall be reduced, at the option of the Issuer, by the principal amount of any 



 A-4 

Term Certificates which, at least 45 days prior to a mandatory redemption date (1) shall 
have been acquired by the Issuer at a price not exceeding the principal amount of such 
Term Certificates plus accrued interest to the date of purchase thereof, and delivered to 
the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, (2) shall have been purchased and canceled 
by the Paying Agent/Registrar at the request of the Issuer at a price not exceeding the 
principal amount of such Term Certificates plus accrued interest to the date of purchase, 
or (3) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions and not 
theretofore credited against a mandatory redemption requirement. 
 

AT LEAST THIRTY days prior to the date fixed for any redemption of Certificates 
or portions thereof prior to maturity a written notice of such redemption shall be sent by 
the Paying Agent/Registrar by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid to the 
registered owner of each Certificate to be redeemed at its address as it appeared on the 
45th day prior to such redemption date; provided, however, that the failure of the 
registered owner to receive such notice, or any defect therein or in the sending or mailing 
thereof, shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the proceedings for the redemption 
of any Certificate.  By the date fixed for any such redemption due provision shall be made 
with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the required redemption price for the 
Certificates or portions thereof that are to be so redeemed.  If such written notice of 
redemption is sent and if due provision for such payment is made, all as provided above, 
the Certificates or portions thereof that are to be so redeemed thereby automatically shall 
be treated as redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, and they shall not bear 
interest after the date fixed for redemption, and they shall not be regarded as being 
outstanding except for the right of the registered owner to receive the redemption price 
from the Paying Agent/Registrar out of the funds provided for such payment.  If a portion 
of any Certificate shall be redeemed, a substitute Certificate or Certificates having the 
same maturity date, bearing interest at the same rate, in any denomination or 
denominations in any integral multiple of $5,000, at the written request of the registered 
owner, and in aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof, will 
be issued to the registered owner upon the surrender thereof for cancellation, at the 
expense of the Issuer, all as provided in the Certificate Ordinance. 
 

WITH RESPECT TO ANY OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE CERTIFICATES, unless 
certain prerequisites to such redemption required by the Certificate Ordinance have been 
met and money sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the 
Certificates to be redeemed will have been received by the Paying Agent/Registrar prior 
to the giving of such notice of redemption, such notice may state that said redemption 
may, at the option of the Issuer, be conditional upon the satisfaction of such prerequisites 
and receipt of such money by the Paying Agent/Registrar on or prior to the date fixed for 
such redemption or upon any prerequisite set forth in such notice of redemption.  If a 
conditional notice of redemption is given and such prerequisites to the redemption are 
not fulfilled, such notice will be of no force and effect, the Issuer will not redeem such 
Certificates, and the Paying Agent/Registrar will give notice in the manner in which the 
notice of redemption was given, to the effect that such Certificates have not been 
redeemed. 



 A-5 

 
ALL CERTIFICATES OF THIS SERIES are issuable solely as fully registered 

certificates, without interest coupons, in the principal denomination of any integral 
multiple of $5,000. As provided in the Certificate Ordinance, this Certificate may, at the 
request of the registered owner or the assignee or assignees hereof, be assigned, 
transferred, converted into and exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of fully 
registered certificates, without interest coupons, payable to the appropriate registered 
owner, assignee or assignees, as the case may be, having the same denomination or 
denominations in any integral multiple of $5,000 as requested in writing by the 
appropriate registered owner, assignee or assignees, as the case may be, upon surrender 
of this Certificate to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, all in accordance with 
the form and procedures set forth in the Certificate Ordinance.  Among other 
requirements for such assignment and transfer, this Certificate must be presented and 
surrendered to the Paying Agent/Registrar, together with proper instruments of 
assignment, in form and with guarantee of signatures satisfactory to the Paying 
Agent/Registrar, evidencing assignment of this Certificate or any portion or portions 
hereof in any integral multiple of $5,000 to the assignee or assignees in whose name or 
names this Certificate or any such portion or portions hereof is or are to be registered.  
The form of Assignment printed or endorsed on this Certificate may be executed by the 
registered owner to evidence the assignment hereof, but such method is not exclusive, 
and other instruments of assignment satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar may be 
used to evidence the assignment of this Certificate or any portion or portions hereof from 
time to time by the registered owner.  The Paying Agent/Registrar’s reasonable standard 
or customary fees and charges for assigning, transferring, converting and exchanging 
any Certificate or portion thereof will be paid by the Issuer.  In any circumstance, any 
taxes or governmental charges required to be paid with respect thereto shall be paid by 
the one requesting such assignment, transfer, conversion or exchange, as a condition 
precedent to the exercise of such privilege.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall not be 
required to make any such transfer, conversion or exchange of any Certificates during 
the period commencing with the close of business on any Record Date and ending with 
the opening of business on the next following principal or interest payment date or, with 
respect to any Certificate or any portion thereof called for redemption prior to maturity, 
within 45 days prior to its redemption date; provided, however, such limitation on transfer 
shall not be applicable to an exchange by the registered owner of the uncalled balance 
of a Certificate called for redemption in part. 
 

IN THE EVENT any Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates is changed by the 
Issuer, resigns, or otherwise ceases to act as such, the Issuer has covenanted in the 
Certificate Ordinance that it promptly will appoint a competent and legally qualified 
substitute therefor, and cause written notice thereof to be mailed to the registered owners 
of the Certificates. 
 

IT IS HEREBY certified, recited and covenanted that this Certificate has been duly 
and validly authorized, issued and delivered; that all acts, conditions and things required 
or proper to be performed, exist and be done precedent to or in the authorization, 



 A-6 

issuance and delivery of this Certificate have been performed, existed and been done in 
accordance with law; that annual ad valorem taxes sufficient to provide for the payment 
of the interest on and principal of this Certificate, as such interest comes due and such 
principal matures, have been levied and ordered to be levied against all taxable property 
in said Issuer, and have been pledged for such payment, within the limits prescribed by 
law, and that this Certificate is additionally secured by and payable from a limited pledge 
of $1,000 of the Surplus Revenues of the System remaining after payment of all operation 
and maintenance expenses thereof, and all debt service, reserve, and other requirements 
in connection with all of the Issuer’s revenue bonds or other obligations (now or hereafter 
outstanding) which are payable from all or any part of the net revenues of the System, 
all as provided in the Certificate Ordinance. 
 

THE ISSUER HAS RESERVED THE RIGHT to amend the Certificate Ordinance as 
provided therein, and under some (but not all) circumstances amendments thereto must 
be approved by the registered owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 
outstanding Certificates. 
 

BY BECOMING the registered owner of this Certificate, the registered owner 
thereby acknowledges all of the terms and provisions of the Certificate Ordinance, agrees 
to be bound by such terms and provisions, acknowledges that the Certificate Ordinance 
is duly recorded and available for inspection in the official minutes and records of the 
governing body of the Issuer, and agrees that the terms and provisions of this Certificate 
and the Certificate Ordinance constitute a contract between each registered owner hereof 
and the Issuer. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Certificate to be signed with 
the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor of the Issuer and countersigned with the 
manual or facsimile signature of the City Secretary of said Issuer, and has caused the 
official seal of the Issuer to be duly impressed, or placed in facsimile, on this Certificate. 
 
 
              
City Secretary      Mayor 
City of Navasota, Texas    City of Navasota, Texas 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR’S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE 
 (To be executed if this Certificate is not accompanied by an executed Registration  
 Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas) 
 

It is hereby certified that this Certificate has been issued under the provisions of 
the Certificate Ordinance described in the text of this Certificate; and that this Certificate 
has been issued in conversion or replacement of, or in exchange for, a certificate, 
certificates, or a portion of a certificate or certificates of a series that originally was 



 A-7 

approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and registered by the Comptroller 
of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 
 
Dated: _______________. BOKF, NA, 

Dallas, Texas 
Paying Agent/Registrar 

 
By: _________________________________ 
 Authorized Representative 

 
ASSIGNMENT 

 
For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto: 
 

_____________________________________________________________ 
Please insert Social Security or Taxpayer Identification Number of Transferee 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 

Please print or type name and address, including zip code of Transferee 
 
the within Certificate and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and 
appoints: 
____________________________________, attorney, to register the transfer of the 
within Certificate on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution 
in the premises. 
 
 
Dated:  __________________. 
 
Signature Guaranteed: 
 

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed 
by an eligible guarantor institution 
participating in a securities transfer 
association recognized signature 
guarantee program. 

 NOTICE: The signature above must 
correspond with the name of the 
registered owner as it appears upon the 
front of this Certificate in every particular, 
without alteration or enlargement or any 
change whatsoever. 

 
COMPTROLLER’S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE: REGISTER NO. __________ 

 
I hereby certify that this Certificate has been examined, certified as to validity and 

approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Certificate has been 
registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.  
 

Witness my signature and seal this _______________. 



 A-8 

 
_________________________________ 
Comptroller of Public Accounts 
of the State of Texas 

 
(COMPTROLLER’S SEAL) 
 

[STATEMENT OF INSURANCE 
 
__________ (“_____”), ___, ___, has delivered its municipal bond insurance policy (the 
“Policy”) with respect to the scheduled payments due of principal of and interest on this 
Certificate to BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas, or its successor, as paying agent for the 
Certificates (the “Paying Agent”). Said Policy is on file and available for inspection at the 
principal office of the Paying Agent and a copy thereof may be obtained from _____ or 
the Paying Agent. All payments required to be made under the Policy shall be made in 
accordance with the provisions thereof. By its purchase of these Certificates, the owner 
acknowledges and consents (i) to the subrogation and all other rights of _____ as more 
fully set forth in the Policy and (ii) that upon the occurrence and continuance of a default 
or an event of default under the Ordinance or this Certificate, _____ shall be deemed to 
be the sole owner of the Certificates for all purposes and shall be entitled to control and 
direct the enforcement of all rights and remedies granted to the owners of the Certificates 
or the trustee, paying agent, registrar or similar agent for the benefit of such owners 
under the Ordinance, at law or in equity.] 
 

(b) Initial Certificate Insertions. 
 

(i) The initial Certificate shall be in the form set forth is paragraph (a) 
of this Section, except that: 

 
A. immediately under the name of the Certificate, the headings 

“Interest Rate” and “Maturity Date” shall both be completed 
with the words “As shown below” and “CUSIP No. _____” shall 
be deleted. 

 
B. the first paragraph shall be deleted and the following will be 

inserted: 
 
 “THE CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS, in Grimes and Brazos Counties, Texas (the 
“Issuer”), being a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, 
hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner specified above, or registered assigns 
(hereinafter called the “Registered Owner”), on November 15 in each of the years, in the 
principal amounts and bearing interest at the per annum rates set forth in the following 
schedule 
 



 A-9 

Years  
Principal 
Amount  

Interest 
Rates  Years  

Principal 
Amount  

Interest 
Rates 

2023       2033      

2024       2034      

2025       2035      

2026       2036      

2027       2037      

2028       2038      

2029       2039      

2030       2040      

2031       2041      

2032       2042      

 
The Issuer promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof (calculated on 
the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) from the Issuance Date above, at 
the respective Interest Rate per annum specified above.  Interest is payable on May 15, 
2023 and semiannually on each November 15 and May 15 thereafter to the date of 
payment of the principal installment specified above, or the date of redemption prior to 
maturity; except, that if this Certificate is required to be authenticated and the date of its 
authentication is later than the first Record Date (hereinafter defined), such Principal 
Amount shall bear interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of 
authentication, unless such date of authentication is after any Record Date but on or 
before the next following interest payment date, in which case such principal amount 
shall bear interest from such next following interest payment date; provided, however, 
that if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the Certificate or Certificates, 
if any, for which this Certificate is being exchanged is due but has not been paid, then 
this Certificate shall bear interest from the date to which such interest has been paid in 
full.” 
 

C. The initial Certificate shall be numbered “T-1.” 



 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #8 

 

Agenda Date Requested:  November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Susie Homeyer, City Secretary  
Department: Administration  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  
 
Exhibits: Minutes for October 2022; Expenditures 
for October 2022, Ordinance No. 1011-22, 
Ordinance No. 1012-22 and Resolution No. 722-22 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #8 
Consent agenda items are: 

A. Approve the minutes for the month of October 2022 
 

B. Approve the expenditures for the month of October 2022 
 

C. Approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, tax roll ordinance for 
tax year 2022, Grimes County portion 
 

D. Approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, tax roll ordinance for 
the tax year 2022, Brazos County portion 
 

E. Approve Resolution No. 722-22, City of Navasota Investment Policy and 
Strategy 
 

 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 
Consent agenda items may be acted upon with one motion and vote. No separate 
discussion or action is necessary unless requested by the Mayor or City 
Councilmember, in which event the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda 
for separate discussion and/or action by the City Council as part of the regular 
agenda. 
 
A&B: Staff has placed the minutes and expenditures for the month of October 2022 
on the consent agenda for approval. 
 
C. Staff has placed the first reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, tax roll ordinance for 

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   



the Grimes County portion on the consent agenda for approval. 

D. Staff has placed the first reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, tax roll ordinance for 
the Brazos County portion on the consent agenda for approval. 

E.  Staff has placed Resolution No. 722-22, reviewing the City of Navasota 
Investment Policy and Strategy with no changes on the consent agenda for approval. 

 
 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
Approve Consent Agenda: Approve the minutes and expenditures for the 
month of October 2022; the first reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, tax roll 
ordinance for the Grimes County portion; the first reading of Ordinance No. 
1012-22, tax roll ordinance for the Brazos County portion and Resolution No. 
722-22, the City of Navasota Investment Policy and Strategy. 
 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

 
 
     
Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 

11/10/2022



MINUTES 

REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 10, 2022 

The City Council of the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas met at the City 
Council Chambers, Room No. 161, located at 200 E. McAlpine Street at 6:00 p.m., 
Navasota, Texas on the above date with the following being present: 

Bernie Gessner, Councilmember, Place # 1 

Pattie Pederson, Councilmember, Place # 2 

                           Josh M. Fultz, Councilmember, Place # 3 

Bert Miller, Mayor, Place # 4 

Grant E. Holt, Mayor Pro-Tem, Place # 5 

 

Thus constituting a quorum. 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Jason Weeks, City Manager; Susie M. Homeyer, City Secretary; 
Lance Hall, Finance Director; Cary Bovey, Legal Counsel; Bobbie Ullrich, Marketing and 
Communication Director; Jennifer Reyna, Director of Utilities; Mike Mize, Police Chief; 
Mark Butler, Police Officer; Evette Fannin, Grants Coordinator; Michelle Savensky, 
Executive Administrative Assistant; and Jose Coronilla, Director of Streets and 
Sanitation. 
 
VISITORS: Connie Clements, Deborah Richardson, Mac Vaughn, Kelle Odom, Rolando 
Crawford, Bobbie Creeks, Lydell Crawford, Siana Smith and Sara Nevius. 

THE ITEMS ON THE AGENDA WERE TAKEN UP IN DUE ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

1.  Mayor Bert Miller called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
2.  Invocation was given by Mac Vaughn. The City Council, staff members and 
visitors then recited the Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag and the Texas 
Flag. 
 
3. Remarks of visitors: Lydell Crawford addressed the City Council concerning 
the violence in the community.  He said that we need to get control of crime 
and ask the City Council for their help and support. 
 

4. Staff report: 

 

a) Director of Utilities Jennifer Reyna gave an update on the 2020 Utility CIP, 
the AWOS system at the airport and the Downtown Streetscape project; 

 
 



b) Director of Streets and Sanitation Jose Coronilla gave an update on the CIP 
Street project for 2022-2023; 
 

c) Executive Administrative Assistant Michelle Savensky introduced the new 
Artists in Residency and gave a little background on each artist; 
 

d) There was not an update on Boards and Commissions; and 

e)  Councilmembers and staff informed the audience about upcoming events. 
 
5.  Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt moved to authorize the issuing of proposals for 
the 2023-2024 Texas Community Development Block Grant Program 
administered by the Texas Department of Agriculture, seconded by 
Councilmember Pattie Pederson and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the 
motion carried. 
 
6.  Councilmember Josh Fultz moved to approve the first reading of Ordinance 
No. 1009-22, denying Entergy Texas, Inc.’s statement of intent and application 
for authority to change rates filed on July 1, 2022, seconded by Councilmember 
Bernie Gessner and with Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
7.Councilmember Bernie Gessner moved to approve the consent agenda items 
which includes the minutes for the month of September 2022, Change Order No. 
3 for the construction of the New Public Works warehouse in the amount of 
$450.00 for the new Public Works warehouse that will be located at the 
wastewater treatment plant at 108 S. Peeples Street; and Change Order No. 3 
for the Wastewater Treatment Plant CIP Phase # 1 project which included a 
flowable fill bid item in the amount of a deduct of ($950.00) on the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Headworks and Rotor improvement project, seconded by 
Councilmember Josh Fultz and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion 
carried.  
 
8. Mayor Bert Miller adjourned the meeting at 6:39 p.m. 

_________________________ 

BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 



MINUTES 

REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 24, 2022 

The City Council of the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas met at the City 
Council Chambers, Room No. 161, located at 200 E. McAlpine Street at 6:00 p.m., 
Navasota, Texas on the above date with the following being present: 

Bernie Gessner, Councilmember, Place # 1 

Pattie Pederson, Councilmember, Place # 2 

                           Josh M. Fultz, Councilmember, Place # 3 

Bert Miller, Mayor, Place # 4 

Grant E. Holt, Mayor Pro-Tem, Place # 5 

 

Thus constituting a quorum. 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Jason Weeks, City Manager; Susie M. Homeyer, City Secretary; 
Lupe Diosdado, Development Services Director; Cary Bovey, Legal Counsel; Bobbie 
Ullrich, Marketing and Communications Director; Jennifer Reyna, Director of Utilities; 
Rayna Teicheira, Economic Development Director; Jason Katkoski, Fire Chief/EMC; 
Mike Mize, Police Chief; Michelle Savensky, Executive Administrative Assistant; Pat 
Gruner, Municipal Judge; Rochelle Jessie, Municipal Court Clerk; and Mark Butler, 
Police Officer. 
 
VISITORS: Connie Clements, Deborah Richardson, Mac Vaughn, Ethan Barcak; 
Michelle Steinhauser, Mark Frnka, Paul Stankiewicz, James Harris and Dia Copeland. 

THE ITEMS ON THE AGENDA WERE TAKEN UP IN DUE ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

1.  Mayor Bert Miller called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
2.  Invocation was given by Mac Vaughn. The City Council, staff members and 
visitors then recited the Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag and the Texas 
Flag. 
 
3. Remarks of visitors: Dia Copeland addressed the City Council and 
complimented Utility Billing Manager Melody Binford and Meter Technician Alan 
Somers on the way they handled a water leak she had at her home while she 
was out state. 
 

4. Staff report: 

 

a) Mayor Bert Miller proclaimed November 7-11, 2022 as “Municipal Court 
Week”; October 23-31, 2022 as “Red Ribbon Week” and November 14-20, 
2022 as “National Apprenticeship Week”. 



b) There were not any updates on Boards and Commissions; and 
 

c)  Councilmembers and staff informed the audience about upcoming events. 
 
5.  Councilmember Bernie Gessner moved to adopt Resolution No. 721-22, 
ratifying the publication of the notice of intention to issue certificates of 
obligation in a newspaper of general circulation in the City, seconded by 
Councilmember Josh Fultz and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion 
carried. 
 
6.  Councilmember Josh Fultz moved to appoint Mike Harris, Johnny McNally and 
Roger Lawrence to the Economic Development Board for a two-year term 
ending in September 2024, seconded by Councilmember Pattie Pederson and 
with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
Councilmember Pattie Pederson moved to appoint John Walla, Carolyn Katkoski 
and Dia Copeland to the Planning and Zoning Commission for a two-year term 
ending in September 2024, seconded by Councilmember Bernie Gessner and 
with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt moved to appoint Ethan Barcak and Paul Stankiewicz 
as full time members of the Board of Adjustment and Nancy Vidotto and Mac 
Vaughn as alternates of the Board of Adjustment for a two-year period ending in 
September 2024, seconded by Councilmember Pattie Pederson and with each 
Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt moved to appoint Michael Dearing, Martha Newsome 
and Mark Frnka to the Airport Advisory Board for a two-year period ending in 
September 2024, seconded by Councilmember Pattie Pederson and with each 
Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 

 Councilmember Josh Fultz moved to appoint Megan Barcak and Rebecca Cole to  
Keep Navasota Beautiful Committee for a two-year term ending in September 
2024, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt and with each Councilmember 
voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt moved to appoint David Tullos, Deborah Grimes, 
Margaret Eppler and Jessica Matthews to the Library Advisory Board for a two-
year term ending in September 2024, seconded by Councilmember Pattie 
Pederson and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
Councilmember Bernie Gessner moved to appoint Mac Vaughn, Richard Grimes 
and Debra McGregor to the Navasota Housing Authority Board for a two-year 
term ending in September 2024, seconded by Councilmember Pattie Pederson 
and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 



Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt moved to appoint Barry Colbert, Rebecca Cole, 
Jessica Matthews and Michele Steinhauser to the Parks and Recreation Board for 
a two-year period ending in September 2024, seconded by Councilmember 
Bernie Gessner and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
7.  Councilmember Bernie Gessner moved to approve the consent agenda items 
which include the expenditures for the month of September 2022, the second 
reading of Ordinance No. 1009-22, denying Entergy Texas, Inc’s statement of 
intent and application for authority to change rates filed on July 1, 2022; and 
Change Order No. 2 in the amount of $5,380.00 for the Navasota Street and 
Utilities CIP – 2022 Downtown Watermain Replacement on LaSalle and 
Washington Avenue, seconded by Councilmember Josh Fultz and with each 
Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 
 
8. The City Council met in Executive Session in accordance with Texas 
Government Code, Section 551.072, deliberations regarding real property, for 
the purpose of discussion and deliberation regarding the City of Navasota’s 
potential acquisition of real property for City projects/purposes.  The time was 
6:55 p.m. 
 
9.  The City Council reconvened in open session at 7:14 p.m. 
 
10. Councilmember Pattie Pederson moved that the City Manager, or his 
designee, be authorized to participate in the tax foreclosure sale bidding process 
to attempt to acquire the property identified in Executive Session and authorize 
the City Manager to execute any necessary documentation. 
 
11. Mayor Bert Miller adjourned the meeting at 7:15 p.m. 

_________________________ 

BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 























































































 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #8C 

 

Agenda Date Requested: November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Lance Hall, Director  
Department: Financial Services  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  

 
Exhibits: Ordinance No. 1011-22 and Grimes County 
Tax Roll 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #8C 
 
Approval of first reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, approving the Grimes County 
tax roll for the year 2022. 
 
 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 

Section 26.09 of the Texas Property Code requires approval by the City Council of the 
appraisal roll with tax amounts entered by the tax assessor for the tax year 2022. The 
appraisal roll for the Grimes County portion of the City of Navasota FY 2022-2023 is 
$3,333,589.52. This is an increase of 15.15% from the last year, which was 
$2,894,843.19. 
 

 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
 
Approval of first reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, approving the Grimes 
County tax roll for the tax year 2022. 

 
 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

  
 
    
Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   

11/10/2022



ORDINANCE NO. 1011-22 

TAX ROLL ORDINANCE FOR TAX YEAR 2022 

CITY OF NAVASOTA 

Grimes County Portion 

 

 

WHEREAS, Section 26.09 of the Texas Property Code requires approval by the City 

Council of the City of Navasota of the appraisal roll with tax amounts entered by the tax 

assessor, for the tax year 2022 and 

 

WHEREAS, the Chief appraiser, acting as tax-assessor-collector, has calculated, and 

entered the tax imposed on each property included on the appraisal roll for the Grimes 

County Portion of the City of Navasota and submitted it by reference to the City Council 

of the City of Navasota, and 

 

WHEREAS, said City Council voted in open session to approve said roll; therefore, 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE City Council of the City of Navasota that on this 

14th day of November 2022 the appraisal-roll for the Grimes County portion of the City 

of Navasota with tax amounts entered totaling $3,333,589.52 for tax year 2022 is 

approved and is the tax roll for the Grimes County Portion of the City of Navasota for 

tax year 2022. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 14TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022. 

 

                                                        ________________________ 

                                                                  BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 

 

 

 



PASSED AND APPROVED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 28TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022. 

 

 

                                                          _______________________ 

                                                                  BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 







 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #8D 

 

Agenda Date Requested: November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Lance Hall, Director  
Department: Financial Services  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  

 
Exhibits: Ordinance No. 1012-22 and Brazos County 
Tax Roll 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #8D 
 
Approval of first reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, approving the Brazos County 
tax roll for the year 2022. 
 
 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 

Section 26.09 of the Texas Property Code requires approval by the City Council of the 
appraisal roll with tax amounts entered by the tax assessor for the tax year 2022. The 
appraisal roll for the Brazos County portion of the City of Navasota FY 2022-2023 is 
$1,190.83. This is a decrease of 3.17% from the last year, which was $1,229.90. 
 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
 
Approval of first reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, approving the Brazos County 
tax roll for the tax year 2022. 

 
 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

  
 
    
Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   

11/10/2022









ORDINANCE NO. 1012-22 

TAX ROLL ORDINANCE FOR TAX YEAR 2022 

CITY OF NAVASOTA 

Brazos County Portion 

 

WHEREAS, Section 26.09 of the Texas Property Code requires approval by the City 

Council of the City of Navasota of the appraisal roll with tax amounts entered by the tax 

assessor, for the tax year 2022 and 

 

WHERES, the Chief appraiser, acting as tax-assessor-collector, has calculated and 

entered the tax imposed on each property included on the appraisal roll for the Brazos 

County Portion of the City of Navasota and submitted it by reference to the City Council 

of the City of Navasota, and 

 

WHEREAS, said City Council voted in open session to approve said roll; therefore, 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE City Council of the City of Navasota that on this 

14th day of November,2022, the appraisal roll for the Brazos County portion of the City 

of Navasota with tax amounts entered totaling $1,190.83 for tax year 2022 is approved 

and is the tax roll for the Brazos County Portion of the City of Navasota for tax year 

2022. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 14TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022. 

 

                                                         ________________________ 

                                                                  BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PASSED AND APPROVED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 28th DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 2022. 

 

                                                         ________________________ 

                                                                  BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 



 
REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM #8E 

 

Agenda Date Requested: November 14, 2022  
Requested By: Lance Hall, Director  
Department: Financial Services  

 Report  Resolution  Ordinance  
  

 
Exhibits: Resolution No. 722-22 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #8E 
 
Approve Resolution No. 722-22, the City of Navasota Investment Policy and 
Strategy. 
 
 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATION 
 
Chapter 2256 of the Texas Local Government Code, commonly known as the “Public 
Funds Investment Act”, requires a municipality adopt an investment policy by rule, 
order, ordinance, or resolution. The investment policy shall be reviewed and approved 
annually by the governing body. Staff has reviewed the policy and are not 
recommending any changes. 
 

 

ACTION REQUIRED BY CITY COUNCIL 
 
Approval of Resolution No 722-22, the City of Navasota Investment Policy and 
Strategy. 

 
 

Approved for the City Council meeting agenda 

  
 
    
Jason B. Weeks, City Manager  Date 
 

Appropriation 

Source of Funds: N/A 
 

Account Number: N/A 
 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 
 

Amount Requested: N/A 
 

Budgeted Item:  Yes  No  
   

11/10/2022



 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 722-22 

 
     A RESOLUTION REVIEWING THE CITY OF NAVASOTA 

INVESTMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 
 

WHEREAS, the City is required to review the City’s investment policy and 
strategy annually; and 
 
WHEREAS, this review is authorized by the Public Funds Investment Act, as 
amended. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Navasota: 
 
     That the City of Navasota Investment Policy and Strategy, attached hereto as 
“Exhibit A” is hereby approved as the investment policy and strategy of the City 
of Navasota effective November 14, 2022. 
 
PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the City of 
Navasota this the 14th day of November, 2022 
                                                        
                                                                                   
                                                            _______________________________ 
                                                                     BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
“EXHIBIT A” 

 
CITY OF NAVASOTA 

INVESTMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 
ADOPTED NOVEMBER 14, 2022 

 
I. INTRODUCTION 
 
It is the policy of the City of Navasota that the administration of its 
funds and the investments of those funds shall be handled as its 
highest public trust. Investments shall be made in a manner which will 
provide the maximum security of the principal while meeting the daily 
cash flow needs of the City and conforming to the Public Funds 
Investment Act (the “Act”) Texas Government Code Chapter 2256. It is 
the intent of the City to be in complete compliance with local law and 
the Act. 

 
The receipt of a market rate of return will be secondary to the 
requirements for safety and liquidity. The earnings from the 
investment will be used in a manner that best serves the interests of 
the City. 

 
The purpose of this policy is to set specific investment policy and 
strategy guidelines. Direct specific investment parameters or the 
investment of public funds in Texas are found in the Act. The Public 
Funds Collateral Act, Chapter 2257, Texas Government Code, specifies 
collateral requirements for all public Texas Funds Deposits. 
 
II. SCOPE 
 
This investment policy applies to all financial assets of the City of Navasota, and 
any new funds created unless specifically exempted by the City Council and this 
policy.  
 
III. OBJECTIVES 
 
The City of Navasota shall manage and invest its cash with four objectives, listed 
in order of priority: Safety, liquidity, yield and diversification. The safety of the 
principal invested always remains the primary objective. All investments shall be 
designed and managed in a manner responsive to the public trust and consistent 
with state and local law. 
 
The city shall maintain a comprehensive cash management program which 
includes a collection of accounts receivable, vendor payment in accordance with 
invoice terms, and prudent investment of available cash. Cash management is 



defined as the process of managing monies to insure required cash availability 
and reasonable market yield on short-term investment of pooled idle cash. 
 

• Safety. The primary objective of the city’s investment activity is the 
preservation of capital in the overall portfolio. Each investment transaction 
shall be conducted in a manner to avoid capital losses, whether they be 
from securities defaults or erosion of market value. 

 
• Liquidity. The city’s investment portfolio shall be structured such that the 

city is able to meet obligations in a timely manner. This shall be achieved 
by matching investment maturities with forecasted cash flow requirements 
and by investing in securities with active secondary markets. 

 
• Yield. The city’s cash management portfolio shall be designed with the 

objective of regularly exceeding the average rate of return on U.S. 
Treasury Bills at a maturity level comparable to the city’s weighted 
average maturity in days. The investment program shall seek to augment 
returns above this threshold consistent with risk limitations identified 
herein and prudent investment policies. 

 
• Diversification. The portfolio shall be diversified by institution, market 

sector and maturity as much as possible. 
  
IV. INVESTMENT STRATEGY  
 
The City maintains portfolios, which utilize four specific investment strategy 
considerations, designed to address the unique characteristics of the fund groups 
represented in the portfolios:  

 
• Investment strategies for operating funds and commingled pools 

containing operating funds have as their primary objective to assure that 
anticipated cash flows are matched with adequate investment liquidity. 
The secondary objective is to create a portfolio structure, which will 
experience minimal volatility during economic cycles. This may be 
accomplished by purchasing high quality, short- to medium-term securities 
which will complement each other in a laddered or barbell maturity 
structure. The dollar weighted average maturity of 365 days or less will be 
calculated using the stated final maturity date of each security. 
 

• Investment strategies for debt service funds shall have as the primary 
objective the assurance of investment liquidity adequate to cover the debt 
service obligation on the required payment date. Securities purchased 
shall not have a stated final maturity date which exceeds the debt service 
payment date. 
 

• Investment strategies for debt service reserve funds shall have as the 
primary objective the ability to generate a dependable revenue stream to 



the appropriate debt service fund from securities with a low degree of 
volatility. Securities should be of high quality and, except as may be 
required by the bond ordinance specific to an individual issue, of short to 
intermediate-term maturities. Volatility shall be further controlled through 
the purchase of securities carrying the highest coupon available, within 
the desired maturity and quality range, without paying a premium, if 
possible.  
 

• Investment strategies for special projects or special purpose fund 
portfolios will have as their primary objective to assure that anticipated 
cash flows are matched with adequate investment liquidity. These 
portfolios should include at least 10% in highly liquid securities to allow 
for flexibility and unanticipated project outlays. The stated final maturity 
dates of securities held should not exceed the estimated project 
completion date. 

 
V.  DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITY 
 

• Investment Officer(s). Authority to manage the city’s investment 
program is derived from a resolution of the City Council. The director of 
Finance and the City Manager will be designated as investment officers of 
the city and are responsible for investment decisions and activities and 
shall establish written procedures for the operation of the investment 
program, consistent with this investment policy. The investment officers 
shall attend at least one training session of at least eight-hours duration 
within twelve months of designation as investment officer and not less 
than once every two years. Such training from an independent source 
shall be approved or endorsed by either the Government Finance Officers 
Association of Texas, The Government Treasures Organization of Texas, 
or the Texas Municipal League. 

 
• City Council Responsibilities. The City Council holds the ultimate 

fiduciary responsibility for the portfolio. It will designate investment 
officer(s), receive, and review quarterly reports, approve, and provide for 
investment officer training, approve broker/dealers, and review and adopt 
the investment policy and Strategy at least annually. 

 
VI. PRUDENCE AND CONTROL 
 
The standard of prudence to be applied by the investment officer shall be the 
“prudent person” rule, which states: “Investments shall be made with judgment 
and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, 
discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not 
for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their 
capital as well as the probable income to be derived.” 

 



In determining whether an investment officer had exercised prudence with 
respect to an investment decision, the determination shall be made taking into 
consideration: 

 
• The investment of all funds, or funds under the city’s control, over which 

the officer had responsibility rather than a consideration as to the 
prudence of a single investment. 

 
• Whether the investment decision was consistent with the written 

investment policy of the City. 
 
The investment officer, acting in accordance with written procedures and 
exercising due diligence, shall not be held personally responsible for a specific 
security’s credit risk or market price changes, provided that these deviations are 
reported immediately, and that appropriate action is taken to control adverse 
developments. 
  
Internal Controls. The Director of Finance is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining an internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of 
the entity are protected from loss, theft, or misuse. The internal control structure 
shall be designed to provide reasonable assurance that these objectives are met. 
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that (1) the cost of a control 
should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of costs 
and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management. 
 
Accordingly, the Director of Finance shall establish a process for annual 
independent review by an external auditor to assure compliance with policies and 
procedures. The results of this review shall be reported to the City Council. The 
internal controls shall address the following: 
 

• Control of collusion 
 

• Separation of transaction authority from accounting and record keeping 
 

• Custodial safekeeping 
 

• Clear delegation of authority 
 

• Written confirmation for all transactions 
 

• Review, maintenance, and monitoring of security procedures both manual 
and automated 

 
Cash Flow Forecasting. Cash flow forecasting is designed to protect and 
sustain cash flow requirements of the city. The investment Officer will analyze 
and maintain a cash flow plan to monitor and forecast cash positions for 
investment purposes. 



 
Monitoring Credit Ratings. The investment officer shall monitor, on no less 
than a monthly basis, the credit rating on all authorized investments in the 
portfolio which require credit rating based upon independent information from a 
nationally recognized rating agency. If any security falls below the minimum 
rating required by the policy, the investment officer shall notify the City Council 
of the loss of rating and liquidate the investment with the next month. 

    
Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. City staff involved in the investment process 
shall refrain from personal business activity that could conflict with proper 
execution of the investment program, or which could impair the ability to make 
impartial investment decisions. City staff shall disclose to the City Manager any 
material financial interests in financial institutions that conduct business with the 
city and they shall further disclose positions that could be related to the 
performance of the city’s portfolio. City staff shall subordinate their personal 
financial transactions to those of the city, particularly regarding timing of 
purchases and sales. 
 
An investment officer of the city who has a personal business relationship with 
an organization seeking to sell an investment to the city shall file a statement 
disclosing that personal business interest. An investment officer who is related 
with the second degree by affinity or consanguinity to an individual seeking to 
sell an investment to the city shall file a statement disclosing that relationship. A 
statement required under this subsection must be filed with the Texas Ethics 
Commission and the governing body of the entity. 
 
V. REPORTING 

 
Quarterly Reporting. The investment officer shall submit a signed quarterly 
investment report that summarizes current market conditions, economic 
developments, and anticipated investment conditions. The report shall 
summarize investment strategies employed in the most recent quarter and 
describe the portfolio in terms of investment securities, maturities, risk 
characteristics, and shall explain the total investment return for the quarter. 

 
Annual Report. Within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year, the investment 
officer shall present an annual report on the investment program and investment 
activity. This report may be presented as a component of the fourth quarter 
report to the City Council. 

 
Methods. The quarterly investment report shall include a succinct management 
summary that provides a clear picture of the status of the current investment 
portfolio and transactions made over the last quarter. This management 
summary will be prepared in a manner which will allow the city to ascertain 
whether investment activities during the reporting period have conformed to the 
investment policy. The report will be prepared in compliance with generally 



accepted accounting principles and will be provided to the City Manager and City 
Council. The report will include the following: 

 
• A listing of individual securities held at the end of the reporting period. 

This list will include the name of the fund or pooled group fund for which 
each individual investment was acquired. 

 
• Unrealized gains or losses resulting from appreciation or depreciation by 

listing the beginning and ending book and market value of securities for 
the period.  

 
• Additions and changes to the market value during the period. 

 
• Average weighted maturity of portfolio on entity  

 
• Summary of investments by maturity date. 

 
• The percentage of the total portfolio which each type of investment 

represents. 
 

• Statement of compliance of the city’s investment portfolio with state law 
and the investment strategy and policy approved by the City Council. 

 
VI. Fund Balance/Retained Earnings 

 
The City shall use the following guidelines to maintain the fund balance and 
retained earnings of the various operating funds at levels sufficient to protect 
the City's creditworthiness as well as its financial position from unforeseeable 
emergencies. 
 
General Fund Undesignated Fund Balance 
 

• The City shall strive to maintain the General Fund undesignated fund 
balance at a minimum of 90 days of current year budgeted expenditures.  
 

• Any undesignated funds after the fiscal year-end audit will be allowed to 
accumulate to build this 90-day reserve.  
 

• After the General Fund has gathered sufficient resources, additional 
undesignated funds will be allowed to accumulate in a fund designated 
for future General Fund capital improvements. 

 
Retained Earnings of Other Operating Funds 
 

• In other operating funds, the City shall strive to maintain a positive 
retained earnings position to provide sufficient reserves for emergencies 
and revenue shortfalls. The minimum working capital in the Water, Gas, 
and Sewer Fund shall be 90 days of current year budgeted expenditures. 
 

• Any undesignated funds after the fiscal year-end audit will be allowed to 
accumulate to build this 90-day reserve.  
 



• After these funds have gathered sufficient resources, additional 
undesignated funds will be allowed to accumulate in a fund designated 
for future utility/operating fund capital improvements. 

Use of Fund Balance/Retained Earnings 
 

• Fund Balance/Retained Earnings may be used in one or a combination of 
the following ways: 

o Emergencies; 
o One-time expenditures that do not increase recurring operating 

costs; 
o Major capital purchases; and 
o Start-up expenditures for new programs undertaken at mid-year, 

provided such action is considered in the context of multiyear 
projections of program revenues and expenditures.  

 
• Should such use reduce the balance below the appropriate level set as the 

objective for that fund, the City shall take action necessary to restore the 
unreserved, undesignated fund balance to acceptable levels within three 
years. 

 
VII. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO. 
 
Active Portfolio Management. The city shall pursue an active versus a 
passive portfolio management philosophy. That is, securities may be sold before 
they mature if market conditions present an opportunity for the city to benefit 
from the trade. The  
Investment officer will routinely monitor the contents of the portfolio, the 
available markets, and the relative value of competing instruments, and will 
adjust the portfolio accordingly. 
 
Investments. Assets of the City of Navasota may be invested in the following 
instruments; provided, however, that at no time shall assets of the city be 
invested in any instrument or security not authorized for investment under the 
Act, as the act may from time to time be amended. The city is not required to 
liquidate investments that were authorized investments at the time of purchase. 
 
Authorized. 
 

• Obligations of the United States of America, its agencies, and 
instrumentalities, which have a liquid market with a readily determinable 
market value. 
 

• Direct obligations of the State of Texas and agencies thereof. 
 

• Other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are 
unconditionally guaranteed by the State of Texas or United States of 
America. 
 



• Obligations of government sponsored agencies including Federal National 
Mortgage Association (FNMA), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
(FHLMC), Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB), and Federal Farm Credit 
Banks (FFCB) which are: 

 
o Secured by pools of mortgage loans, i.e., mortgage-backed securities. 

 
o Unsecured debentures with fixed maturities, i.e., bullets and/or call 

features prior to maturity. 
 

o Unsecured short-term notes issued at discount without coupon, i.e., 
discount notes. 

 
• Certificates of Deposit of state and national banks domiciled in Texas, 

guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or its 
successor or secured by obligations described in the three categories 
above, which are intended to include all direct agency or instrumentality 
issued mortgage backed securities rated AAA by a nationally recognized 
rating agency, or by Article 2529b-1, V.T.C.S., and that have a market 
value of not less than the principal amount of the securities. 
 
o In addition to the authority to invest funds in certificates of deposits 

above, an investment in certificates of deposits made under 
accordance with the following conditions is an authorized investment. 

 
▪ The funds are invested by an investing entity through a broker that 

has its main office or a branch office in this state and is selected 
from a list adopted by the investing entity 
 

▪ The broker or the depository institution selected by the investing 
entity arranges for the deposit of the funds in certificates of 
deposits in one or more federally insured depository institutions, 
wherever located, for the account of the investing entity 
 

▪ The full amount of the principal and accrued interest of each of the 
certificates of deposits is insured by the United States or an 
instrumentality of the United States 
 

▪ The investing entity appoints a clearing broker-dealer registered 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission and operating 
pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c3-3 (17 
C.F.R. Sect 240.15c3-3) as custodian for the investing entity with 
respect to the certificates of deposits issued for the account of the 
investing entity. 

 
• Obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political Sub-

divisions of any state having been rated as to investment quality by a 



Nationally recognized investment rating firm and having received a Rating 
of not less than A or its equivalent along with a stated maturity not to 
exceed five years. 
 

• Fully collateralized direct repurchase agreements with a defined 
termination date secured by obligations of the United States, or its 
agencies and instrumentalities, pledged with a third party, selected by the 
investment officer, other than an agency of the pledger. Repurchase 
agreements must be purchased through a primary government securities 
dealer, as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a bank domiciled in Texas. A 
Master Repurchase Agreement must be signed by the bank/dealer prior to 
investment in a repurchase agreement. 
 

• Joint pools of political subdivisions in the State of Texas which invest in 
instruments and follow practices allowed by current law. A pool must be 
continuously rated not lower than AAA or AAA-m or at an equivalent 
rating by at least one nationally recognized rating service. 

 
Not Authorized 

 
The city’s authorized investment options are more restrictive than those allowed 
by State law. State law specifically prohibits investment in the following 
investment securities. 

 
• Obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the 

outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security 
collateral and pays no principal. 

 
• Obligations whose payment represents the principal stream of cash 

from the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and bears no 
interest. 

 
• Collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity 

date of greater than 10 years, 
 
• Collateralized mortgage obligations the interest rate of which is 

determined by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market 
index. 

 
Holding Period. The City of Navasota intends to match the holding periods of 
investment funds with liquidity needs of the city. In no case will the average 
maturity of investments of the city’s operating funds exceed one year. The 
maximum final stated maturity of any investment shall not exceed five years. 

 
Investments in all funds shall be managed in such a way that the market price 
losses resulting from interest rate volatility would be offset by coupon income 



and current income received from the volume of the portfolio during a twelve-
month period. 

 
Risk and Diversification. The city recognizes that investment risks can result 
from issuer defaults, market price changes or various technical complications 
leading to temporary illiquidity. Risk will be controlled through portfolio 
diversification which shall be achieved by the following general guidelines: 

 
• Risk of issuer default will be controlled by limiting investments to those 

instruments allowed by the Act, as described herein. 
 
• Risk of market price changes shall be controlled by avoiding over 

concentration of assets in a specific maturity sector, limitation of average 
maturity of operating funds investments to one year, and avoidance of 
over concentration of assets in specific instruments other than U.S. 
Treasury Securities and insured and collateralized certificates of deposits. 

 
• Risk of illiquidity due to technical complications shall be controlled by the 

selection of securities dealers as described herein. 
 
VIII. SELECTION OF BANKS AND DEALERS 
 
Depository. At least every four years a Depository shall be selected through the 
city’s banking services procurement process, which shall include a formal request 
for proposal. In selecting a depository, the credit worthiness of institutions shall 
be considered, and the Director of Finance shall conduct a comprehensive review 
of prospective depositories credit characteristics and financial history. 
 
Certificates of Deposit. Banks seeking to establish eligibility for the city’s 
competitive certificate of deposit purchase program shall submit for review 
annual financial statements, evidence of federal insurance and other information 
as required by the Director of Finance. 
 
Securities Dealers. For brokers and dealers of government securities, the city 
shall select only those dealers reporting to the Market Reports Division of the 
Federal Reserve Board of New York, also known as the Primary Government 
Security Dealers, unless a comprehensive credit and capitalization analysis 
reveals that other firms are adequately financed to conduct public business. Only 
brokers and dealers with a Texas office shall be selected. Investment officials 
shall not knowingly conduct business with any firm with whom public entities 
have sustained losses on investments. All securities dealers shall provide the city 
with references from public entities which they are currently serving. The 
investment committee shall adopt and annually review a list of qualified brokers 
authorized to engage in investment transactions with the city. 
 
All financial institutions and broker/dealers who desire to become qualified 
bidders for investment transactions must supply the following: 



 
• Audited financial statements 
 
• Proof of National Association of Securities Dealers certification 

 
• Proof of state registration 

 
• Certification of having read the city’s investment policy signed by a 

qualified representative of the organization 
 

• Acknowledgment that the organization has implemented reasonable 
procedures and controls to preclude imprudent investment activities 
arising out of investment transactions conducted between the city and the 
organization 

 
Qualified Representative. Means a person who holds a position with a 
business organization, who is authorized to act on behalf of the business 
organization, and who is one of the following: 

 
• A business organization doing business that is regulated by or registered 

with a securities commission, a person who is registered under the rules 
of the National Association of Securities Dealers; 
 

• For a state or federal bank, a savings bank, or a state or federal credit 
union, a member of the loan committee for the bank or branch of the 
bank or a person authorized by corporate resolution to act on behalf of 
and bind the banking institution; or, 

 
• For an investment pool, the person authorized be the elected official or 

board with authority to administer the activities of the investment pool to 
sign the certification on behalf of the investment pool. 

 
Investment Pools. A thorough investigation of the pool is required prior to 
investing, and on a continual basis. All investment pools must supply the 
following information to be eligible to receive funds: 

 
• The types of investments in which money is allowed to be invested 

 
• The maximum average dollar-weighted maturity allowed, based on the 

stated maturity date of the pool 
 

• The maximum stated maturity date any investment security within the 
portfolio has 
 

• The objectives of the pool 
 

• The size of the pool 



 
• The names of the members of the advisory board of the pool and the 

dates their terms expire 
 

• The custodian bank that will safe keep the pool’s assets 
 

• Whether the intent of the pool is to maintain a net asset value of one 
dollar and the risk of market price fluctuation 
 

• Whether the only source of payment is the assets of the pool at market 
value or whether there is a secondary source of payment, such as 
insurance or guarantees, and a description of the secondary source of 
payment 
 

• The name and address of the independent auditor of the pool 
 

• The requirements to be satisfied for an entity to deposit funds in and 
withdraw funds from the pool and any deadlines or other operating 
policies required for the entity to invest funds in and withdraw funds from 
the pool 
 

• The performance history of the pool, including yield, average dollar-
weighted maturities, and expense ratios 

 
• A description of interest calculations and how interest is distributed, and 

how gains and losses are treated 
 

• The Director of Finance will conduct an annual review of the financial 
condition and registration of qualified bidders. 
 

IX. SAFEKEEPING AND CUSTODY   
 

Insurance of Collateral. All deposits and investments of city funds other than 
direct purchases of U.S. Treasuries or Agencies shall be secured by pledged 
collateral. In order to anticipate market changes and provide a level of security 
for all funds, the collateralization level will be 102% of market value of principal 
and accrued interest on the deposits or investments less an amount insured by 
the FDIC or FSLIC.  Evidence of the pledged collateral shall be maintained by the 
Director of Finance or a third financial institution. Repurchase agreements shall 
be documented by a specific agreement noting the collateral pledge in each 
agreement. Collateral shall be reviewed weekly to assure that the market value 
of the pledged securities is adequate. 

 
Safekeeping Agreement. Collateral pledged to secure deposits of the city shall 
be held be a safekeeping institution in accordance with a Safekeeping Agreement 
which clearly defines the procedural steps for gaining access to the collateral 
should the City of Navasota determine that the city’s funds are in jeopardy. The 



safekeeping institution, or trustee, shall be the Federal Reserve Bank or an 
institution not affiliated with the firm pledging the collateral. The safekeeping 
agreement shall include the signatures of authorized representatives of the City 
of Navasota, the firm pledging the collateral, and the trustee. 

 
Collateral Defined. The City of Navasota shall accept only the following 
securities as collateral: 

 
• Obligations of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities 

including mortgage-backed securities 
 

• Direct Obligations of the state of Texas or its agencies and 
instrumentalities rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized 
rating firm not less that A or its equivalent 

 
• Obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political 

subdivisions of any state rated as to investment quality by a nationally 
recognized rating firm not less than A or its equivalent 
  

Subject to Audit. All collateral shall be subject to inspection and audit by the 
Director of Finance or the city’s independent auditors. 

 
Delivery versus Payment. Treasury Bills, Notes, Bonds, Repurchase 
Agreements and Government Agencies’ securities shall be purchased using the 
delivery vs payment method. That is, funds shall not be wired or paid until 
verification has been made that the Trustee received the correct security. The 
security shall be held in the name of the city or held on behalf of the city. The 
Trustee’s records shall assure the notation of the city’s ownership of or explicit 
claim on the securities. The original copy of all safekeeping receipts shall be 
delivered to the cit. 
 
X.   INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION 
 
The City of Navasota investment policy shall be adopted by resolution of the City 
Council. The policy shall be reviewed for effectiveness on an annual basis by the 
Investment Committee and any modifications will be recommended for approval 
to the City Council, the City Council shall review these investment policies and 
strategies not less than annually. 


	Regular Meeting
	Agenda Item No. 4 -  Staff Report:
(a) Introduction of new employees [Peggy Johnson, HR Director]
(b) Recognition of years of service awards [Peggy Johnson, HR Director]
(c) CIP Updates: Downtown Streetscape project, Utility CIP, AWOS, and Public Works Warehouse [Jennifer Reyna, Director of Utilities and Jose Coronilla, Director of Streets and Sanitation]
(d) Wine Press Travel Writers update [Bobbie Ullrich, Marketing and Communication Director]
(e) Navasota Police Department update [Mike Mize, Chief of Police]
(f) Board and Commission update [City Council]
(g) Reports from City Staff or City Officials regarding items of community interests, including expressions of thanks, congratulations or condolence; information regarding holiday schedules; honorary or salutary recognition of public officials, public employees, or other citizens; reminders about upcoming events organized or sponsored by the City; information regarding social, ceremonial, or community events organized or sponsored by a non-City entity that is scheduled to be attended by City officials or employees; and announcements involving imminent threats to the public health and safety of people in the City that has arisen after the posting of the agenda. [Jason Weeks, City Manager]
	 Years of Service Award
	 Planning Calendar
	 Vision-Mission-Strategic Plan - 2022
	 Municipal Court Report for 10/31/2022

	Agenda Item No. 5 -  Conduct a public hearing to receive public comment for or against the creation of the Reinvestment Zone One, Navasota, Texas, its boundaries, or the concept of tax increment financing in general. [Jason Weeks, City Manager]
	 Public Hearing Notice TIRZ
	 Preliminary Project Plan - 10-20-2022
	 TIRZ Power Point Presentation
	 Ordinance 1010-22
	 Jurisdictional Boundary Description
	 T1 Navasota Boundary Letter

	Agenda Item No. 6 -  Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 1010-22, designating a geographic area within the City of Navasota and its extra-territorial jurisdiction as reinvestment zone number one, City of Navasota, Texas for increment financing purposes pursuant to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code; creating a board of directors for such zone; establishing the tax increment fund; establishing the termination date of the zone; containing findings and provisions related to the foregoing subject; authorizing actions in furtherance of the zone; providing a severability clause; and providing proper notice of meeting. [Jason Weeks, City Manager]
	 Ordinance No. 1010-22
	 TIRZ Boundary Letter
	 Jurisdiction Boundary Description
	 Preliminary Project Plan

	Agenda Item No. 7 -  Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 1013-22, authorizing the Issuance of City of Navasota, Texas, Combination Tax and Limited Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2022. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]
	 Ordinance No. 1013-22

	Agenda Item No. 8 -  Consent Agenda: The following items may be acted upon with one motion and vote. No separate discussion or action is necessary unless requested by the Mayor or City Councilmember, in which event the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda for separate discussion and/or action by the City Council as part of the regular agenda.
Consent Items are:
A. Approve the minutes for the month of October 2022.
B. Approve the expenditures for the month of October 2022.
C. Approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1011-22, tax roll ordinance for tax year 2022, Grimes County portion.
D. Approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 1012-22, tax roll ordinance for the tax year 2022, Brazos County portion.
E. Approve Resolution No. 722-22, the City of Navasota Investment Policy and Strategy.
	 Minutes - 10/10/2022
	 Minutes - 10/24//2022
	 Expenditures for October 2022
	 AR - Grimes Co Tax Roll
	 Ordinance No. 1011-22
	 Grimes Co Tax Roll
	 AR - Brazos Tax Roll
	 Brazos Co Tax Roll
	 Ordinance No. 1012-22
	 AR - Investment Policy
	 Resolution - Investment Policy




